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Executive Summary
As part of ICBC’s first rate application to the Commission on August 29, 2003, ICBC filed
a report pertaining to its financial allocation methodology. The approach taken for the
separation of revenues and costs was referred to as the pro-rata approach.
In the Revenue Requirements Application Decision dated November 12, 2003 (the
“Decision”), the Commission Panel made the determination that:
For purposes of this Application, the Commission Panel accepts that the
pro-rata

approach

undertaken

by

ICBC

provides

a

reasonable

segregation of costs and income between the Basic and Optional
Insurance. However, the Commission expects ICBC to fully address the
alternative allocation methodologies in its next rate application.1
In response to the Commission Panel’s determination, ICBC retained John Todd,
President of Elenchus Research Associates (ERA)2, to assist in conducting a
comprehensive review of the financial allocation methodology. The review had three
purposes:
1. To determine whether the financial allocation methodology used by ICBC to separate
its costs and revenues between Basic and Optional insurance for 2003 is consistent
with generally accepted regulatory principles for allocating costs and revenues.
2. To recommend changes, if appropriate, to the corporation’s financial allocation
methodology for purposes of future revenue requirement applications.
3. To respond to the specific alternative approaches identified in the Decision with
respect to ICBC’s financial allocation methodology.

1
2

Decision, pages 43-44.
Elenchus Research Associates is a division of Elenchus Consulting Services Inc., a consulting company founded by John Todd in
1980. John Todd has specialized in issues related to economic regulation for over 25 years. His curriculum vitae appears in
Appendix 1E. Further information on ERA is available at www.era-inc.ca.
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This report is the product of the joint ICBC/ERA review. David Atkins, FCA, Senior
Advisor, Corporate Insurance Practice of Lang Michener LLP, has reviewed this report
and provided the opinion that both the allocation methodology currently being used, and
the recommended changes, are in line with insurance industry practices from accounting
and regulatory viewpoints.

PURPOSES OF ICBC’S FINANCIAL ALLOCATION
ICBC’s financial allocation methodology allocates the revenues and costs of its
integrated operations to the corporation’s three business segments:
·

Basic insurance, which is ICBC’s regulated insurance business segment;

·

Optional insurance, which is ICBC’s unregulated business segment; and

·

Non-insurance, which consists of services provided on behalf of the government of
British Columbia, such as driver licensing, that are not normally provided by auto
insurers.

ICBC uses the results of this financial allocation for two distinct purposes.
First, it is used to allocate the corporation’s revenues and costs so as to produce the
Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs that appears in its Annual Report
as required by the Insurance Corporation Act. This statement first appeared in the
corporation’s 2003 Annual Report3 (See Appendix 1H for the 2003 Annual Report).
Second, the financial allocation methodology is used to determine the portion of the
corporation’s total costs that should be included in the Basic insurance revenue
requirement and recovered in its Basic insurance rates.

The application of the

methodology used to separate costs in a future year for revenue requirement and ratesetting purposes differs from the application of the methodology used to separate costs
on a retrospective basis for the Annual Report in several ways. For example:

3

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia, 2003 Annual Report, page 64 note 15. The Basic and Optional Statement of Operations
for 2002 and 2003 was updated subsequent to the last Revenue Requirement proceeding to incorporate improvements to the
methodology. See Appendix 1C.
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·

For the Annual Report, the corporation’s actual total revenues are assigned to Basic
and Optional insurance. In contrast, for revenue requirement application and ratesetting purposes revenues are not assigned; rather the corporation’s revenue
requirement for Basic insurance is determined and rates are set at the level
necessary to produce the appropriate forecast level of Basic insurance revenue.

·

Actual accounting costs for the reporting year are separated for purposes of the
Annual Report.

For revenue requirement and rate-setting purposes, the current

methodology uses the most recent actual proportions of costs allocated to Basic and
Optional insurance to separate the forecast costs by cost category for the test year
(i.e., the year for which rates are being applied for), adjusted for significant business
changes.

Hence, the test year allocation for rate-setting purposes is based on

historic year (adjusted for significant business changes), rather than test year
allocation percentages.
·

The Prior Years’ Claims Adjustment (“PYA”) appearing in the corporation’s
Statement of Operations is allocated to Basic and Optional insurance as part of the
Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs. However, because the
forecast PYA is, by definition, equal to zero for any future year, this line item is not
relevant for revenue requirement and rate-setting purposes.

The literature referred to throughout this report deals with the principles of rate-making,
not financial reporting. The literature deals with cost allocation methodologies, which do
not include the allocation of revenues, rather than the more comprehensive financial
allocation methodologies.

COST OF SERVICE STUDY PRINCIPLES
The literature pertaining to the principles used in the design of cost of service study
methodologies provides strong support for the use of an approach that is generally
referred to in the literature as “fully allocated costing” (or “fully distributed costing”) in the
allocation of ICBC’s costs to its business segments. The essence of this approach is
that:
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·

categories of costs that are associated exclusively with a single business segment
(direct costs) are assigned directly to the appropriate business segment, and

·

the remaining cost categories (indirect costs), which are incurred in support of all
business segments (Basic insurance, Optional insurance and Non-insurance), must
be allocated in a manner that reflects the principles of cost causality.

While the principles of fully allocated costing clearly require 100% of any direct costs to
be allocated to the relevant business segment, the allocation of indirect costs involves
judgment in applying the general principles to the design of a methodology that is
appropriate in any particular situation. The overriding objective is to ensure that the
allocation of costs to the various customer classes, services or business segments
reflects the extent to which each one causes, or drives, the costs. Where the causal
relationship is unclear, costs are allocated in an equitable manner, which means
essentially that customers, services or business segments are treated in a balanced and
symmetrical manner.
In applying the general principles of cost of service allocation to an auto insurer, such as
ICBC, it is necessary to recognize the structure of costs that is inherent in the insurance
business. There are several significant differences between ICBC’s cost structure and
the cost structures of the energy public utilities regulated by the Commission, such as
Terasen Gas and BC Hydro, which affect the design of the cost allocation methodology
that is appropriate for each entity.
·

ICBC, like other insurance companies, has far less capital invested in fixed assets
(“rate base” in regulatory terminology) than traditional public utilities. Insurance is a
financial services business; whereas energy utilities are in the business of owning
and operating pipes and wires.

·

The majority of ICBC’s costs are primarily direct costs (claims), whereas the costs of
electric and natural gas utilities are primarily common costs (pipes and wires).
Furthermore, for the common costs, the physical capacity of the system is a far more
critical cost driver for energy distributors than it is for an auto insurer. Hence, the
“load factor” is a critical cost driver in cost of service studies for pipes and wires
companies, but is an insignificant factor for ICBC.
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·

ICBC’s claims costs are related to future payments to claimants, whereas an energy
utility’s pipes and wires are capital assets, the cost of which is paid for up front with
invested capital and is recovered from customers over the life of the assets.

Because of these differences, the steps that are appropriate for allocating the costs that
are central to ICBC’s cost of service (i.e., claims costs) are different from the standard
steps – functionalization, classification and allocation – that are used in cost of service
studies to allocate the rate base-related costs of traditional public utilities.

ALTERNATIVE COST ALLOCATION METHODOLOGIES
The Decision directed ICBC “to fully address the alternative allocation methodologies
[raised by intervenors] in its next application.” The Decision identified two alternate
approaches.
Some Intervenors have suggested that either the full value of services
provided to Optional Insurance coverage should be recovered by the
Basic Insurance or that the Basic Insurance should only charge those
costs incremental to the provision of Optional Insurance.4
Section 2.3 of this report shows that both of these alternate approaches violate the
central principles of fully allocated costing studies. The full value of service approach
would allocate costs that are not actually incurred by ICBC. Assuming the notional costs
associated with the full value of service are higher than actual incurred costs, it follows
that ICBC rates would be set at a level that would recover more than the corporation’s
actual incurred costs. The only way to avoid this over-recovery would be to set rates for
one business segment at a level that is below the level required for full cost recovery of
its actual costs, which would amount to a cross-subsidy. Furthermore, this approach
would involve allocating costs in an asymmetrical manner which would violate a basic
principle of fully allocated costing: the principle that costs should be allocated to
business segments in a balanced and equitable manner.

4

Decision, page 43.
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The incremental costing approach would also involve asymmetrical treatment of Basic
and Optional insurance and therefore violate a basic principle of fully allocated costing.
Furthermore, the incremental costing approach, as it appears to be envisioned by
intervenors, is not recognized in the literature on regulatory methodology as an
appropriate approach to allocating costs.

ICBC’S CURRENT FINANCIAL ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY
ICBC’s current methodology involves the following four steps:
1. Identify cost and revenue elements to be allocated to the business segments.
2. Directly allocate to the relevant business segment those cost and revenue elements
that are caused solely by one business segment.
3. Determine the allocators that best reflect cost/revenue causality for each cost and
revenue element that cannot be directly allocated.
4. Using the allocators, allocate the remaining costs and revenues to the business
segments.0.
Much of this report is devoted to describing this methodology and documenting the
allocators used to allocate the various categories of costs and revenues to business
segments. See Sections 3 and 4 and Appendices 1A, 1B and 1C.
About 75% of ICBC’s total costs are directly related to claims costs (claims incurred5) and
are tracked by coverage; hence, most of the claims-related costs can be directly
allocated to either Basic or Optional insurance. Most of the remaining costs are indirect
and must be allocated to the business segments using appropriate allocators.
With respect to the costs that had to be allocated indirectly, the approach taken in the
current methodology is to estimate for each cost-centre in the corporation’s financial

5

The claims incurred figure in ICBC’s financial accounts represents a forecast of the ultimate claims associated with incidents
occurring during the year, including claims incurred but not reported. The value is an estimate of the eventual total claims
payments that will be made to or on behalf of claimants/customers. See section 4.2.1.
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accounting and reporting system the portion of costs that are “caused” by each business
segment. A variety of allocators reflecting the extent to which the costs are caused by
each business segment were developed that relate to the operational role of the costcentre. The allocators used are listed in Appendix 1A. Appendix 1B lists all of the cost
categories with unique allocators (“allocation functions”) and the allocator used for each
allocation function.
The allocators that were selected are those that provide the best indication of the extent
to which the costs associated with each allocation function are “caused” by ICBC’s three
business segments. For example:
·

building and facilities costs are allocated on a square footage basis where possible;

·

costs related to staff are allocated on the basis of direct measurement, management
estimates of work effort (i.e., the actual proportion of time spent on activities directly
related to Basic insurance, Optional insurance and Non-insurance activities), or the
weighted average of the overall allocation results of the primary operating areas; and

·

operating costs allocated to Non-insurance activities are based on ICBC’s Service
Agreement with the Province

This approach is best characterized as the detailed analysis approach. All the allocators
used by ICBC in its current methodology appropriately reflect the corporation’s best
information as to the extent to which each business segment causes costs to be
incurred.

RECOMMENDED METHODOLOGY FOR FUTURE USE
The cost of service study literature recognizes that although a cost allocation based on a
detailed analysis of a regulated company’s costs is always an option, the burden that is
involved in utilizing this approach is not always justified.

The incremental precision

gained by allocating cost on a cost-centre by cost-centre basis may not justify the
additional effort.
A detailed analysis approach is least likely to be justified in cases where:
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·

the indirect costs as a proportion of total costs is relatively low;

·

a significant portion of the indirect costs being allocated are common fixed costs; and

·

some individual allocators involve subjective determinations.

Each of these considerations applies to ICBC and its current methodology. For this
reason, an alternate approach is recommended which, if approved by the Commission,
would be used by ICBC as the basis for determining the costs allocated to Basic
insurance in future revenue requirement applications.
The recommended approach would reduce the complexity of the allocation methodology
and would make use of the same cost information as that in the revenue requirement
application.

Rather than using the historic year financial and financial allocation

information, the recommended approach uses current year financial information to
determine the allocation. It is similar to the current approach in that it is a fully allocated
costing methodology (i.e., assigns costs on a pro-rata basis). The primary difference is
that it relies on a very small number of allocators that reflect the role that the
corporation’s broad cost categories serve.
The approach recommended is as follows.
1. Determine the test year budget by cost category (as shown below).
Cost Categories Other than Operating Costs (Method Unchanged)
2. Allocate Claims Incurred directly, in accordance with the actuarial analysis.6
3. Allocate Investment Income by the same method as the current approach (see
section 4.3).
Operating Costs (Allocate by Cost Category)
4. Allocate Premium Taxes and Commissions using the same method as the current
approach.

6

For purposes of ICBC’s future Annual Reports, Revenues and Prior Years’ Claims Adjustments would also be directly allocated to
Basic and Optional insurance in the same manner as they are under the current methodology. These line items are not
included in the cost allocation for revenue requirement and rate-setting purposes.
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5. Allocate direct Road Safety costs directly to Basic and the remainder of Road Safety
and Loss Management costs using claims incurred as the allocator.
6. Allocate Premium Financing Plan Recoveries using vehicle premiums written as the
allocator.
7. Allocate to Non insurance, as per the Service Agreement with the provincial
government the appropriate amount of Claims Services, Insurance Services and
Administrative and Other expenses.
8. Allocate the remaining Claim Services to Basic and Optional using claims incurred as
the allocator.
9. Allocate the remaining Insurance Services to Basic and Optional using vehicle
premiums written as the allocator.
10. Allocate the remaining Administrative and Other to Basic and Optional on a weighted
average of the Claims Services, Insurance Services and Road Safety ratios.
Adoption of this methodology would result in reductions in the costs allocated to Basic
insurance in 2003 and 2004 and would shift costs in excess of $6 million from Basic to
Optional insurance in 2005 as compared to the detailed analysis approach that is
currently being used by ICBC. These small decreases in dollars allocated to Basic
demonstrate that the recommended approach produces the benefits of reduced
regulatory lag, reduced complexity, reliance only on allocators based on objective
measures, without compromising the precision of the result.
The recommended approach is not only a fully allocated costing, or pro-rata,
methodology that is consistent with generally accepted regulatory principles, it is an
approach that produces an equitable allocation of costs in a simple, transparent and
logical way.
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1

Introduction
The 2004 Revenue Requirements Application Decision dated November 12, 2003 (the
“Decision”), Section 5.3, which presents the Commission Panel Determinations with
respect to the Insurance Corporation of British Columbia (“ICBC”) financial allocation
methodology, begins with the following overview:
The Commission Panel recognizes and appreciates the considerable
effort undertaken by ICBC to bring together a financial allocation
methodology for this Application. That methodology, dated August 25,
2003, is a substantial effort by ICBC to address the difficult issues of
allocating shared costs and revenues between the two lines of business.
The Commission also appreciates the efforts of the Intervenors to test the
appropriateness of the individual allocations. While the Commission
believes that this allocation study has gone a considerable distance to
fairly allocate revenues and costs between the Basic and Optional
Insurance lines of business, the Commission will require further analyses
and testing of the individual allocations in next year’s proceeding before
finalizing the methodology for future years.7
In response to Commission Panel Determinations on this issue, ICBC retained John
Todd of Elenchus Research Associates (ERA)8 to assist it in conducting a complete
review of its financial allocation methodology. This report is the product of that review.
David Atkins, FCA, Senior Advisor, Corporate Insurance Practice of Lang Michener LLP,
has reviewed this report and provided the opinion that both the allocation methodology
currently used and the recommended changes are in line with insurance industry
practices from accounting and regulatory viewpoints. His opinion letter is included in
Appendix 1D.

7
8

Decision, page 43.
Elenchus Research Associates is a division of Elenchus Consulting Services Inc., a consulting company founded by John Todd
in 1980. John Todd has specialized in issues related to economic regulation for over 25 years. His curriculum vitae appears in
Appendix 1E. Further information on ERA is available at www.era-inc.ca.
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1.1

Purposes of ICBC’s Financial Allocation
ICBC’s financial allocation methodology is used for two distinct purposes.
First, it is used to allocate all of the corporations revenues and costs so as to produce
the Basic and Optional Revenue and Cost Allocation that appears in its Annual Report
as required by the Insurance Corporation Act. This statement first appeared in the
corporation’s 2003 Annual Report.9
Second, the financial allocation methodology is used to determine the portion of the
corporation’s total costs that should be included in the Basic insurance revenue
requirement and recovered in its Basic insurance rates.

The application of the

methodology used to separate costs in a future year for revenue requirements and ratesetting purposes differs from the application of the methodology used to separate cost
on a retrospective basis for the Annual Report in several ways. For example,
·

For the Annual Report, the corporation’s actual total revenues are allocated to Basic
and Optional insurance. In contrast, for the revenue requirement application and
rate-setting purposes revenues are not allocated; rather the corporation’s revenue
requirement for Basic insurance is determined and rates are set at the level
necessary to produce the appropriate forecast level of Basic insurance revenue.

·

Actual accounting costs for the reporting year are separated for purposes of the
annual report.

For revenue requirement and rate-setting purposes, the current

methodology uses the most recent actual proportions of costs allocated to Basic and
Optional insurance to separate the forecast costs by cost category for the test year.
Hence, the test year allocation for rate-setting purposes is based on historic year,
rather than test year, allocation percentages.
·

The Prior Years’ Claims Adjustment (“PYA”) appearing in the corporation’s
Statement of Operations is allocated to Basic and Optional insurance as part of the
Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs. However, because the

9

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia, 2003 Annual Report, note 15. The Basic and Optional Statement of
Operations for 2002 and 2003 was updated subsequent to the 2004 Revenue Requirement proceeding to
incorporate improvements to the methodology. See Appendix 1C.
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forecast PYA is, by definition, equal to zero for any future year, this line item is not
relevant for revenue requirement and rate-setting purposes.
Because the literature referred to throughout this report deals with the principles of ratemaking, not financial reporting, it deals with cost allocation methodologies, which do not
include the allocation of revenues, rather than the more comprehensive financial
allocation methodologies.

1.2 Purposes of the Review
The ERA/ICBC review had three primary purposes:
1. To determine whether the financial allocation methodology used by ICBC to separate
its costs and revenues between Basic and Optional for 2003 is consistent with
generally accepted regulatory principles for allocating costs and revenues.
2. To recommend changes, if appropriate, to the corporation’s financial allocation
methodology for purposes of future revenue requirement applications.
3. To respond to the specific alternative approaches identified in the Decision with
respect to ICBC’s financial allocation methodology.

1.3 Preparation of the Report
Upon being retained by ICBC in mid-February, Mr. Todd conducted an extensive review
and assessment of the financial allocation methodology used to produce the allocation of
revenues and costs (Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs) that appears
in note 15 of the ICBC’s Annual Report for 2003. This review included:
·

Reviewing ICBC’s 2004 Revenue Requirements Application, particularly those
sections pertaining to the financial allocation methodology;

·

Reviewing the submissions and final arguments of intervenors that addressed the
financial allocation methodology;
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·

Conducting extensive meetings with ICBC Corporate Finance staff to examine the
appropriateness of the directly allocated costs and revenues, and the allocators used
to allocate the remaining costs and revenues to ICBC’s three business segments
(Basic insurance, Optional insurance and Non-insurance) at a cost-centre level;

·

Conducting meetings with senior representatives of each department to examine
the appropriateness of the allocators used to allocate costs within their areas of
responsibility;

·

Working with ICBC staff to identify appropriate cost categories for the financial
allocation (as documented in Appendix 1B);

·

Assessing the ICBC financial allocation methodology to determine its consistency
with cost of service principles, drawing on widely accepted reference sources on
rate-making for public utilities as well as generally accepted regulatory practices;

·

Developing with ICBC Corporate Finance staff an improved approach for the
allocation of ICBC’s costs and revenues to its business segments that is
recommended for use in future revenue requirement applications; and

·

Preparing responses with respect to the specific issues raised in Section 5.3 of the
Decision.

In developing the report’s recommendations, the goal was to ensure that ICBC’s
financial allocation methodology would:
1. be consistent with generally accepted principles for allocating costs to the regulated
and non-regulated business segments of a company such as ICBC, that operates its
business segments on a fully integrated basis;
2. be consistent with cost allocation practices of the regulatory tribunals; and
3. avoid unnecessary regulatory burden for the Commission, intervenors and ICBC staff
by being transparent, understandable and based on objective allocators.
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1.4 Structure of the Report
The remainder of this report is divided into six additional sections.
Section 2 provides an overview of cost of service study principles, based on widely cited
literature on utility rate-making.

It also discusses the characteristics of ICBC’s cost

structure that are relevant to determining the appropriate manner in which to apply the
standard principles in the allocation of the revenues and costs of ICBC to its business
segments.
A conceptual overview of the financial allocation methodology that was used by ICBC for
purposes of its August 2003 Revenue Requirements Application and its 2003 Annual
Report is presented in Section 3. This section identifies the principles on which the
approach is based and explains why a fully allocated costing approach is appropriate for
separating costs between ICBC’s three business segments:
·

Basic insurance, which is ICBC’s regulated insurance business segment;

·

Optional insurance, which is ICBC’s non-regulated business segment; and

·

Non-insurance, which consists of services provided on behalf of the government of
British Columbia, such as driver licensing, that are not normally provided by auto
insurers.

Section 4 provides a more detailed and quantitative description of the method by which
each line of the Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs was separated
between the Basic insurance and Optional insurance lines of business for the year
ended December 31, 2003. A further breakdown of the operating cost line items is
provided in Appendix 1B. The appendix shows each individual “allocation function” and
the corresponding allocator. A glossary of the allocators has been provided for ease of
reference in Appendix 1A.
The financial allocation methodology that is recommended for purposes of future
revenue requirement applications, and for preparing the corporation’s Basic and
Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs for 2004 and subsequent years is presented
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in Section 5. This section includes a comparison of the resulting allocations of costs
using the proposed methodology, and the 2003 Annual Report methodology.
Section 6 addresses the issues raised in the financial allocation section of the Decision.
The conclusions of the Report are summarized in Section 7.
In addition to the two appendices noted above, a reconciliation of the restatement of the
2002 Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs, appearing in the
corporation’s 2003 Annual Report to the Statement filed in the August 2003 Revenue
Requirements Application, is included in Appendix 1C.
The Commission is being asked to approve the methodology described in Section 5 as
the basis for determining and the costs allocated to ICBC’s Basic insurance for purpose
of future revenue requirement applications.
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2 Cost of Service Study Principles
As noted above, the approach taken in this report is to assess cost allocation
methodologies from the perspective of generally accepted regulatory principles (GARP)
that are reflected in the literature on economic regulation and rate-making. While there is
no source equivalent to the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA)
Handbook that codifies “generally accepted regulatory principles”, there are a number of
sources that are recognized by regulators and regulatory experts as being authoritative
with respect to the theory and practice of public utility rate-making.10 These references
include extensive discussions of the standard practices of regulatory tribunals.
Furthermore, it is evident that regulatory tribunals take guidance from this literature. The
Commission’s own Participant’s Guide, for example, includes an overview of the ratemaking process that quotes Bonbright et al. and is generally reflective of the literature.11
In this report, the rate-making principles that are recognized in the literature provide the
conceptual framework used to evaluate ICBC’s existing financial allocation methodology.
They also serve as a basis for recommending changes to that methodology. Of course,
as in the case of generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), generally accepted
regulatory principles (“GARP”) recognize that the cost structures of regulated companies
vary greatly and therefore judgment is required in applying the general principles to
specific circumstances.
In assessing alternate approaches to allocating ICBC’s revenues and costs to its three
business segments (Basic insurance, Optional insurance and Non-insurance), including
those approaches proposed by intervenors in last year’s proceeding,12 some are
rejected in this report because they are inconsistent with GARP. Others are not
recommended because they are inferior in terms of achieving the goals identified in

10

11

12

The standard sources include:
· Bonbright, James C., Albert L. Danielson and David R. Kamerschen (1988) Principles of Public Utilities Ratemaking, 2nd
ed., Public Utilities Reports.
· Kahn, Alfred (1988) The Economics of Regulation: Principles and Institutions, MIT Press.
· Goodman, Leonard S. (1998) The Process of Ratemaking, Public Utilities Reports.
· Phillips, Charles F., (1988) The Regulation of Public Utilities: Theory and Practice, Public Utilities Reports.
· National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (NARUC) (1992) Electricity Utility Cost Allocation Manual.
British Columbia Utilities Commission, (1999) “Understanding Utility Regulation, A Participant’s Guide to the British Columbia
Utilities Commission”, Chapter 5, Rate Making. Bonbright et al. op. cit. is cited at page 44.
See section 6 of this report.
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Section 1.2. The remaining intervenor proposals are consistent with the changes to
ICBC’s financial allocation methodology that are recommended in this report. Comments
on the various intervenor proposals are contained in Sections 2.3 and 6.
It should be noted that the regulatory literature is more helpful with respect to the guiding
principles for allocating ICBC’s costs and revenues than with the specific manner of
applying those principles for purposes of ICBC’s financial allocation. This is the case
because the literature focuses on rate-making for public utilities in the energy (primarily
electricity and natural gas), telecommunications and transportation sectors. Cost
allocation and other regulatory practices in the context of automobile insurance receive
little attention. This focus reflects the prevalence of monopoly rate-making in the other
industries. While the principles are not industry specific, and therefore apply equally to
rate-making for the traditional public utilities and for an insurance company, such as
ICBC, it is important to recognize differences in the structure of costs when applying the
basic principles to auto insurance.
For example, the literature identifies three categories of costs that are allocated in
different ways: direct, common and joint cost. Bonbright et al explain these cost
concepts very well.
Direct costs are incurred only and entirely for the provision of a particular
service. These costs may be fixed or variable in nature, depending on the
temporal framework. If two or more services are provided wherein one
uses fungible capacity which could be utilized by the other service,
common costs are involved. While the common costs are fixed in the
short run, they are variable in the long run.

Joint costs involve the

provision of two or more services that can be feasibly produced only in
(approximately) fixed proportions. Such composite goods do not have
separate costs of production.13
The principle that direct costs should be allocated directly to the relevant services,
customer classes or business segment is as applicable to the direct costs of an
insurance company, such as ICBC, as it is to a natural gas utility such as Terasen Gas

13

Bonbright et al., op. cit., page 118.
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or an electric utility, such as BC Hydro. In addition, the principle that common and joint,
or indirect, costs should be allocated to the common or joint services, customer classes
or business segments is also equally applicable to an insurance company and an energy
utility.
On the other hand, the literature describes fundamental elements of a cost of service
study for an electric or natural gas utility that have limited, if any, relevance in the context
of automobile insurance. For example, the three steps typically used in apportioning the
costs of energy utilities – functionalization, classification, and allocation14 – is necessary
to distinguish between capacity, commodity and customer-related costs as a basis for
designing tariffs that reflect the impact of “load factor” on costs. “Load factor” is an
insignificant cost driver in the case of an insurance company; hence, the traditional
three-step methodology is not relevant for ICBC.

2.1 What Makes Insurance Different?
There are at least three significant differences between the cost structure of an
automobile insurer such as ICBC and more traditional regulated utilities that have
implications for the way in which the cost of service principles are implemented in
practice.
·

ICBC, like other insurance companies, has far less capital invested in fixed assets
(“rate base” in regulatory terminology) than traditional public utilities such as Terasen
Gas or BC Hydro. Insurance is a financial services business; whereas energy utilities
are in the business of owning and operating pipes and wires.

·

ICBC’s costs are primarily direct costs (claims), whereas the costs of electric and
natural gas utilities are primarily common costs (pipes and wires). Furthermore, for
the common costs, the physical capacity of the system is a far more critical cost
driver for energy distributors than it is for an auto insurer. Hence, the load factor is a
critical cost driver in cost of service studies for pipes and wires companies, but is an
insignificant factor for ICBC.

14

See for example Bonbright et al., op.cit. page 485 and NARUC, op. cit. pages 18-23.
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·

ICBC’s claims costs are related to future payments to its customers, whereas an
energy utility’s pipes and wires are capital assets, the cost of which is recovered over
the life of the assets.

Because of these differences, the steps that are appropriate for allocating the costs that
are central to ICBC’s cost of service (i.e., claims costs) are different from the standard
steps – functionalization, classification and allocation – that are used in cost of service
studies to allocate the rate base-related costs of traditional public utilities.

2.1.1 ICBC Is Not Capital Intensive
Most traditional public utilities are engaged in capital-intensive business activities. For
example, the majority of costs of natural gas and electric utilities are the capital and
maintenance costs of the pipes and wires that are utilized in common by their
customers.15 Consequently, a major focus of the regulatory process for traditional public
utilities is on reviewing capital expenditures and allocating the resulting rate base to
customer classes, services or business segments. In addition, the regulator normally
determines the allowed cost of capital, including the capital structure and return on
equity. The treatment of capital assets is a central element of what is commonly referred
to as rate-base rate-of-return regulation.
In contrast, most of the costs of an insurance company such as ICBC relate to claims.
The “rate base”16 is comparatively small. As ICBC’s 2003 Annual Report shows, it had
total assets of $6.8 billion and only $86.1 million of those assets represented investment
in property and equipment. Hence, the corporation’s “rate base” accounts for less than
1.3% of its assets. The liabilities on the balance sheet are primarily unearned premiums
and unpaid claims rather than the capital (debt and equity) that is required by a public
utility to finance its pipes, wires and other capital assets17.

15

16

17

Many electric utilities generate power as well as transport it. Generation is also capital intensive, with primarily common costs.
Other regulated industries that are commonly discussed in the regulatory literature include telecommunications, transportation
(railroads, airlines and trucking). These industries are also both capital intensive and characterized by a high proportion of
common costs (fibre optics and switches, railway lines, etc.).
A regulated company’s rate base is the value of capital assets on which it is allowed a rate return on capital. See for example,
Bonbright et al, op.cit., Part Three, pages 197-371.
The capital requirements for ICBC are discussed in detail in Chapter 4 of this filing.
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Given this radical difference in terms of the significance of ICBC’s “rate base”, it is not
surprising that the standard practices of rate base rate-of-return regulation are not
always appropriate for an insurance company such as ICBC, although the principle of
setting rates that recover costs applies in both situations.

2.1.2 ICBC Principle Costs are Direct Rather than Indirect
The capital assets of most traditional public utilities are used by their customers on a
shared basis. All costs related to these shared capital assets are indirect costs. For
example, a natural gas transmission or distribution line may transport gas to a wide
range of customers, including residential, commercial and industrial customers who
utilize the pipeline in very different ways. As a result, not only must the costs of the
pipeline be allocated to all the customers that use it, but the cost allocation process must
recognize the differences in the pattern of utilization across customer classes (e.g., load
factor, seasonality, etc.). The method used to allocate these indirect costs is an
important determinant of rates for the utility’s customer classes and services.
In contrast, most of the costs of an insurance company such as ICBC relate to claims,
which are directly attributable to customer classes, coverages and business segments.
Accordingly, rates are less sensitive to the way in which indirect costs are allocated than
they are in the case of energy and other utilities which have a far higher proportion of
indirect costs.

Furthermore, most of ICBC indirect costs relate to administrative

functions. Most administrative costs are either fixed common costs or variable common
costs for which the relationship to cost drivers cannot be precisely defined.18

As a

consequence, administrative costs are typically allocated using indirect allocators such
as the allocation of rate base or the allocation of other operating costs. In Section 5, it is
recommended that ICBC allocate its administrative costs based on the overall allocation
to business segments of the corporation’s other direct and indirect costs.

18

To illustrate, while the costs associated with administrative functions, such as the human resource department, corporate
communications and IT support, relate to the overall scale of ICBC’s business, it would not be possible to determine a precise
causal relationship. These administrative costs will be affected by many factors other than the scale of business, such as staff
turnover, the rate of technological innovation in the industry, etc. As a result, an acceptable allocation method must be
reasonable, as opposed to precise.
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2.1.3 Nature and Timing of Costs
For traditional natural gas and electric utilities, a high proportion of the revenue
requirement relates to existing capital investment and the related annual operating and
maintenance activities. There is minimal uncertainty with respect these costs for the test
year. The depreciation and capital costs associated with existing assets are known with
near certainty.
The primary source of uncertainty with respect to capital costs is the rate of customer
growth.19
Furthermore, for rate-setting purposes, these costs need to be forecast only for a oneyear time horizon. Most costs are incurred in full during the test year and are therefore
known by the time the accounts are closed for a fiscal year. Therefore, the variance
between the forecast and actual costs is known at the end of the fiscal year.

If

appropriate, these variances can be passed through to customers with a short delay with
the use of variance accounts.20
In contrast, the costs incurred by ICBC in a fiscal year are primarily claims incurred
expenses. The claims incurred figure represents a forecast of the ultimate claims
associated with policies in force during the year, including claims incurred but not
reported. When the company’s accounts are closed at the end of the fiscal year, the
claims incurred figure is still largely a forecast of the claims payments that will be made
in subsequent years to settle claims related to insurance policies that were in force
during the year.21 Hence, the claims incurred figure comprises not only claims that have
been incurred and paid in the current year, but also claims that remain unpaid at yearend.

The unpaid claims are often called “loss reserves” and include not only the

estimated unpaid amounts for filed claims but also estimates of the related loss

19

20

21

Another important source of uncertainty for natural gas and electric utilities that supply the commodity to some or all of their
customers has been the commodity cost, which is determined by market forces in many jurisdictions. However, because the
cost of the commodity, when it reflects a market price as opposed to the cost of generation, is normally treated as a cost passthrough, separate from distribution and transmission rates, it is considered to be outside the regulatory framework for purposes
of this report.
Variance accounts are used by the Commission and other regulators to track variances between actual and forecast costs.
These variances are tracked when the regulatory methodology is designed to recover from customers actual, rather than
forecast, costs. The forecast level of costs is included in rates for the test year, while the variances are repaid to, or recovered
from, customers once actual costs are known.
As noted in the “Breakdown of Bodily Injury Costs chart” 2003 Annual Report, page 35, only 9% of Bodily Injury Claims Expense
has been paid after year one and 91% is normally still outstanding.
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adjustment expenses, both internal and external, and reserves for claims that have been
“incurred but not reported” (“IBNR”) as at the year-end date. Current year claims
incurred also include an allowance for a margin referred to as the margin on unpaid
losses and loss adjustment expenses. Consequently, there will be annual updates in the
forecast that are reflected in the Prior Years’ Claims Adjustment (“PYA”) until final
settlement, over a number of years and even decades, has been reached on all claims.
In other words, the essence of the allocation process for natural gas and electric utilities
is the attribution of the indirect costs related to existing capital assets. For an insurance
company, allocated costs are determined primarily by the actuarial forecast of the
ultimate claims costs (claims incurred and claims services costs) for the various
customer groups and coverages.
An insurer’s revenues (premiums) are earned before the major related costs (claims) are
paid. Hence, in setting appropriate premium levels, an insurance company relies on
past experience, actuarial analyses (statistical analyses of risks and costs) and other
information that bears on expected trends in claims, to forecast claims incurred for
policies that will be purchased during the rate year. This forecast of claims involves
greater inherent uncertainty than determining the costs associated with existing capital.
That is because, as noted above, the initial claims cost that is expensed in the insurance
company’s financial statements, in accordance with GAAP, is an estimate of claims
incurred that will be subject to revision for many years.
The fundamental difference between energy utilities and an insurer is highlighted by the
fact that it would not be practical to use variance accounts to pass actual claims incurred
costs through to customers on a timely basis.22 Instead it is necessary to base rates on
actuarial costs and allow the variances between the forecast and actual claims incurred
to average out over the years.

22

To illustrate the problem, it would not be uncommon for the adjustment in the forecast to create a negative variance in the first
year after the rate year, for example, and then to have positive variances as the forecast of the ultimate claims incurred is
updated in subsequent years.
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2.1.4 Similarity in Administrative Costs
Despite the foregoing differences between the core costs of energy utilities and auto
insurers,

general

administrative

(management,

corporate

services,

technology, etc.) costs are similar from a cost allocation perspective.

information
Whether the

regulated company is providing energy distribution services or insurance, general
administrative costs are common costs. The allocation method must therefore rely on
considerations of fairness rather than measurable causality. The challenge of allocating
these indirect costs in a manner that is balanced, equitable and symmetric is addressed
extensively in the regulatory literature.

2.1.5 Methodological Implications
Because of the difference between insurance and more traditional rate regulated
industries in terms of the proportion of indirect costs, as well as the nature and timing of
costs, the broad principles should be implemented differently in allocating costs to
services, customer classes or business segments for insurance companies than they are
for capital intensive utilities.
The traditional rate-base rate-of-return methodology relied on to set rates for most public
utilities involves a cost of service study that allocates the costs related to rate base as
well as operating, maintenance and other expenses to the various customer classes. In
the case of an auto insurer such as ICBC, the rate-setting process starts by actuarially
determining direct claims cost by coverage for individual vehicle classes and regions.
Rates are set by taking into account the actuarially determined claims costs, the
insurer’s operating costs, and a provision for return on equity. In the setting of insurance
rates, unlike the setting of rates for natural gas and other energy utilities, there is no
need for a process for allocating indirect costs to individual rate classes or regions.
Where a traditional cost of service study methodology does come into play for ICBC is in
allocating costs to business segments. When done in a manner that is consistent with
generally accepted regulatory principles, this allocation to its different lines of business is
an appropriate approach to ensuring that the regulated rates are just and reasonable, in
that each line of business is making a balanced, equitable and symmetric contribution to
recovering the corporation’s total operating costs, including all indirect costs.
Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
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2.2 Types of Cost of Service Studies
There are two primary approaches to cost of service studies: embedded cost studies,
which assign all costs actually incurred by the regulated company to customer classes,
services or business segments, and marginal cost studies, which estimate the long run
marginal costs of serving customer classes, providing each service, or operating
business segments.

ICBC’s current financial allocation methodology – the pro-rata

approach – is essentially an embedded cost study that adheres to the principles of fully
allocated costing.
Embedded cost studies have a long history which is succinctly summarized in the
Electricity Utility Cost Allocation Manual published by the National Association of
Regulatory Utility Commissioners (“NARUC Manual”).
Historically, regulation concerned itself with the overall level of a
company’s revenues and earnings and left the design of rates to the
discretion of the utility. To the extent that utility management justified their
rate structures on costs, rather than rationales of value of service or “what
the market will bear”, they defined cost in engineering and accounting
terms. Utilities developed cost studies that were based on monies actually
spent (embedded) for plant and operating expenses and divided those
costs (fully allocated or distributed them) among the classes of customers
according to principles of cost causation. The task for the analyst was to
allocate, among customers, the costs identified in the test year for which
the revenue requirement had been allocated.23
As the NARUC Manual then observes, “Through the years, the industry and its
regulators have witnessed a gradual evolution of the concepts for allocation.”24
One direction that this evolution took was the refinement of embedded cost
methodologies. As a review of the NARUC Manual shows, much of the refinement that
has resulted in the state of the art of embedded cost studies is not directly applicable to

23
24

NARUC, op. cit., page 13.
Ibid., page 13.
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the task of allocating ICBC’s costs and revenues to its Basic and Optional insurance
lines of business. For example, the classification of costs as demand-related, energyrelated and customer-related,25 which is now standard in embedded cost studies for
electricity and natural gas utilities, is not necessary or appropriate in auto insurance.
Classifying costs in this way is appropriate for electricity and natural gas distributors
because “load factor” is a critical cost causality factor.26 As has already been noted,
“load factor” is not a relevant issue in the case of automobile insurance.
The approach used in ICBC financial allocation methodology to allocate costs and
revenues to Basic and Optional insurance is conceptually consistent with the state of the
art of embedded cost studies. While the mechanics differ from the mechanics of an
electricity or natural gas distributor’s embedded cost study, ICBC’s approach allocates
costs according to the principles of cost causality.
The other direction in which the concepts of cost allocation have evolved has been to
consider the use of marginal cost studies, as an alternative to embedded cost studies,
as a basis for rate-setting. As the NARUC Manual states:
By the 1970’s, … Regulators and utilities began to inquire whether the
principles of marginal cost were the appropriate reference for regulated
utility rate structures in the United States. Such concepts had long been
the theoretical economic framework for the analysis of competitive
markets, and since the 1950’s, the basis of utility rates in England and
France.27
It may be noted that the 1992 NARUC Manual is itself a result of this evolution in ratesetting theory. Not only does it update the original Cost Allocation Manual, which was
published in 1969, in terms of the techniques normally used for embedded cost studies,
but the 1992 study also added a section on marginal cost studies that had not appeared
in the original Cost Allocation Manual.

25

26

27

This three-way classification is standard in the electricity sector. In the natural gas sector, the analogous concepts are often
referred to as the three C’s: capacity, commodity and customer.
The load factor of a customer, or class of customers, is the ratio of average rate of consumption of natural gas (or electricity) to
the customer’s peak rate of consumption. Higher load factors customers tend to use the capacity of the system more efficiently;
hence, the effective cost per unit of consumption tends to be lower. As a result, “load factor” has a significant impact on
allocated costs.
Op. cit. NARUC, page 14.
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The primary rationale for basing rates on marginal costs is that marginal cost pricing will,
in theory, optimize allocative efficiency.28 While this approach is very appealing in theory,
it is very difficult to implement in practice.29 The primary concern with the marginal cost
approach, and the primary reason that it is in limited use in North America, is clearly
stated in the NARUC Manual.
A deficiency of the marginal approach for ratemaking purposes is that
marginal cost-based prices will yield the utility’s allowed revenue
requirement based on embedded costs only by rare coincidence. Since
regulatory agencies are bound not to let the utility over-earn or underearn, revenues from rates must be reconciled to the allowed revenue
requirement. As the rates are reconciled to the revenue requirements
and prices diverge from marginal costs, the sought after marginal cost
price signals may not be obtained. When prices do not exactly equal
marginal cost there is no formal proof that the economic efficiency
predicted by theory is achieved.

Advocates of marginal cost pricing

believe that approximations to marginal cost pricing must contribute to
efficient resource allocation, although to an unspecified degree.
Supporters of embedded cost pricing believe that the greater precision,
verifiability and general simplicity of embedded cost methods outweigh
any hoped for efficiency benefits of imperfect approximations of marginal
cost pricing.30
Putting this comment into the context of ICBC, it is evident that if ICBC rates were based
on marginal costs, the company would either over or under-recover its actual revenue
requirement. This outcome would not be acceptable. Setting rates for one segment of

28

29

30

Marginal costs are not the same as incremental costs, as the latter term was used by some intervenors in ICBC’s 2004 Revenue
Requirements proceeding. Marginal costs are future costs that would be caused by growth in the corporation's volume of
business. The term “incremental costs”, as used by some intervenors, appears to refer to costs that could be avoided if ICBC
offered only Optional insurance.
If the marginal cost approach were adopted, Ramsey Pricing, or a variant thereof, (wherein marginal costs for different services
are marked up so that the regulated utility earns its full revenue requirement, with the percentage markup for the different
services being inversely proportional to the elasticity of demand for each service) would have to be used to determine the
services from which the revenue shortfall would be recovered in order to ensure that the corporation fully recovers its revenue
requirement. (See the reference cited in footnote 1, especially Kahn, Phillips and NARUC, for discussions of the marginal cost
approach to ratemaking.) Under that approach, it is Optional insurance that would be priced at a level close to its marginal cost
because the elasticity of demand for Optional insurance is clearly higher than it is for Basic insurance, which is mandatory.
Most fixed and common costs would be allocated to Basic insurance.
NARUC, op. cit., page 14.
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the business to recover marginal (or incremental) costs, while recovering the balance of
the revenue requirement through rates for the other segment would avoid over or underrecovery of costs, but would defeat the goal of establishing efficient prices and would
violate the principle of allocating costs in a balanced, equitable and symmetric manner to
the business segments.
The Commission relies on fully allocated cost studies rather than marginal cost studies
as the basis for setting rates for the electricity and natural gas utilities that it regulates.
Furthermore, as discussed in the next section, the alternative approaches advanced by
intervenors in last year’s proceeding are inconsistent with the principles on which
marginal cost methods are based.

The proposals of intervenors mix together the

concepts of marginal and fully allocated cost studies in a way that defeats the central
principles of both approaches. In particular, they involve either allocating costs that do
not reflect “monies actually spent” (i.e., the principle of allocating actual accounting costs
is violated) or else they do not allocate costs “according to the principle of cost
causation”. Not only does the NARUC Manual not recognize the proposed approaches,
they are inconsistent with the approaches to cost allocation that are generally accepted
by Canadian regulators.
Finally, fully allocated costing is generally accepted as being an appropriate method of
allocating costs between regulated and competitive segments of a business. As
Goodman observes:
Fully-allocated or fully-distributed costing is commonly used to segregate
the

unregulated,

non-jurisdictional

jurisdictional services.

services

from

the

regulated,

Fully-allocated costing prevents ratepayer

subsidization of the unregulated services by the regulated services. The
unregulated services share in all costs, variable and fixed, direct, indirect
and common.31
For

example,

when

the

Canadian

Radio-television

and

Telecommunications

Commission (“CRTC”) introduced long distance competition it also adopted a regulatory

31

Goodman, op.cit., page 432.
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regime, referred to as the Split Rate Base regime,

32

which required the telephone

companies to allocate costs on a fully allocated basis to their Utility and Competitive
Segments. While competitive rates were not required to recover their fully allocated
costs,33 regulated rates for the Utility Segment services were based on that segment’s
fully allocated costs and deemed contribution from competitive services and
discretionary utility segment services.

2.3 Alternate Approaches to ICBC’s Financial Allocation
The Commission stated at pages 43-44 of the Decision:
Some Intervenors have suggested that either the full value of services
provided to Optional insurance coverage should be recovered by the
Basic insurance or that the Basic insurance should only be charged those
costs incremental to the provision of Optional insurance. For the
purposes of this Application, the Commission Panel accepts that the
pro-rata approach undertaken by ICBC provides a reasonable
segregation of costs and income between the Basic and Optional
insurance. However, the Commission expects ICBC to fully address
the alternative allocation methodologies in its next application.
This section addresses these alternate approaches based on generally accepted
regulatory principles.

2.3.1 Allocation of “Full Value of Service” to Optional Insurance
The reference to the full value of service approach appears to relate to the submissions
of HSBC Canadian Direct (“HSBC”). The Decision describes HSBC’s views on this
matter as follows at page 41.

32

33

The CRTC Split Rate Base Regime was established by two decisions:
· Telecom Decision CRTC 94-19, Review of Regulatory Framework, 16 September 1994.
· Telecom Decision CRTC 95-21, Implementation of Regulatory Framework – Splitting the Rate Base and Related Issues, 31
October 1995.
The minimum price for competitive service was set at incremental cost in accordance with the CRTC’s Imputation test.
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HSBC submits that the pro-rata method of allocation loads more costs on
to Basic insurance than it would necessarily incur to discharge its
responsibilities adequately and efficiently. It believes that the pro-rata
method results in subsidization of the Optional insurance. The
Commission is encouraged to require ICBC to recover the full value of
services provided to the Optional insurance, which would have the effect
of reducing costs in the Basic insurance (HSBC Evidence, p. 5).
The relevant statement at page 5 of the Evidence of HSBC appears to be:
At the very least, we submit that the Commission should consider the
industry standard as a benchmark of the true value of the services
provided, and assume, as a starting point, that Basic would recover the
full value of services provided.
The essence of this suggestion appears to be that industry benchmark expense ratios
should be used to determine the costs that would be allocated to Optional insurance.
Using this approach, Optional would be deemed to pay, and Basic would be deemed to
receive, payments for services that are not based on ICBC’s costs, but rather are based
on the costs of other insurers, who would primarily be located in jurisdictions other than
BC. The Optional insurance rates would presumably be set by taking into account costs
which differ from ICBC’s actual costs while the Basic insurance revenue requirement
and Basic insurance rates would presumably be set equal to ICBC’s total costs less a
deemed payment from Optional. The effect would be that the costs used for setting the
rates of both Basic insurance and Optional insurance would depart from the actual costs
of ICBC.
That approach is not a cost allocation method that is generally recognized in the
literature on regulatory methodology. It would violate the basic principles of cost of
service studies in two ways. First, the costs that are allocated would not be based on
ICBC’s actual incurred costs. Second, rates for the Basic and Optional segments would
not be set on a balanced, equitable and symmetric basis.
Bonbright et al. comment on the appropriateness of taking into account value of service
in cost of service studies in discussion of the “Proper Approach of the Cost Analyst”:
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Carefully to be excluded [from fully distributed costs], therefore, are all
non-cost factors – factors such as those based on statutory mandates …
or, above all, on value-of-service differential. While all these factors are
arguably entitled to some weight in the design of the rate structure, their
recognition is beyond the purview of the cost analysts, who should seek
to confine their estimates to the determination of the behaviour of costs in
response to the changes in rates of output of various services, without
incorporating value judgements about the bearing of this observed
behavior on the fairness or reasonableness of the charges for the
service.34
The point being made is that the purpose of a cost of service study is to allocate costs to
business segments, not to develop a measure of notional costs that serve the interests
of a particular group of intervenors.
Finally, it should be recognized that a consequence of requiring ICBC to allocate costs,
and set rates for Optional insurance, that reflect notional costs35 would be that ICBC
would either recover more than its actual incurred costs (if it retained its market share)
or, if it suffered a dramatic decline in market share due to the higher prices, it could end
up in a position where Optional insurance generates less net income to contribute to
indirect costs. In the former scenario, the increased profits from Optional insurance
could be used to reduce Basic insurance rates to a level that is below the fully allocated
cost of Basic insurance. In essence, Optional insurance would then be subsidizing
Basic insurance. However, if the skewing of the financial allocation process resulted in a
large enough increase in Optional coverage rates that market share declined by enough
to result in lower net income, rates for Basic insurance would have to be increased to
offset the lost contribution made by Optional insurance to ICBC’s common costs.

34
35

Bonbright et al, op. cit., page 483.
This problem arises whether the notional costs are based on an industry benchmark or include costs items that are not borne by
the company such as an imputed before tax market-based cost of capital and capital structure.
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2.3.2 Allocating Incremental Costs to Basic Insurance
The Commission Panel’s reference to the incremental approach appears to relate to the
submissions of Pemberton Insurance Corporation (“Pemberton”).

The Decision

described Pemberton’s views on this matter as follows at page 42.
Pemberton also takes issue with ICBC’s choice of a pro-rata allocation
methodology for shared costs and revenues. It believes that a significant
burden of the cost of claims lies with the first-party insurer (the Optional
insurance coverage) and the additional or incremental cost to evaluate
these claims reports should be relatively minimal to the Basic insurance
coverage division. The effect of this incremental method of allocation
would be similar to that posed to ICBC in Commission Staff Information
Request 1A.9.1.3. ICBC responded to that Information Request to state:
“Allocating costs first to the Optional business with the incremental costs
allocated to Basic [insurance] would result in non-regulated customers
bearing much of the cost of the regulated business. This is not putting
ICBC’s Optional insurance on an equal basis to private insurers.”
The approach proposed by Pemberton is not an approach that is recognized in the
regulatory literature.

Bonbright et al. comment as follows on “incremental cost

principles":
Inconsistent Application of Incremental Cost Principles. Public utility
companies have sometimes invoked a marginal or incremental principle
in defense of special rate concessions to very large customers, or to
residential customers, or to municipalities (e.g., street lighting) the
defense resting on the contention that the revenues from the favoured
service will cover, or more than cover all additional costs of its production.
The weakness of this defense lies not, as sometimes asserted, in the
invalidity of the incremental cost principle, but rather in a company’s
unsymmetrical proposal to base the preferential rate on incremental cost
while basing the other rates on residual cost. Even the latter proposal
may be justified in special cases; but the practice constitutes a form of
rate discrimination, not a form of cost-based pricing. Its reasoning,
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according to Taggart (1959, pp. 538-539) has been rejected as a defense
against the charge of unlawful discrimination under the provisions of the
Robinson-Patman Act. And as Rowe (1959, p. 594) cogently observed:
“The differential cost approach to cost justification is totally unacceptable.
This means that a cost cannot be ignored merely because a given cost
category would not be changed by the acquisition or loss of a certain
customer or order or quantum of production.” 36
This objection to the incremental cost approach is equally valid whether the case for
incremental costing is based on the desire to justify lower rates for Basic insurance (i.e.,
price discrimination designed to benefit Basic insurance customers) or higher rates for
competitive insurance (i.e., price discrimination to benefit competitors). Regardless of
the rationale being used, the incremental cost approach would involve an asymmetric
allocation of costs to ICBC’s business segments. This approach would, therefore, be
contrary to the accepted principles of cost allocation.
The most widely accepted approach to allocating costs among classes of customers,
services or lines of business is on the basis of fully allocating costs.
The only recognized alternative approach to ratemaking is to base rates on marginal
costs.

This approach is adopted in situations where economic efficiency is given

precedence over inter-class or inter-business-segment equity and marginal costing is
considered practical.

The marginal cost approach to ratemaking has been used in

situations where some of the regulated company’s services are subject to competition.
But in such circumstances, it is the competitive services that are priced based on
marginal cost (either marginal cost is the price floor or a markup is applied to marginal
cost based on the inverse elasticity rule) so that the competitive services of the regulated
company is not put at a competitive disadvantage vis-à-vis its competitors.
Pemberton’s proposed approach therefore violates the basic premise of equity that
underpins the fully allocated costing approach to cost of service studies, in that fixed and
common costs are not allocated across lines of business on the basis of a reasonable
measure of the level of business activity conducted by each business segment. Instead,

36

Bonbright et al., op. cit. Pages 394-395.
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it would allocate the fixed and common costs disproportionately to Optional insurance.
The Pemberton proposal also violates the economic efficiency principles that are the
basis of the marginal costing approach to ratemaking in that it neither considers marginal
costs nor does it recover any excess revenue requirement, above that which would be
recovered if rates were set equal to marginal cost, in inverse proportion to the elasticity
of demand for different products.
The regulatory literature is unequivocal in recognizing that equity in allocating costs
implies the need to adopt allocation methods that reflect reasonable indicators of the
relative use made of common facilities, even when cost causality is difficult to clearly
establish. For example, Goodman states:
Where cost allocations must be made to separate non-regulated services
from regulated services, a revenue allocator should be used to apportion
costs in lieu of an investment allocator for those unregulated functions
that receive benefits [i.e., revenues] from regulated functions but do not
have any investment attached to them.37
ICBC’s financial allocation methodology adheres to this principle in that a number of
allocators are based on premium revenue. The recommended methodology for future
use, discussed in Section 5, would use premiums written to allocate all indirect costs
related to the handling of policies (as opposed to the processing of claims).

2.3.3 ICBC’s Pro Rata Methodology
The financial allocation methodology used by ICBC in its 2004 Revenue Requirements
Application relied on what it referred to as the “pro-rata” approach. ICBC’s pro-rata
methodology is a fully allocated cost study that allocates costs and revenues in
accordance with the principles of cost causality. This approach is consistent with the
generally accepted approach for cost of service studies used to avoid crosssubsidization in a wide range of industries. As Goodman observes:

37

Goodman, op. cit., page 375.
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A major goal of cost allocation is the avoidance of cross-subsidization
between classes of customers, or of the competitive service by the noncompetitive service.38
This quotation reflects the generally accepted view that one reason for undertaking a
cost of service (or financial allocation) study to allocate costs to the regulated and
competitive segments of a company such as ICBC is to ensure that the regulated
segment does not subsidize the competitive segment. The cost allocation study is also
needed to determine the revenue requirement of the regulated segment of a company
such as ICBC that operates its regulated and competitive segments on a fully integrated
basis.
It should be noted that the standard economic criterion used to determine whether there
is a cross-subsidy is that the competitive services must recover at least their incremental
costs. Nevertheless, it is a common regulatory practice to use incremental costs only to
establish a price floor for individual competitive services offered by a regulated company.
The company is expected to recover its fully allocated costs of its competitive services in
aggregate.
An implication of this approach is that costs are separated between the regulated and
unregulated segments of the business using a fully allocated costing approach, and the
rates for the company’s regulated services are based on the fully allocated costs of the
regulated services. This approach also ensures that Basic and Optional services are
treated in an equitable manner in that each segment will contribute in an equitable and
symmetric manner to the recovery of fixed and common costs of any integrated
operations.
For all of these reasons, it can be concluded that ICBC’s pro-rata approach is consistent
with the generally accepted regulatory principles discussed in the regulatory literature.

38

Goodman, op. cit., page 374.
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3 Overview of ICBC’s Financial Allocation
Methodology
ICBC operations consist of three business segments.
1. The Basic insurance segment is engaged in the provision of universal compulsory
automobile insurance to all drivers in British Columbia.
2. The Optional insurance segment provides British Columbia drivers with Optional
insurance coverage in competition with private insurers.
3. The Non-insurance segment provides several Non-insurance services on behalf of
the provincial government. These services include vehicle registration and licensing,
driver licensing and government fines collection and remittance.
ICBC’s Non-insurance services are not funded through fees charged to either customers
or the government, e.g. fees for driver licensing services are passed to the government
and are not retained by ICBC. Instead, ICBC is required to recover the cost of these
services through Basic insurance premiums.
ICBC operates its Basic insurance, Optional insurance and Non-insurance activities on a
fully integrated basis in an effort to take advantage of economies of scale and scope.
Nevertheless, virtually all revenues and claims-related costs (claims incurred and claims
expenses) are directly attributable to the two insurance lines (Basic and Optional). In
addition, over $70 million in costs are directly attributable to ICBC’s Non-insurance
activities.
Most of ICBC’s remaining cost of services relates to operational activities that support
either both of the insurance segments, or all three segments, on an integrated basis.
These costs are allocated to business segments based on the principles of cost
causality.
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3.1 Guiding Principle for ICBC’s Financial Allocation
The Commission Panel stated in the Decision that “One area of considerable
controversy was with respect to the guiding principle of allocation.” 39
One of the purposes of ICBC’s financial allocation is to determine a revenue requirement
for Basic insurance that will serve as a basis for setting just and reasonable rates for
Basic insurance. The guiding principles for ICBC’s cost allocation methodology must be
consistent with this purpose.
In its Participants’ Guide,40 the Commission summarizes its approach to rate regulation.
This approach is consistent both with the standard practices of economic regulators
across Canada, and with the literature on economic regulation discussed in the
preceding section. While the Participants’ Guide was written from the perspective of
energy regulation, there is no reason that the fundamental principles of equity that
underpin the allocation of the costs of a natural gas or electric utilities’ customer classes
should not apply to the allocation of costs and revenues to ICBC’s lines of insurance
business.
ICBC’s financial allocation methodology is a cost of service study that determines the
costs attributable to each of its three business segments: Basic insurance, Optional
insurance and Non-insurance. The “Cost of Service” section of the Participants’ Guide
states:
The Commission determines specific prices for each class by first
allocating the utility’s costs (i.e., revenue requirements) to customer
classes (residential, commercial and industrial); then divides the costs for
each rate class by its expected sales volume to arrive at a price for each
customer class. This process is called a “Cost of Service Analysis”.

39
40

Decision, op. cit., page 43
BCUC, A Participants’ Guide.

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004

1-27

ICBC July 5th Filing with the BC Utilities Commission
… Certain types of utility service can be directly associated with particular
customers or customer classes, such as the service connection from the
street to the house. Other services that cut across customer classes,
such as power plants, transmission lines, distribution lines and
transformers, are constructed and operated for the benefit of many
customers.

In addition, the administrative costs of the utility are not

always associated with serving any particular customer. These shared
costs must somehow be allocated among customers who share the use
of the facilities. The allocation of these costs depends on a number of
assumptions. It is the task of the Commission to critically examine the
underlying assumptions and methodologies used on preparing the cost of
service studies and filed by the utility in support of its rate application.41
The treatment of “directly associated” costs is quite straightforward. They are allocated
directly to customer classes – or in the case of ICBC, to Basic insurance, Optional
insurance and Non-insurance. The more contentious issue is the “somehow” that is
adopted for allocating shared costs. ICBC used the “pro-rata approach” for purposes of
the Financial Allocation Methodology for its 2004 Revenue Requirements Application
and in its 2003 Annual Report. That approach is consistent in principle with the standard
approach used for rate-setting purposes, commonly referred to as the “fully allocated
costs” as derived through an embedded cost of services study.

3.2 Overview of Methodology
The steps derived from a standard regulatory cost of service study that are appropriate
for separating ICBC costs by business segment are the following:

1. Identify business segments for purposes of the financial allocation.
2. Identify cost (and revenue)42 elements to be allocated to the business segments.

41
42

Ibid, pages 43-44
Revenues, as well as costs, are allocated for purposes of ICBC’s Basic and Optional financial disclosure in the Annual Report.
Revenues are not allocated as part of the cost of service study for Basic insurance revenue requirement and rate-setting
purposes.
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3. Directly allocate to the relevant business segment those cost (and revenue) elements
that are caused solely by one business segment.

4. Determine the allocators that best reflect causality for each cost (and revenue)
element that cannot be directly allocated.

5. Using the allocators, allocate the remaining costs (and revenues) to the business
segments.0.
Each of these steps is explained below.

3.2.1 Identify Business Segments
One of the purposes of ICBC’s financial allocation is to separate the costs of Basic
insurance from the corporation’s total costs so that the cost of service that must be
recovered in Basic insurance rates is quantified. To achieve that end, Basic insurance
and Optional insurance are treated as business segments. This segmentation is
analogous to the Split Rate Base methodology used by the Canadian Radio-television
and Telecommunications Commission (“CRTC”) to separate the integrated operations of
CRTC-regulated telephone companies into Utility and Competitive Segments.
In the case of ICBC, unlike the telephone companies, the corporation is also required to
provide certain government mandated Non-insurance services (e.g., driver licensing and
vehicle registration). ICBC’s Non-insurance activities are treated as a third business
segment and covered under service agreements so that direct and indirect costs can be
attributed to those activities in accordance with cost causality principles.

3.2.2 Identify Cost Elements
The breakdown of accounting costs normally used by regulated electric and natural gas
utilities as the starting point for cost of service studies is based on each regulator’s
approved Uniform System of Accounts.43 Since regulation of ICBC only commenced
recently, there is no Uniform System of Accounts that applies to its operations. ICBC’s
accounting system has been developed to meet its financial reporting and operational
requirements based on a shared services model, not financial allocation requirements. It
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does not utilize a regulator’s Uniform System of Accounts. This situation is not unusual
in the regulatory environment. As Goodman states:
However, most of the current rules of accounting and bookkeeping derive
mainly from financial rather than costing concerns, and regulators have
been slow to add administrative reporting burdens, where the regulatory
need is not clearly immediate or ongoing.44
To facilitate ICBC’s Financial Allocation Study, cost-centres45 have been aggregated in
order to create “allocation functions”. Each allocation function consists of one or more
cost-centres that are functionally consistent and can be allocated to the three business
segments using a single allocator.

For example, the cost-centres associated with

ICBC’s claims handling operations in its network of 41 claim centres have been
aggregated into a single allocation function that can be allocated to the business
segments based on a single allocator.

3.2.3 Directly Allocate Costs Caused by a Single Business Segment
A significant portion of ICBC’s total costs is directly and uniquely caused by either Basic
or Optional coverages. In particular, all claims are paid on the basis of the coverage of a
specific policy that is Basic or Optional. The majority of the incurred loss of each claim
can be directly assigned to Basic or Optional insurance based on policy attributes and
the incurred amount. As a result, most of ICBC’s claims incurred losses can be directly
attributed to either the Basic insurance or Optional insurance segment.
Similarly, for the Basic and Optional financial disclosure in the Annual Report, almost all
of the corporation’s revenues are directly attributable.

3.2.4 Determine Allocators for Indirect Costs
Because ICBC operates its Basic insurance and Optional insurance operations on an
integrated basis, a significant portion of its operating costs cannot be directly allocated.
These costs are caused jointly by the corporation’s Basic and Optional insurance lines of

43
44
45

National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (various) Uniform System of Accounts for Utilities, NARUC.
Goodman, op. cit., page 367.
Cost centres are the most granular breakdown of cost categories in ICBC’s accounting system.
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business and its Non-insurance activities and only since being a regulated entity, has
ICBC been required to formally allocate its costs. These costs are often referred to as
indirect costs. As noted earlier, these indirect costs are a small portion of the total costs
that are recovered in rates. Claims related costs, which are for the most part directly
assignable, make up most of the corporation’s revenue requirement.
Where revenues and costs are not directly attributable, the principles of cost causation
are used to determine the appropriate basis of allocation. That is, revenues and costs
associated with an activity are allocated to the business on a basis that reflects the
degree to which the business segments caused that activity to take place. To the extent
that indirect costs are variable, they can be allocated based on the factor that the
variable costs depend on. Fixed costs are more difficult in that they are “caused” by the
existence of the business and are not driven by the relative scale of different services,
customer classes, or business segments. Fixed costs must therefore be allocated in a
balanced, equitable and symmetric manner. The generally accepted approach in this
case is to allocate the fixed common costs on the basis of a high-level measure of the
relative scale of the different services, customer classes, or business segments.
For purposes of the financial allocation (Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and
Costs) that appears in the 2003 Annual Report, causation was determined using the
following methods:

1. Premiums Written: For activities relating to insurance product development,
underwriting and distribution, allocation was based on the value of premiums written,
as appropriate.

2. Claims Incurred: Where appropriate, activities that are driven by claims, the value of
the claims (claims incurred) handled by a particular area was considered to be the
best indicator.

3. Work effort: The use of management interviews, questionnaires and estimates,
operational management reports, and analysis of work activities provided the key
sources of information for measuring causation. This analysis was conducted at a
regional or cost-centre level and then aggregated at the functional level.

4. Shared Services and Averages: Some work activities are simply driven by the
demands of the organization and could not be tracked by transaction or attributed
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using either a premium or claims separation. In these cases, either a shared services
allocator was developed which was based on the overall allocation results for the
primary operating areas (i.e., Insurance and Claims Operations divisions) or else an
indicator of the cost drivers was used to create a ratio (averages of other costs,
square footage, etc.).

Appendix 1A clarifies the differences between the various

shared services ratios. 0.

3.2.5 Apply Allocators to Indirect Costs
The final step is a straightforward arithmetic step that applies the functional allocator
percentage to the allocation function costs. The results are summed for each business
segment to determine the fully allocated costs of each segment.
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4 2003 Basic and Optional Allocation
At page 47 of the Decision, the Commission requested “Comprehensive detail
concerning the allocation methodology used between the Basic and Optional insurance
business.” This section provides a line by line discussion of the Basic and Optional
allocation of revenues and costs that were included, in less detail, on page 64, note 15
of the corporation’s 2003 Annual Report. Further information on the allocation of costs
within each line item is provided in the Appendices.
Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues & Costs
For the Year Ended December 31, 2003
(Dollars in Thousands)
Section
PREMIUMS WRITTEN
Vehicle
Driver
PREMIUMS EARNED
Vehicle
Driver

4.1
4.1.1
4.1.2

CLAIMS AND OPERATING COSTS
Claims Incurred
Claims Services
Road Safety and Loss Management Services

4.2
4.2.1
4.2.2
4.2.3

Operating Costs
Premium Taxes and Commissions

Basic
1,653,738
15,560
1,669,298

$

1,301,262
1,301,262

$

2,955,000
15,560
2,970,560

$

1,615,680
18,228
1,633,908

$

1,225,579
1,225,579

$

2,841,259
18,228
2,859,487

4.2.4
4.2.5

4.3

INCOME - INSURANCE OPERATIONS

Licences and Fines Collected on Behalf of the Province
Less:
Licences and Fines Transferred to the Province
Operating Costs - Non Insurance
Commissions

4.4

LOSS - NON-INSURANCE OPERATIONS
INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED
Gain on Sale of Property and Equipment
NET INCOME

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
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Total

$

UNDERWRITING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE PRIOR YEARS' CLAIMS ADJUSTMENT
Prior Years' Claims Adjustment
UNDERWRITING INCOME (LOSS)
Investment Income

Optional

4.5
$

1,384,938
148,686
35,478
1,569,102

823,202
86,928
2,608
912,738

2,208,140
235,614
38,086
2,481,840

68,367
94,957
1,732,426

40,696
179,882
1,133,316

109,063
274,839
2,865,742

(98,518)
8,853

92,263
(19,245)

(6,255)
(10,392)

(89,665)
228,844

73,018
101,092

(16,647)
329,936

139,179

174,110

313,289

419,819

-

419,819

419,819
86,516
16,085

-

419,819
86,516
16,085

522,420
(102,601)

-

522,420
(102,601)

36,578

174,110

8,890

5,229

45,468

$

179,339

210,688
14,119
$

224,807
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Note that the line items appearing in the Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and
Costs shown above correspond to the line items appearing in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings that appears in ICBC’s Annual Report.
Hence, the figures shown reflect the end result of the current allocation process.
To avoid confusion, it is important to recognize that the pre-allocation amounts for
Claims Services and Operating Costs include costs that are attributable to Noninsurance and therefore exceed the “total” post-allocation amounts shown above. The
reconciliation of the pre-allocation to the post-allocation costs by category is provided in
Appendix 1G.
Under both the current allocation methodology and the recommended methodology
described in section 5 below, operating costs are broken down into the following cost
categories that reflect ICBC’s operating structure.46
·

Claims Services

·

Road Safety and Loss Management Services

·

Operating Costs, which include:
·

Insurance Services (previously referred to as Autoplan Services – Expenses )

·

Administrative and Other

·

Premium Financing Plan Recoveries (previously referred to as Autoplan 12
Recoveries)

46

·

Commissions

·

Premium Taxes

These cost categories correspond to those identified in the Financial Allocation Methodology section of the 2003 Revenue
Requirement Application.
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4.1 Premium Revenues
$ in thousands

2003
Basic
Insurance
1,615,680
18,228
1,633,908

Premium Revenue Earned
Vehicle
Driver
Total Premiums Earned

Optional
Insurance
1,225,579
1,225,579

Total
2,841,259
18,228
2,859,487

Figure 1.1 - 2003 Premium Revenues Earned

3,500,000
Allocated

3,000,000

Thousands

2,500,000
Optional
2,000,000
1,500,000

Direct
Basic

1,000,000
500,000
-

4.1.1 Vehicle Premiums
Allocation %

$ in thousands
2003

Basic
Insurance

Vehicle Premiums Earned

1,615,680

NonInsurance
-

Optional
Insurance

Total

1,225,579

2,841,259

Basic
Insurance
56.9%

NonInsurance
0.0%

Optional
Insurance
43.1%

Total
100.0%

Vehicle premium revenues consist of monies paid by customers for specific insurance
coverages.

The majority (97%) of premium revenues is systematically identified as

being either Basic or Optional insurance according to the coverages purchased.
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The remaining 3% of vehicle revenue are attributed to general fees, surcharges,
cancellation fees, minimum retained premiums, merchant fees costs, pro-rate fleet
reporting, and special coverages.
Fees and surcharges generally follow the overall volume of insurance premiums and
were therefore allocated based on premium revenues earned.
Pro-rate fleet reporting and special coverages were allocated on detailed samplings of
policies to determine the appropriate Basic/Optional insurance business split.

4.1.2 Drivers Premiums
Allocation %

$ in thousands
Basic
Insurance

2003
Drivers Premiums Earned

18,228

NonInsurance

Optional
Insurance

-

-

Total
18,228

Basic
Insurance
100.0%

NonInsurance
0.0%

Optional
Insurance
0.0%

Drivers’ premiums represent revenue generated from driving infractions.

Total
100.0%

These

revenues are directly attributed to the Basic insurance business by definition of Section 2
(5) of the Special Direction IC1 to the British Columbia Utilities Commission where it
states:
3 (3) In regulating and fixing rates for the corporation, the commission
must treat any premiums levied under section 34(1.1)(e) of the Insurance
(Motor Vehicle) Act as revenue for the corporation’s universal compulsory
automobile insurance business.
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4.2 Claims and Operating Costs
$ in thousands

2003
Basic
Insurance
1,384,938
148,686
35,478
1,569,102

Claims Incurred
Claims Services
Road Safety & Loss Mgmt Services

Optional
Insurance
823,202
86,928
2,608
912,738

63%

Operating Costs
Premium Taxes and Commissions
Claims and Operating Costs

68,367
94,957
1,732,426

37%

40,696
179,882
1,133,316

Total
2,208,140
235,614
38,086
2,481,840
100%

109,063
274,839
2,865,742

Figure 1.2 - 2003 Total Claims and Operating Costs

3,500,000
3,000,000

Thousands

2,500,000

Allocated
Optional

2,000,000
Direct

1,500,000
1,000,000

Basic

500,000

Claims and Operating Costs include five major cost categories:

1. Claims Incurred represents the actuarially estimated cost of settling claims that
occurred during the calendar year. The allocation methodology for claims incurred is
based on coverage types and policy limits which, for the majority, is directly
attributable.

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004

1-37

ICBC July 5th Filing with the BC Utilities Commission

2. Claims Services represent the costs associated with various claims adjusting and
settlement processes and includes compensation, operating expenses, information
service costs, and building operating costs. The most suitable allocator has been
selected for each functional area in an effort to allocate costs to the Basic and
Optional insurance lines of business in an equitable manner.

3. Road Safety and Loss Management Services represent road safety initiative
funding and operating expenses. These initiatives include funding for speed and
impaired driving enforcement (CounterAttack), Road Improvements and the Auto
Theft Task Force. The Road Safety and Loss Management Services expenses are
costs incurred to manage the road safety initiatives and fraud prevention and
investigation activities. Road Safety costs are allocated to Basic insurance while the
Loss Management Services costs are allocated based on causation.

4. Operating Costs represent the operating expenses of the corporation, including but
not limited to, finance, information technology, human resources and insurance
services. The allocation methods most suitable to the functional areas are itemized
in Appendix 1B.

5. Commissions and Premium Taxes are acquisition costs. As with premiums, the
majority of commissions can be directly attributed to the Basic or Optional lines of
business. The premium taxes are paid over to the provincial government and are
directly attributed to either Basic or Optional insurance line of business in line with
the premiums earned.
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4.2.1 Claims Incurred
Allocation %

$ in thousands
2003
Claims Incurred and
Prior Years' Adjustment
Claims Incurred
Prior Years Claims Adjustment
Total Claims Incurred and
Prior Years' Adjustment

Basic
NonInsurance
Insurance
1,384,938
(8,853)
1,376,085

Optional
Insurance
823,202
19,245

Total
2,208,140
10,392

842,447

2,218,532

-

Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance
62.7%
0.0%
37.3%
-85.2%
0.0%
185.2%
62.0%

0.0%

38.0%

Total
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Figure 1.3 - 2003 Claims Incurred

2,500,000

Thousands

2,000,000

Allocated

Optional

1,500,000
1,000,000

Direct
Basic

500,000

The 2003 claims incurred expense of $2.2 billion accounts for approximately 75% of the
corporation’s annual expenses. Claims incurred is the actuarial estimate of the total
costs that will ultimately be paid by the corporation to settle claims for events that
occurred during the fiscal year.
Prior Years’ Claims Adjustments represent the year over year change in the actuarial
estimate of ultimate incurred claims for prior calendar years.
Conceptually, claims incurred costs consist of the components that are illustrated in
Figure 1-4.
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Figure 1.4 - Claims Incurred Components

Claims Incurred
Actuals

Losses

Loss
Adjustment
Expense

Adjuster's Estimate

Actuarial Estimate

Paid Losses

Case Reserves

Development
----------------IBNR

Margin on unpaid
claims and Loss
Adj Expense

Paid Allocated
Loss Adjustment
Expense (ALAE)

Unpaid Allocated
Loss Adjustment
Expense (ALAE)

Allocated Loss
Adjustment
Expense (ALAE)
Development

Unpaid
Unallocated
Loss Adjustment
Expense (ULAE)

Claims Incurred Components
Claims

Losses are actual and estimated future payments made to claimants or on

Losses

behalf of claimants. Losses can be further broken down into:
·

Paid Losses
Paid losses are amounts that have already been paid to claimants, or on
behalf of claimants. These amounts are recorded in ICBC’s files by claim
and Kind of Loss (“KOL”).

·

Case Reserves
Case reserves reflect the value of losses that the adjusters anticipate
incurring, but have not yet been paid. Like paid losses, case reserves are
recorded in the adjusters’ claims files by claim and KOL.

·

Development
Development reflects that portion of the total losses that are estimated
actuarially that are in excess of combined value of paid losses and case
reserves.
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·

Incurred But Not Reported (“IBNR”)
At the end of any given fiscal year, there are claims that have occurred but
have not yet been reported by claimants.47 The actuarial estimate of the
volume and total losses by KOL therefore also includes these unreported
claims.
The sum of paid losses, case reserves, development and IBNR is the best
actuarial estimate of the ultimate losses associated with policies in force
during each fiscal year.
Paid losses and case reserves are associated with specific claim coverages.
These can be directly attributed to Basic insurance and Optional insurance
based on the policy attributes, paid loss and case reserve amount.
Once data is in place, Basic and Optional IBNR and Development are
estimated directly through actuarial analysis by coverage.

·

Margin on Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses
For many years, ICBC has held an explicit margin for conservatism as part
of its claims liabilities. This margin is 5% of unpaid losses and allocated loss
adjustment expenses. Where these unpaid amounts are directly attributed,
the margin is also considered directly attributed.

The margin for

conservatism is held for claims liabilities that will potentially develop
unfavourably, but not taken into account for rate-setting purposes.
The Margin is attributed to Basic insurance and Optional insurance through
actuarial analysis by coverage.

Loss

Loss Adjustment Expense can be divided into Allocated Loss Adjustment

Adjustment

Expense (“ALAE”) and Unallocated Loss Adjustment expense (“ULAE”).

Expense

·

Allocated Loss Adjustment Expense (“ALAE”)
ALAE are costs charged to specific claim files for legal fees and
disbursements,

47

medical

reports,

independent

adjusters,

private

Claimants generally have up to two years to report a claim and in the case of minors till the age of majority.
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investigators, etc.
ALAE is recorded to each specific claim file, as it is incurred, by an adjuster.
It also includes an estimate of the future expenses on reported claims and
incurred but unreported claims.
For Bodily Injury, Property Damage and Special Coverages, ALAE is
allocated to Basic and Optional through actuarial analysis. All other ALAE is
directly attributable to either Basic or Optional coverage.
Bodily Injury, Property Damage and Special Coverages costs are incurred in
relation to multiple coverages (e.g. Basic Third Party Liabilities and Third
Party Liabilities Extension) that may include both Basic and Optional
insurance.

For example, medical and other reports may be obtained in

relation to a third-party liability claim that exceeds the Basic insurance limit
of $200,000 and are appropriately allocated in relation to the claims incurred
amount.

Because of the nature of Third Party Liability ALAE and their

relationship to the loss amount itself as being either Basic or Optional, the
majority of ALAE costs on Bodily Injury and Property Damage coverages are
allocated to Basic and Optional on an Ultimate Incurred loss basis according
to the proportion of Basic incurred loss to Optional incurred loss.
·

Unallocated Loss Adjustment Expense (“ULAE”)
ULAE are claim handling expenses that cannot be allocated to individual
claim files and generally consists of internal claims adjustment expenses.
These claims expenses are not directly attributable to specific coverages.
Unpaid ULAE is an actuarial analysis which estimates the future adjustment
expenses required for reported and unreported claims and included in
claims incurred.
Paid ULAE is recorded in aggregate as Claims Services Expense.

Unpaid ULAE costs are allocated to Basic and Optional based on the Basic to
Optional loss proportion (Claims Liabilities). A reserve for future year ULAE
(Claims Services Expenses) is maintained in the ICBC accounts. Changes in
the reserve are included in claims incurred and allocated to Basic and Optional
by the ICBC Actuarial Department.
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Prior Years’

The Financial Allocation of Revenues and Costs also reflects changes to the

Claims

estimates of the ultimate claims incurred amounts that were expensed in

Adjustment

previous fiscal years. In essence, if the updated actuarial estimates of claims

(“PYA”)

incurred for policies in force in previous fiscal years show that the amounts
expensed were too high or too low, an adjustment is needed to reflect the
change in the expected ultimate level of Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses.
It does not affect the future claims costs and any such adjustment is reflected in
the company’s accounts in the current fiscal year. It should be noted the PYA’s
impact on trends are taken into account when rates are set using the actuarial
method.
It should be noted that these adjustments are directly attributed to claims
coverages.
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4.2.2 Claims Services
Allocation %

$ in thousands
Basic
Insurance
148,686

NonInsurance
529

Disclosure on Statement of Operations:
Claims Services
148,686
Included in Non Insurance
148,686

529
529

2003
Claims Services

Optional
Insurance
86,928
86,928
86,928

Total
236,143

Basic
Insurance
63.0%

NonOptional
Insurance
Insurance
0.2%
36.8%

Total
100.0%

235,614
529
236,143

Details of the Claims Services allocation functions and allocators may be found in Appendix 1B, pages 84 to 85.

ICBC processes approximately one million claims per year through a 24 hour telephone
claims handling operation, a province wide network of 41 claim centres, and other
specialized claim handling operations. To adjust and settle these claims, ICBC makes
payments to claimants, contract suppliers and service providers in a variety of industries.
Claims Services includes the cost of processing claims throughout the calendar year
representing items such as staff compensation and benefits, general claims operating
expenses, information services costs, and facilities.
Details of the claims services costs and the respective allocators can be found in
Appendix 1B.
Figure 1.5 - 2003 Claims Services

250,000

Thousands

200,000

Optional

150,000
Allocated
100,000
Basic
50,000

Direct
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4.2.3 Road Safety and Loss Management Services
Allocation %

$ in thousands
2003
Road Safety and Loss
Management Services

Basic
Insurance

NonInsurance

35,478

Optional
Insurance

-

2,608

Total
38,086

Basic
Insurance
93.2%

NonInsurance
0.0%

Optional
Insurance
6.8%

Total
100.0%

Details of the Road Safety and Loss Management Services allocation functions and allocators may be found in
Appendix 1B, page 85.

In addition to the primary operational activity of claims settlement, ICBC is also
engaged in various road safety and loss management initiatives with the goal of
reducing the cost of claims through preventative measures.

ICBC works with key

partners such as the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General, the Ministry of
Transportation, municipalities, vehicle manufacturers and police to reduce the
frequency and severity of crashes on the road.
Road Safety includes funding and grants for traffic enforcement and road
improvements, to various levels of government, in order to provide road safety
programs for all British Columbians.

Loss Management encompasses business

functions related to loss prevention and loss mitigation.
Special Direction IC1 states that the Commission must fix rates for Basic insurance
after taking into account costs incurred by ICBC for road safety programs. Accordingly,
all Road Safety costs were directly attributed to the Basic insurance since the goal of
crash and auto crime prevention benefits all British Columbians through the reduction in
Basic insurance claims payments including accident benefits, third-party liability and
uninsured motorist protection.
Fraud Management costs were allocated between Basic and Optional insurance lines
of business based on the allocation of the underlying cost-centres being supported.
See Appendix 1B.
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Figure 1.6 - 2003 Road Safety and Loss Management Services

40,000
Optional

35,000

Allocated

Thousands

30,000
25,000
20,000

Basic

Direct

15,000
10,000
5,000

4.2.4 Operating Costs
Allocation %

$ in thousands
Basic
Insurance
68,367

NonInsurance
27,651

Disclosure on Statement of Operations:
Operating Costs
68,367
Included in Non Insurance
68,367

27,651
27,651

2003
Operating Costs

Optional
Insurance
40,696
40,696
40,696

Total
136,714

Basic
Insurance
50.0%

NonOptional
Insurance
Insurance
20.2%
29.8%

Total
100.0%

109,063
27,651
136,714

Details of the Operating Costs allocation functions and allocators may be found in Appendix 1B, pages 86 to 88.

Operating Costs represent the costs of selling and supporting the insurance products.
These include:
1. Operating costs which include shared costs for all of ICBC’s business areas
including but are not limited to, costs related to corporate governance, finance,
human resource management, planning, corporate and information services,
insurance administration support, product development, marketing, underwriting and
registration and licensing.
2. Premium

Financing

Plan

Recoveries

include

the

interest

income

and

administration fees earned on the premium financing plan. ICBC customers may
finance their premium over a 12-month or 6-month period.
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Details of the various expense items and allocation methods are included under the
Operating Costs section of Appendix 1A and 1B.
Figure 1.7- 2003 Operating Costs
120,000
100,000
Optional

Thousands

80,000
Allocated

60,000
40,000

Basic

20,000

Direct

4.2.5 Premium Taxes and Commission
Allocation%

$ in thousands
Basic
NonOptional
2003
Insurance Insurance Insurance
Premium Taxes and Commissions 94,957
16,085
179,882

Total
290,924

Disclosure on Statement of Operations:
Premium Taxes and Commissions
94,957
Included in Non Insurance
94,957

274,839
16,085
290,924

179,882
16,085
16,085

179,882

Basic
Insurance
32.7%

NonOptional
Insurance Insurance
5.5%
61.8%

Total
100.0%

Details of the Premium Taxes and Commission allocation functions and allocators may be found in Appendix 1B,
page 89.

The main components of Premium Taxes and Commissions are as follows:
1.

Premium Taxes
Under the Insurance Premiums Tax Act, ICBC must pay insurance premium tax to
the provincial government. Insurance premium tax is based on premiums, which
are generally directly attributable to either Basic or Optional insurance products.
In 2003, ICBC paid a tax rate of 4.0 percent, which increased to 4.4% effective
January 1, 2004.
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2.

Commission Expense
ICBC distributes insurance products through a network of over 900 independent
brokers located throughout the province. Insurance brokers also perform vehicle
registration and licensing functions at the same time of the insurance transaction.
This is one of the unique aspects of the BC insurance model and ensures that
essentially all licensed vehicles have at least a minimum amount of insurance
coverage.

In 2003, 87% of the commissions paid can be directly attributed to Basic insurance or
Optional insurance lines of business based on the insurance policy sold. For instance,
commissions related to the sale of Optional insurance policies are directly attributed
100% to Optional. The remainder, such as address change that relate to both Basic and
Optional insurance, is attributed based on the premium written ratio.
The Basic insurance portion of the broker commission is further allocated between Basic
insurance and Non-insurance to recognize the vehicle registration and licensing work
effort. The allocation to Non-insurance is based on an analysis of estimated work effort.
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4.3 Investment Income
Allocation %

$ in thousands
Basic
Insurance
228,844

2003
Investment Income

NonInsurance
-

Optional
Insurance
101,092

Total
329,936

Basic
Insurance
69.4%

NonOptional
Insurance
Insurance
0.0%
30.6%

Total
100.0%

Funds available for investment purposes are derived from three main sources:
·

Reserves set aside for unpaid claims;

·

Unearned premiums; and

·

Retained earnings.

Consistent with the conservatism typical of property and casualty insurers, the majority of
ICBC’s investment portfolio is held in the form of fixed income instruments or bonds.
Some equities are held to enhance returns and provide added diversification.
The allocation to Basic and Optional insurance, for 2003 and may vary slightly in the
future, is based on the weighted average of the major components that make up the
investment portfolio as noted in the following table:
Weighting
Unpaid Claims:

73%

Unearned Premiums:

22%

Retained Earnings:

5%

Unpaid Claims: The unpaid claims portion was allocated based on the estimated unpaid
claims, by coverage, which are either Basic or Optional by nature. This amount can be
accurately determined and is mainly directly attributable.
Unearned Premiums: Determined similarly as premium revenues, thus also directly
attributable.
Retained Earnings: ICBC is expecting a Special Direction IC2, and will be issuing an
addendum to this Chapter on July 12th, 2004 as part of Volume 2 of ICBC's filing with the
Commission. The addendum will address the allocation of retained earnings in a manner
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aligned with the new Special Direction.
See Section 6.1.5 for further discussion on investment income.
Figure 1.8 - 2003 Investment Income
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4.4 Non-Insurance Costs
$ in thousands

2003
Basic
Insurance

Operating Costs - Non Insurance
Commission
Total Non Insurance Expenses

86,516
16,085
102,601

Optional
Insurance
-

Total
86,516
16,085
102,601

Details of the Non-insurance Expenses allocation functions and allocators may be found in Appendix 1B, page
89.

ICBC undertakes a number of Non-insurance activities on behalf of government –
namely, driver licensing, vehicle licensing and registration, and the transitional funding of
commercial vehicle compliance activities. These activities are outlined in the Service
Agreement between ICBC and the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General
(MPSSG). On an annual basis, these activities generate in excess of $400 million in
revenues, which are remitted in full to the government. The cost of delivering these
services is funded by ICBC’s Basic insurance premiums and is incorporated into the
determination of Basic insurance rates. The integration of these activities into ICBC’s
Basic insurance business provides synergistic benefits such as economies of scale and
claims savings (i.e., training of better drivers, and the minimization of uninsured
motorists on the road).
Most of ICBC’s Non-insurance activities are found in self-contained cost-centres
throughout various operational divisions and are completely independent from the
Optional insurance business. These were directly attributed to the Non-insurance. Noninsurance costs also include operational costs allocated to the Non-insurance line of
business, as noted in Appendix 1B. The main components of Non-insurance are:
1. Licenses and Fines Transferred to the Province
Funds collected by ICBC for licenses and fines on behalf of government are not
related to insurance operations and therefore are directly attributable to Noninsurance line of business.
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2. Driver Services
Driver Services’ functions include the activities related to driver licensing and testing.
These functions are handled through self-contained cost-centres and therefore have
been directly attributed to Non-insurance services.
3. Commercial Vehicle Compliance
Effective April 1, 2003, responsibility for $24.7M in commercial vehicle compliance
operations was transferred from ICBC to the provincial government.

ICBC has

transitional funding responsibility for these services. The funding arrangements are
fully documented in a separate Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) between
ICBC and provincial government. Under this MOU, ICBC will provide funding to the
Ministry of Finance for a period of three years until March 31, 2006 to help cover the
cost of commercial vehicle compliance operations. The corporation will also provide
temporary support services during the period of transition for which it will be paid.
These costs are directly attributable to Non-insurance. See Special Direction IC1.
4. Administrative Costs
Administrative costs pertain to the non-insurance portion of the individual allocations
in the insurance operating expenses.
5. Commission
Commissions paid to brokers represent the fees paid for delivery of Basic insurance
and vehicle licensing functions.

To segregate the Non-insurance portion (e.g.,

related to vehicle registration), part of the commissions has been allocated to Noninsurance based on work effort.
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Figure 1.9 - 2003 Non-Insurance Expenses
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4.5 Gain on Sale of Assets
Allocation %

$ in thousands
Basic
Insurance
8,890

2003
Gain on Sale of Property

NonInsurance
-

Optional
Insurance
5,229

Total
14,119

Basic
Insurance
63%

NonOptional
Insurance
Insurance
0%
37%

Total
100%

The gain on sale of assets is primarily comprised of the gain from the sale of three
claim centres, with a small portion deriving from the disposition of furniture and
equipment. The allocation to Basic and Optional insurance is based on the Finance
Shared Services ratio. For the definition of this allocator, please refer to Appendix 1A.
Figure 1.10 - 2003 Gain on Sale of Assets
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5 Recommended Methodology for Future Use
5.1 Discussion
As the discussion of generally accepted regulatory principles (“GARP”) in Section 2
demonstrates, the goal in determining an allocation methodology for a rate-regulated
company is to allocate costs to customer classes, services or business segments in a
balanced equitable and symmetric manner.

Methodologies based on fully allocated

costs, reflecting the principles of cost causality, are most commonly relied on to achieve
this objective.48
Applying these principles in the context of ICBC, it is evident that when rates are set at a
level that recovers costs that have been allocated in an equitable manner, they will not
only be just and reasonable, but they will be set at a level that ensures that unregulated
services are not cross-subsidized by regulated service, and vice-versa. ICBC’s current
financial allocation methodology is entirely consistent with the principles of fully
allocating costing and is therefore consistent with GARP. The current methodology is
therefore an appropriate basis for determining ICBC’s Basic insurance revenue
requirement and rates.
The literature recognizes, however, that there is no single “correct” fully allocated costing
methodology that can and should be used in all circumstances. The most appropriate
method to be used to allocate ICBC’s costs to its business segments requires the
principles of cost allocation to be applied in a manner that ensures that all direct costs
are recovered from the appropriate business segment and that all indirect costs are
recovered from customers of Basic and Optional insurance in a balanced, equitable and
symmetric manner. Where there is more than one variant of fully allocated costing that
can achieve this objective, other considerations, such as minimizing regulatory burden
and avoiding undue complexity can be taken into account.

48

As discussed in Section 2. Also see, for example, Goodman, op. cit., pages. 424-425 (“The embedded costs of service form the
most basic and most widely used cost in ratemaking.”) and Bonbright et al., op. cit., page 480 (“In actual practice, however, rate
structures are seldom built up in this two-step manner. Instead they are derived from apportioned total costs of service”).
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In particular, the literature recognizes approaches that allocate costs at a much more
aggregated level than is relied on by the detailed analysis approach. When allocating
indirect costs, for which there is no conceptually “correct” allocation, a more granular
allocation methodology is not inherently more “fair” than a methodology that is less
granular. Fairness is measured in terms of how balanced and equitable the allocation is
to the different business segments, not the level of detail of the allocation.
In assessing variants of fully allocated costing as a basis for determining the revenue
requirement and setting rates, it is instructive to consider not only the allocation
methodology itself, but also the way in which the allocated costs are used to determine
the revenue requirement and to set rates for the test year. At the present time, the
following methodology is used to determine the test year revenue requirement for Basic
insurance.
1. ICBC determines the allocated costs for the historic year using the current allocation
methodology.
2. ICBC determines the percentages of costs, by cost category (Statement of
Operations line items), that are attributable to Basic insurance in the historic year.
3. The test year’s budget is determined, by cost category.
4. Any significant changes to the business are identified and if required, the percentage
of costs attributable to Basic and Optional insurance are adjusted.
5. Finally, ICBC applies the adjusted historic year percentages, by cost category, to the
test year budget to determine the forecast costs for the test year that are attributable
to Basic insurance.
One implication of the current methodology is therefore that the allocation of costs in the
future test year is based on the actual allocation in the historic year. While significant
changes may be recognized and factored into the allocation of test year costs, there is a
lag between the cost allocation study and the costs being allocated for revenue
requirement and rate-setting purposes. This method of determining the costs attributable
to Basic insurance in the test year is relied on because ICBC’s current methodology
requires information at the cost-centre level, but a cost-centre level budget is not
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available until too late in the year to be used in preparing a revenue requirement
application.
It is recommended that the current detailed analysis approach to cost allocation be
replaced with a high-level approach to allocating indirect costs. The recommended highlevel approach would have the following advantages over the current methodology.
·

The

recommended

approach will

reduce

regulatory lag.

The

current

methodology uses the historic year allocation between Basic and Optional insurance
as the basis for separating cost in the test year. The validity of the allocation
therefore depends on the stability of the allocation between the historic year and the
test year. The allocation proportions will be affected by changes in (i) the relative
spending levels of the corporation in the test and historic years, within the respective
cost-centres and (ii) the values of accounting and other information on which the
allocators are based.

Consequently, there is a lag before factors affecting the

allocation proportions will be reflected in the allocation study. The recommended
methodology will rely on the same cost information as is used to determine the
revenue requirement for the test year, to set the allocation percentages.
·

The recommended approach will reduce complexity. The current methodology
relies on 30 allocators, of which seven are “umbrella categories” that include a
number of cost-centre specific allocators that are derived in a similar manner but
have different numerical values.

The resulting methodology is unnecessarily

complex given that the dollar value of many of the allocation functions to which these
allocators are applied is quite small. This complexity creates unnecessary regulatory
burden for the corporation to complete the analysis and for the Commission and the
intervenors to review the methodology and its results. The recommended
methodology is less complex.49
·

The recommended approach will rely on allocators that are calculated from
accounting information. Among the allocators used by ICBC’s current methodology
are a number of allocators based on work effort. Demonstrating the validity of

49

Should the recommended approach not be accepted, ICBC has identified improvements to allocators, which will have a net effect
of moving an additional $391,000 to Basic insurance. Included in this amount is a correction of $996,000 mentioned in Section
6.5.
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specific work effort based allocators tends to be far more onerous than
demonstrating the validity of objective measures that rely on accounting information
that is audited and easily verified. The recommended approach relies entirely on
objective allocators that are calculated from accounting information.

5.2 Recommended Allocation Methodology
The recommended approach would involve the following steps.
1. Determine the test year budget by cost category (see Appendix 1G).
Cost Categories Other than Operating Costs (Method Unchanged)
2. Allocate Claims Incurred directly, in accordance with the actuarial analysis.50 This
allocation is unchanged from the current methodology.
3. Allocate Investment Income by the same method as the current approach (see
section 4.3).
Operating Costs (Allocate by Cost Category)
4. Allocate Premium Taxes and Commissions using the same method as the current
approach (see section 4.2.5).
5. Allocate direct Road Safety costs directly to Basic and the remainder of Road Safety
and Loss Management costs using claims incurred as the allocator.
6. Allocate Premium Financing Plan Recoveries using vehicle premiums written as the
allocator.
7. Allocate to Non insurance, as per the Service Agreement with MPSSG, the
appropriate amount of Claims Services, Insurance Services and Administrative and
Other expenses.

50

For purposes of ICBC’s future Annual Reports, Revenues and Prior Years’ Claims Adjustments would also be directly allocated to
Basic and Optional insurance in the same manner as they are under the current methodology. These line items are not
included in the cost allocation for revenue requirement and rate-setting purposes.
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8. Allocate the remaining Claim Services costs to Basic and Optional using claims
incurred as the allocator.
9. Allocate the remaining Insurance Services costs to Basic and Optional using vehicle
premiums written as the allocator.
10. Allocate the remaining Administrative and Other costs to Basic and Optional on using
a weighted average of the Claims Services, Insurance Services and Road Safety
ratios.

5.3 Rationale for Allocators
The rationale for adopting the recommended allocators for ICBC’s operating costs is as
follows.
·

Premium Taxes and Commissions: As Section 4.2.5 and Appendix 1B show,
these costs are allocated at a high level under the current methodology. No change
to the allocation is required for the recommended approach.

·

Road Safety and Loss Management: As discussed in section 4.2.3, costs
associated with ICBC’s Road Safety programs are allocated directly to Basic
insurance in accordance with Special Direction IC1. The balance of Road Safety
and Loss Management costs are incurred in order to reduce claims incurred. These
costs are therefore allocated on the basis of claims incurred.

·

Premium Financing Plan Recoveries: As Appendix 1B shows, these costs are
allocated at a high level under the current methodology. No change to the allocation
is required for the recommended approach.

·

Non-Insurance

portion

of

Claims

Services,

Insurance

Services

and

Administration and Other expenses: This allocation will be determined for future
years on the basis of the level of operating costs recognized in ICBC’s Service
Agreement with MPSSG.

The amount was determined on the basis of ICBC’s

financial allocation in past years.
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·

Claims Services: These costs represent the corporation’s operating costs that are
driven by the claims side of the business. Claims Services costs are therefore
allocated on the basis of the ratio of the value of Basic and Optional insurance claims
– that is, on the basis of claims incurred.

·

Insurance Services: These costs deal essentially with the development,
underwriting and distribution of policies (i.e., the revenue side of the business).
Insurance Services costs are therefore allocated based on the ratio of revenues
from Basic and Optional insurance – that is, on the basis of vehicle premiums
written;

·

Administrative and Other: These costs are incurred to operate the business
generally. Administrative support is provided to the other business functions, i.e. to
Insurance Services, Claims Services and Road Safety and Loss Management.51
The general Administrative and Other costs are therefore allocated in the same
proportions as the costs of the functions they support are allocated. The allocator is
the weighted average of the ratios used to allocate Claims Services, Insurance
Services and Road Safety.

This recommended approach, like the current approach, is a fully allocated, or pro-rata,
costing methodology that is consistent with generally accepted regulatory principles.
The only difference is that the recommended approach performs the allocation at a less
granular level.

5.4 Comparison with the Existing Methodology
In essence, the recommended allocation methodology revises the four current allocation
methods listed in Section 3.2.4 as follows.

51

Other operating costs (Premium Taxes, Commissions and Premium Financing Plan Recoveries) are not included in the allocator
for Administrative and Other costs because they require negligible admin support.
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1. Premiums Written: Under the current methodology, the allocation of activities
relating to insurance product development, underwriting and distribution, is based
on the value of premiums written. As Appendix 1A shows, a number of different
premiums written allocators are used that reflect the categories of policies that
specific cost-centres deal with. Under the recommended approach, the global
Basic and Optional premiums written values would be used to allocate all of the
costs associated with these cost-centres.
2. Claims Incurred: Under the current methodology, the allocation of activities that
are driven by claims is based on the value of the claims (claims incurred)
handled by a particular area. As with premiums written a number of claims
incurred allocators are used that reflect the specific categories of claims that
specific cost-centres deal with. Under the recommended approach, the global
Basic and Optional claims incurred values, which are directly allocated, would be
used to allocate the total of the costs associated with these cost-centres.
3. Work effort: Under the current methodology, many cost-centres are allocated on
the basis of management interviews, questionnaires and estimates, operational
management reports, and analysis of work activities that measure causation.
Under the recommended approach, work effort allocators would be eliminated.
Cost centres that are categorized as Insurance Services would be allocated
instead on the basis of premiums written. Cost centres categorized as Claims
Services would be allocated on the basis of claims incurred. Cost centres that
are categorized as Administrative and Other would be allocated on the weighted
average of the Claims Services, Insurance Services and Road Safety ratios.

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004

1-61

ICBC July 5th Filing with the BC Utilities Commission
4. Shared Services and Averages: Under the current method, cost-centres for which
work activity cannot be tracked by transaction or attributed using either a premium or
claims separation are allocated using shared services ratios, or other “averages”
indicators of cost causality, that reflect the extent to which work activities are driven
by the demands of the organization. These allocators would also be eliminated
under the recommended approach. As with the Work Effort allocators, cost-centres
that are categorized as Insurance Services would be allocated instead on the basis
of premiums written.

Cost centres categorized as Claims Services would be

allocated on the basis of claims incurred.

Cost centres that are categorized as

Administrative and Other would be allocated on the weighted average of the Claims
Services, Insurance Services and Road Safety ratios.
1.

0.
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Comparison of the recommended methodology and the current methodology using 2003
operating expenditure

$ in thousands

2003
Basic
Insurance

Current Allocation Method
Claims Services

Allocation %

Optional
Non
A
Insurance Subtotal
Insurance

148,686

86,928

235,614

Road Safety and Loss Mngmt

35,478

2,608

38,086

Insurance Services

22,765

18,442

41,207

Admin and Other

60,421

33,944

94,365

(14,819)

(11,690)

(26,509)

68,367

40,696

109,063

27,651

136,714

252,531

130,232

382,763

28,180

410,943

Premium Financing Plan
Recoveries
Total Allocated
A

529

Total

Basic Optional
Ins.
Ins.

Non
Ins.

Total

236,143

63.0%

36.8%

0.2%

100.0%

38,086

93.2%

6.8%

0.0%

100.0%

9,893

51,100

44.5%

36.1%

19.4%

100.0%

17,758

112,123

53.9%

30.3%

15.8%

100.0%

(26,509)

55.9%

44.1%

0.0%

100.0%

61.5%

31.7%

6.9%

100.0%

See Section 4 for inclusion of the amounts in bold on the 2003 Financial Allocation Of Revenues and Costs

$ in thousands

2003
Recommended allocation
Methodology

Basic
Insurance

Optional
Insurance

Non
Ins.

Total

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

100.0%

9,893

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

100.0%

17,758

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

100.0%

235,614

235,614

62.7%

37.3%

0.0%

100.0%

30,020

30,020

100.0%

0.0%

0.0%

100.0%

Subtotal

Claims Services - Non Ins.
Insurance Services - Non Ins.
Admin and Other - Non Ins.
Claims Services - Remainder 1

147,730

Road Safety

30,020

Loss Mngmt 1
Insurance Services - Remainder

87,884

2

Admin and Other - Remainder 3

Allocation %
Non
Insurance

Total

529

529

9,893
17,758

Basic Optional
Ins.
Ins.

5,057

3,008

8,065

8,065

62.7%

37.3%

0.0%

100.0%

23,076

18,131

41,207

41,207

56.0%

44.0%

0.0%

100.0%

61,422

32,943

94,365

94,365

65.1%

34.9%

0.0%

100.0%

Premium Financing Plan
Recoveries

(14,845)

(11,664)

(26,509)

(26,509)

56.0%

44.0%

0.0%

100.0%

69,653

39,410

109,063

Total Allocated

252,460

130,303

382,763

28,180

61.4%

31.7%

6.9%

100.0%

(71)

71

0

0

Difference ( )=decrease in costs

109,063
410,943

-

1: Allocated on the 2003 Claims Incurred ratio
2: Allocated on the 2003 Vehicle Premiums Written Ratio
3: Allocated on a weighted average of the ratios used to allocate Claims Services, Insurance Services & Road Safety

Adoption of this methodology would result in reductions in the costs allocated to Basic
insurance in 2003 and 2004 and would shift costs in excess of $6 million from Basic to
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Optional insurance in 2005 as compared to the detailed analysis approach that is
currently being used by ICBC. These small decreases in dollars allocated to Basic
demonstrate that the recommended approach produces the benefits of reduced
regulatory lag, reduced complexity, reliance only on allocators based on objective
measures, without compromising the precision of the result. See Appendix 1F for details
of the comparison of the 2004 and 2005 result using the detailed versus the
recommended methodology.
The recommended approach is not only a fully allocated costing, or pro-rata,
methodology that is consistent with generally accepted regulatory principles, it is an
approach that produces an equitable allocation of costs in a simple, transparent and
logical way.
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6 Decision Items
In the Decision, the Commission stated:
While the Commission believes that this allocation study has gone a
considerable distance to fairly allocate revenues and costs between the
Basic and Optional Insurance lines of business, the Commission will
require further analyses and testing of the individual allocations in next
year’s proceeding before finalizing the methodology for future years

For the purposes of this Application, the Commission Panel accepts that
the pro-rata approach undertaken by ICBC provides a reasonable
segregation of costs and income between the Basic and Optional
insurance. However, the Commission expects ICBC to fully address the
alternative allocation methodologies in its next application.52
This section addresses the specific issues raised in the Decision and by intervenors.

52

Decision, page 43
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6.1 Alternative Allocation Methodologies Proposed by
Insurance Bureau of Canada (“IBC”)
The Commission stated at page 44 of the Decision:
These alternative allocations [proposed by the IBC] have sufficient merit
that the Commission Panel directs ICBC to provide detailed analyses of
the merits of the alternative allocation methodologies in its next regulatory
proceeding.
IBC identified five areas in which it had concerns with ICBC’s financial allocation
methodology:
1. Prior Years’ Claims Adjustment
2. Claims Services Expenses
3. Administrative and Other Operating Expenses
4. Insurance Services Expenses
5. Investment Income

6.1.1 Prior Years’ Claims Adjustment
At page 4 of its Evidence, IBC asserts that:
In its financial allocation, ICBC allocated 57% of prior years’ adjustment to
the optional coverages. As optional claims costs are predominately
generated through non-injury claims with readily estimated claims costs
and short resolution periods, IBC believes this allocation to be
inappropriate. In the absence of better data a more appropriate allocation
would be based on claims incurred.
The allocation of the Prior Years’ Claims Adjustment (“PYA”) is not relevant to the
allocation of ICBC’s costs for revenue requirement and rate-setting purposes. Rates are
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set on the basis of expected costs including the forecast of the ultimate claims incurred
for policies that will be written during the future rate year. By definition, the PYA for any
future year will be zero.
The PYA appear in the corporation’s financial statements (i.e., for past years) because
at the end of each fiscal year it is able to refine its estimate of the ultimate claims costs
for policies written in all previous years. The PYA simply ensures that the accrued
amounts expensed for claims incurred will always reflect the most up-to-date forecast of
the ultimate claims incurred.
For purposes of allocating the PYA to Basic and Optional insurance in the corporation’s
financial statements, it is allocated directly and is thus not necessary or appropriate to
treat the PYA as an indirect cost. The PYA is determined at the Kind of Loss (“KOL”)
level and each KOL’s PYA is directly attributable to either Basic or Optional insurance.
It would not be appropriate to allocate any costs that are directly assignable on the basis
of claims incurred, as suggested by IBC, or on the basis of any other allocator.

6.1.2 Claims Services
IBC discusses the allocation of Claims Services at page 4 of its Evidence, concluding
that:
IBC believes that a claims incurred allocation method for claims services
better represents the intensity and level of claims service distributed
between the Basic and optional coverages for all four categories.
As discussed in Section 5 of this Report, there is merit in simplifying the allocation of
claims services by using the claims incurred ratio to allocate these costs.

6.1.3 Operating Expenses
IBC state the following at page 6 of its Evidence.
Administrative and other expenses represent costs associated with
corporate governance, finance, human resource management, planning,
corporate and information services.
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ICBC utilized a work effort methodology as a base for allocation. This
methodology allocated 65% of these costs to the basic coverage.
However, there appears to be little rationale for a higher level of work
effort associated with the corporate governance, finance and information
services of the basic over the optional coverages. Further, in a
competitive environment the work effort associated with developing a
corporate plan and in supporting and retaining human resources should
be greater in the optional coverages where ICBC would be required to
compete.
IBC believes that a more appropriate methodology for allocating
administrative and other expenses would be earned premiums as it more
equitably reflects the relative distribution of shared services.
As discussed in Section 5, it would be reasonable to simplify the financial allocation
methodology by adopting a more global approach in lieu of the detailed analysis
approach that was used by ICBC to allocate Administrative and Other Expenses to
ICBC’s business segments.

The process of simplification does not justify using an

arbitrary allocator, however, it is important that the allocator selected reflect conceptually
reasonable cost drivers.
Administrative and Other Expenses are directly related to the departments that support
functional areas that generate revenues, handle claims, and deal with non-insurance
items. Accordingly the expenses are for departments across all lines of businesses
where business processes are not strictly premium related. Hence, IBC’s suggestion
that administrative expenses be allocated on premiums earned would not reflect
conceptually reasonable cost drivers and would not recognize Non-insurance costs.
The current methodology used by ICBC to allocate costs to business segments reflects
the broad range of costs that make up Administrative and Other Expenses. The following
table summarizes the extent to which costs are allocated by the different types of
allocators.
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Corporate Shared Services ratio
Finance Shared Services ratio
Work Effort
Average of each LOB weighted by Square Footage
Directly Attributable
Miscellaneous Allocation Method
Weighted Average Allocation

Basic
Non
Optional
Insurance Insurance Insurance
32.4%
25.7%
33.9%
28.1%
0.0%
29.4%
14.5%
22.8%
11.6%
14.5%
4.7%
15.3%
1.3%
37.2%
0.0%
6.3%
0.0%
5.6%
3.0%
9.5%
4.1%

Total Administrative & Other Expenses

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Total
31.8%
24.0%
14.9%
13.2%
6.6%
5.1%
4.4%
100.0%

The work effort methodology referred to by IBC was used to allocate only 14.5% of the
costs to Basic insurance while the Corporate Shared Services ratio and the Finance
Shared Services ratio allocated 32.4% and 28.1% respectively.
Given the diverse nature of Administrative and Other Expenses, it is difficult to justify
conceptually the use of earned premiums to allocate these costs.
In Section 5, an allocation methodology has been proposed for Administrative and Other
Expenses, whereby the allocation percentage is a weighted average of the Claims
Services, Insurance Services and Road Safety ratios.

6.1.4 Insurance Services
IBC stated at page 6 of its evidence in last year’s proceeding:
ICBC describes Autoplan services to include costs related to product
development, underwriting, promotion and administration of ICBC’s
insurance products. ICBC uses a work effort methodology, and to a lesser
extent premiums written, to allocate these costs between the basic and
optional coverages. However it is important to note that ICBC is a
monopoly provider of basic automobile coverages and that this is a
mandatory product to operate a motor vehicle in the province of British
Columbia. As such there is limited need for promotion of the basic
product. In addition, as the government through legislation and regulation
defines the basic product, there are no product development costs
associated with the basic coverages.
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IBC believes that nearly all the services ICBC describes as Autoplan are
more appropriately allocated to the support of optional coverages.
Insurance Services represent the cost of supporting insurance products and services.
The functions include but are not restricted to insurance administration support, product
development, marketing, underwriting, and registration and licensing. These expenses
are related to supporting both Basic and Optional coverages and do not only support the
Optional insurance line of business. These expenses have been carefully allocated
based on the methodology as described in this document, and in particular, details of the
various expense items included in Insurance Services and the associated allocation
methods are included in the Operating Cost section of Appendix 1B.
More specifically, to address the expenses as identified in IBC’s comment:
The functional areas associated with promotion through product development and
marketing can be described as follows.
·

Product Development expenses are related to departments that support research
and development of insurance products as well as associated administrative costs.
These costs are for the continued development and changes to both the Basic and
Optional insurance coverages. They also include policy and legal support to the
provincial government for changes to the Insurance Motor Vehicle Act (IMVA) / Motor
Vehicle Act (MVA).

·

Marketing expenses are related to three functional areas:
1. Marketing Research that designs and delivers customer and market research
which focuses on desired products and services for customers.
2. Corporate Marketing that provides communication support for road safety and
insurance areas as well as other areas of the corporation.
3. Regional Marketing that supports brokers with insurance sales and road safety
promotion at the regional level.

These expenses have been allocated based on the principles of causation as described
in Appendix 1B.
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6.1.5 Investment Income
IBC stated at page 7 of its 2003 Submission:
ICBC notes that both basic and optional business share common
investment risk tolerances and have similar liability duration. ICBC
therefore allocated investment income based on a balance sheet split of
liabilities and equity for each line of business…. This data suggests that
ICBC’s methodology underestimates the proportion of unpaid claims
liabilities that should be accounted for in the optional coverages. As
investment income is used to support the insurance operations of ICBC,
IBC believes that a more appropriate methodology would be one based
on claims incurred.
This concern appears to be based on a misunderstanding of ICBC’s financial allocation
methodology.
As noted in Section 3, ICBC uses the causation principle in allocating revenues and
costs which are shared between the Basic and Optional insurance lines of business.
The causation principle refers to allocating revenues using the cause (or the driver) that
leads to the revenue. Applying this principle, investment income is allocated based on
the sources of investment funds that give rise to the investment portfolio balance.
Because the ICBC investment portfolio balance is primarily funded from unpaid claims,
unearned premiums and retained earnings, the current methodology uses the weighted
average Basic/Optional ratios of the three sources of funds.
The proposal from IBC to use claims incurred as the basis of allocation is inappropriate.
Claims incurred bears no relation to how the investment portfolio was funded.
The allocation method of using the balances of the unpaid claims, unearned premiums
and retained earnings are thus considered superior in providing an appropriate allocation
method for investment income. Please refer to Section 4.3 for details of this allocation.
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6.2 Customer Service Call Centres
The Decision stated at page 37:
ICBC does not have a good measure for determining the time spent by
call centre personnel on Basic versus Optional insurance claims.
Following the Decision, ICBC re-examined the allocation method used for Call Centre
Operations for the purpose of determining a more accurate means of allocation.
An approach based on newly opened exposures by the Telephone Claims Department
was determined to be the most suitable allocation method resulting in ratios of 36%
Basic insurance and 64% Optional insurance.
In support of the above allocation method, call centre experts and financial analysts
examined the work effort of common call centre activities in an effort to validate the
newly opened exposure approach. Experienced call centre specialists estimated work
effort percentages, relating to the respective job types and the work effort expended on
the call centre activities, which were then allocated between the Basic and Optional
insurance coverages. The allocation ratios resulting from the work effort analysis were
comparable at 38% Basic insurance and 62% Optional insurance.
The Newly Opened Exposure ratio was selected as the most suitable allocation method
as it is an objective measurement of the Basic and Optional insurance lines of business
and is simple to update and maintain.
ICBC has thus revisited the allocation of the Call Centre Operations and has amended
the allocation methodology to the most suitable allocation method. Please note the Call
Centre Operations will be allocated as part of Claims Services in line with the
recommended methodology discussed in Section 5.
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6.3 Claims System Changes
The Decision stated at page 31:
The Commission Panel believes that for marginal expenditures in system
improvement, it may be possible to track individual claim service costs.
This would have an obvious benefit in ensuring that there is no cross
subsidization between the Basic and Optional Insurance lines of
business.
The direct distribution of Claims Service costs, comprised of compensation and
operating costs, to Basic and Optional insurance does not have a method of capturing
time spent on specific Kind of Loss (“KOL”) associated with the respective coverages.
These costs are currently being allocated to Basic and Optional insurance with a of
number allocators as identified in Appendix 1B.
ICBC is an integrated business and ICBC’s financial reporting system, namely SAP,
does not currently correlate compensation and operating expenses to KOL nor is there a
direct interface to ICBC’s Claim Systems. SAP could be modified to support time entry
by KOLs, however the data entry process would be entirely manually driven.
Time recorded to any of the 28 KOLs would be subject to the discretion of each of the
2,700 employees in Claims Services and the value of such input would be doubtful as
time tracking would be very time consuming, unnecessarily and materially costly, and
would significantly impact productivity.

Assumptions would be required to associate

generic work (i.e., assist on claims, manage staff, support adjusters, etc) to specific
KOLs.
Complications also arise from insurance liability issues as liability influences the
assignment to specific KOLs. For example, where time/cost is initially allocated to an
Optional coverage under the Collision KOL, it may later need to be transferred to a Basic
coverage, e.g., Property Damage KOL, when liability is finally determined.
As a result, ICBC does not believe that tracking claims service costs through
modifications to the time entry system would provide sufficiently more accurate
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information for allocating these costs but it would be extremely time consuming, costly,
and adversely impact employee productivity and customer service, with an expected
increase in rates.

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004

1-74

ICBC July 5th Filing with the BC Utilities Commission

6.4 Retained Earnings
The Decision stated at pages 45 and 47:
The Commission would appreciate ICBC’s views on the appropriate level
for retained earnings for the Basic Insurance Business which will provide
adequate future rate stabilization.
The Commission Panel accepts ICBC's allocation of past retained
earnings based on outstanding liabilities and directs ICBC to segregate
retained

earnings

by

Basic

and

Optional

Insurance

business,

commencing in 2004. Future allocations may be clarified by a Special
Direction from Government.
ICBC is expecting a Special Direction IC2, and will be issuing an addendum to this
Chapter on July 12th, 2004 as part of Volume 2 of ICBC's filing with the Commission.
The addendum will address the allocation of retained earnings in a manner aligned with
the new Special Direction.
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6.5 Road Safety Branding
The Decision stated at page 45:
It appears that the Optional insurance program benefits from this
promotion of the brand and the Commission Panel encourages ICBC to
change its practices with respect to brand advertising in connection with a
government program or determine the value of this advertising which
would then be charged to the Optional insurance product.
ICBC invested $38 million in Road Safety and Fraud Management programs during
2003 and anticipates expenditures of $46 million in both 2004 and 2005. Of the $38
million invested in 2003, $30 million is spent on Road Safety Programs and $8 million on
Fraud Prevention. Fraud Prevention expenditures are expected to remain constant at $8
million in 2004 and 2005.
Advertising expenses associated with Road Safety Programs amounted to $2.17 million
in 2003, and are expected to total $2.43 million in both 2004 and 2005. Advertising is an
integral component of the success of many Road Safety Programs as these programs
are only effective when coupled with a high level of public awareness. As Road Safety
programs directly benefit all motorists throughout British Columbia, regardless of the
insurance provider, this advertising is not considered promotion for ICBC’s Optional
insurance.
Thus, the program costs, including the related advertising costs, have been, and will be
allocated to Basic insurance based on the principles of allocation of Road Safety
Programs (see Special Directions IC1).
Fraud prevention expenses are allocated between Basic and Optional insurance based
on causation.
During the review of Road Safety promotional activities, ICBC identified $996,000 within
Insurance Services expenses, which was allocated 100% to Basic insurance in 2003.
Since these costs are largely for joint ICBC/Broker advertising and safety programs, and
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not only for road safety promotion, these costs will, in future, be allocated based on
vehicle premiums written ratio.
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7 Summary of Conclusions
The Commission is required to set rates for Basic insurance that are just and reasonable
in that they recover the Basic insurance revenue requirement that includes:
·

all of the direct costs of Basic insurance;

·

costs associated with Non-insurance activities as set out in the corporation’s
Services Agreement with the Province;

·

an equitable share for Basic insurance, of the remaining common costs that are
incurred by the corporation in offering Basic and Optional insurance on an integrated
basis.

As the review of the commonly cited literature on rate-setting methodology
demonstrates, the generally accepted method for allocating indirect costs between the
regulated and non-regulated segments of a regulated company for purposes of setting
regulated rates is on the basis of fully allocated costs.
ICBC current financial allocation methodology is an appropriate application of the
generally accepted regulatory principles for fully allocating costs to ICBC’s business
segments using the detailed analysis approach.
It may nevertheless assist the regulatory process to adopt a more streamlined approach
to allocating ICBC costs to its business segments. The recommended streamlined
approach would reduce the complexity of the allocation methodology and would make
use of the same cost information as that in the revenue requirement application, rather
than historic allocation information.
The approach recommended is as follows.
1. Determine the test year budget by cost category (as shown below).
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Cost Categories Other than Operating Costs (Method Unchanged)
2. Allocate Claims Incurred directly, in accordance with the actuarial analysis.53
3. Allocate Investment Income by the same method as the current approach (see
section 4.3).
Operating Costs (Allocate by Cost Category)
4. Allocate Premium Taxes and Commissions using the same method as the current
approach (see section 4.2.5).
5. Allocate direct Road Safety costs directly to Basic and the remainder of Road Safety
and Loss Management costs using claims incurred as the allocator.
6. Allocate Premium Financing Plan Recoveries using vehicle premiums written as the
allocator.
7. Allocate to Non insurance, as per the Service Agreement with MPSSG the
appropriate amount of Claims Services, Insurance Services and Administrative and
Other expenses.
8. Allocate the remaining Claim Services to Basic and Optional using claims incurred as
the allocator.
9. Allocate the remaining Insurance Services to Basic and Optional using vehicle
premiums written as the allocator.
10. Allocate the remaining Administrative and Other to Basic and Optional on a weighted
average of the Claims Services, Insurance Services and Road Safety ratios.
Adoption of this methodology would result in reductions in the costs allocated to Basic
insurance in 2003 and 2004 and would shift approximately $6 million from Basic to
Optional insurance in 2005 as compared to the detailed analysis approach that is
currently being used by ICBC.

53

For purposes of ICBC’s future Annual Reports, Revenues and Prior Years’ Claims Adjustments would also be directly allocated to
Basic and Optional insurance in the same manner as they are under the current methodology. These line items are not
included in the cost allocation for revenue requirement and rate-setting purposes.
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These impacts demonstrate that the recommended approach produces the benefits of
simplifying the allocation method without compromising the precision of the result.
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Appendix 1A: Glossary of Allocators
The following allocators and their respective percentages are used in the tables of Appendix 1B
to allocate costs between Basic insurance, Non-insurance and Optional insurance lines of
business.
Allocator

Description

Basic
Insurance
%

NonInsurance
%

Optional
Insurance
%

Directly Attributable
Directly attributable to Basic

Directly attributable to Basic insurance

100.0%

0.0%

0.0%

Directly attributable to Non-

Directly attributable to Non-insurance

0.0%

100.0%

0.0%

Directly attributable to Optional insurance

0.0%

0.0%

100.0%

various

various

Various

95.0%

0.0%

5.0%

80.0%

0.0%

20.0%

63.0%

0.2%

36.8%

60.1%

0.0%

39.9%

93.1%

0.0%

6.9%

59.1%

5.7%

35.2%

60.0%

0.0%

40.0%

11.7%

0.0%

88.3%

Insurance
Directly attributable to Optional
Work Effort
Work Effort

Ratio based on analysis of underlying work
activities within the cost-centre

Work Effort - Provincial Litigation

Based on volume of low value Bodily Injury
files

Work Effort - Provincial Litigation –

Based on volume of low value Bodily Injury

Modified

files but slightly lower Basic percentage than
Provincial Litigation because it also supports
Head Office Claims (which handles extended
Third Party Liability claims)

Averages
Claims Division Average

Weighted average of Claims division costcentres

Insurance Division Average

Weighted average of Insurance line of
business cost-centres in the Insurance and
Claims Operations Division (Non-insurance
charged to Basic)

Road Safety Division Average

Road Safety and Loss Management line of
business average

Square Footage

Average of each line of business weighted
by square footage

Average FTE and Advertising

Marketing uses an average of the FTE and

Expense

Advertising Expense functions

Weighted Average – Projects

Market Research uses a weighted average
based on projects
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Weighted Average – Cost Centres

Weighted average of cost-centres that it

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

various

Premium Written ratio

55.9%

0.0%

44.1%

Premium ratio except for certain expenses

53.5%

0.0%

46.5%

50.1%

0.0%

49.9%

38.0%

35.0%

27.0%

60.2%

0.0%

39.8%

Various

Various

Various

supports
Weighted Average – Transactions

Weighted average based on transactions
processed

Weighted Average – Income

Weighted average of income components
supported

Weighted Average – Expense

Weighted average of the expense
components

Weighted Average – Special

Weighted average based on special

Coverages

coverage premiums

Weighted Average – FTE

Weighted average based on FTE function

Premiums
Premiums Written
Premiums Written – HO Support

which are 100% Optional
Premiums Written – Product

Premium ratio except for certain expenses

Development

which are 100% Optional

Premiums Written – Insurance

Non-insurance percentage based on error

Processing

log of licensing transactions, the balance
uses the premium written ratio

Commercial Vehicle Premiums

Commercial Vehicle Premium Written Ratio

Written
Premiums Written – Proxy

Proxy for Premiums Written ratio

Premiums Earned

Premium Earned ratio

57.1%

0.0%

42.9%

Newly opened exposures in Telephone

36.0%

0.0%

64.0%

46.0%

0.0%

54.0%

43.0%

0.0%

57.0%

39.0%

0.0%

61.0%

25.0%

0.0%

75.0%

63.0%

0.0%

37.0%

Claims
Newly Opened Exposures - TCD

Claims Department
Net Claims Costs – OOP MD

Allocated based on Out of Province MD net
claims costs

Net Claims Costs – HOC

Allocated based on average of Head Office
Claims incurred costs

Net Claims Costs – MD

Allocated based on corporate net MD claims
costs

Net Claims Costs – HE

Allocated based on net claims costs of
Heavy Equipment department

Shared Services
Finance Shared Services Ratio

Weighted average of Claims Operations and
Insurance Divisions, with Non-insurance
portion prorated between Basic and Optional
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Corporate Shared Services Ratio

Weighted average of Claims Operations and

54.9%

12.8%

32.3%

66.2%

0.0%

33.8%

Insurance Divisions
Others
Investment Income Ratio

Ratio calculated based on sources of funds
i.e., Unpaid Claims, Unearned premiums and
retained earnings

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
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Appendix 1B: Allocation Functions
Claims Services
The following is a functional breakdown of the Claims Services expenses found in Section 4.2.2.
Explanation of the allocators may be found in Appendix 1A.54
$ in thousands
Claims Services

Allocator

Allocation %

Basic
Insurance

NonInsurance

Optional
Insurance

Basic
Insurance

NonInsurance

Regional Operations Work Effort

87,597

-

43,522

131,119

66.8%

0.0%

33.2% 100.0%

Claims System
Support

Weighted Average Cost Centres

14,436

-

7,437

21,873

66.0%

0.0%

34.0% 100.0%

Call Centre
Department

Newly Opened
Exposures - TCD

6,700

-

11,912

18,612

36.0%

0.0%

64.0% 100.0%

General Support

Weighted Average Cost Centres

9,488

193

5,554

15,236

62.3%

1.3%

36.455% 100.0%

Claims Litigation
Field Service

Work Effort Provincial Litigation

8,215

-

432

8,648

95.0%

0.0%

5.0% 100.0%

Centralized
Estimating
Facilities

Net Claims Cost MD

2,610

-

4,082

6,692

39.0%

0.0%

61.0% 100.0%

Material Damage
Support

Net Claims Cost MD

2,056

-

3,215

5,271

39.0%

0.0%

61.0% 100.0%

Head Office
Claims

Net Claims Cost HOC

1,937

-

2,567

4,504

43.0%

0.0%

57.0% 100.0%

Ongoing Claim
Services

Net Claims Cost OOP MD

1,990

-

2,336

4,326

46.0%

0.0%

54.0% 100.0%

Rehabilitation

Directly attributable
to Basic

3,475

-

-

3,475

100.0%

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Salvage

Net Claims Cost MD

1,209

-

1,891

3,099

39.0%

0.0%

61.0% 100.0%

Call Centre
Support

Weighted Average Cost Centres

1,309

280

1,424

3,013

43.4%

9.3%

47.3% 100.0%

Heavy Equipment

Net Claim Cost - HE

467

-

1,401

1,869

25.0%

0.0%

75.0% 100.0%

Out of Province BI

Directly attributable
to Basic

1,405

-

-

1,405

100.0%

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Claims Litigation
Support

Work Effort Provincial Litigation Modified

1,105

-

276

1,381

80.0%

0.0%

20.0% 100.0%

Customer Service
(liability resolution)

Directly attributable
to Basic

1,373

-

-

1,373

100.0%

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Customer Service
(low value BI)

Directly attributable
to Basic

1,036

-

-

1,036

100.0%

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Customer Service
(Call Centre)

Weighted Average Cost Centres

572

56

391

1,019

56.1%

5.5%

38.3% 100.0%

54

Total

Optional
Insurance

Total

Rounding may affect allocation percentages.
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$ in thousands
Claims Services

Allocator

Allocation %

Basic
Insurance

NonInsurance

Optional
Insurance

Work Effort

762

-

191

BI Support

Work effort

812

-

Structured
Settlement

Directly attributable
to Optional

-

Provincial Claims
Ops

Net Claims Cost HOC

Customer Service
(litigation)

Work Effort Provincial Litigation

Head Injury

Total Claims Services
Disclosure on Statement of Operations
Claim Services
Included in Non Insurance

Basic
Insurance

NonInsurance

953

80.0%

0.0%

20.0% 100.0%

43

855

95.0%

0.0%

5.0% 100.0%

-

161

161

0.0%

0.0%

67

-

89

157

43.0%

0.0%

57.0% 100.0%

65

-

3

69

95.0%

0.0%

5.0% 100.0%

148,686

529

86,928

236,143

63.0%

0.2%

36.8% 100.0%

148,686

86,928
529
529

148,686

86,928

Total

Optional
Insurance

100.0%

Total

100.0%

235,614
529
236,143

Road Safety and Loss Management
The following is a functional breakdown of the Road Safety and Loss Management expenses
found in Section 4.2.3. Explanation of the allocators may be found in Appendix 1A.
Road Safety and
Loss Management

Allocator

Road Safety Initiatives

Directly
attributable to
Basic

Road Safety Project
Ops

Road Safety
Division Average

Fraud Management

Weighted
Average - Cost
Centres

Basic
Insurance

Road Safety and Loss Management

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004

$ in thousands
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance

Basic
Insurance

Total

Allocation %
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance

Total

30,020

-

-

30,020

100.0%

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

461

-

34

495

93.1%

0.0%

6.9% 100.0%

4,996

-

2,574

7,570

66.0%

0.0%

34.0% 100.0%

35,478

-

2,608

38,086

93.2%

0.0%

6.8% 100.0%
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Operating Costs
The following is a functional breakdown of Operating Costs found in Section 4.2.4. Explanation
of allocators may be found in Appendix 1A.
Operating Costs
Insurance Services

Allocator

$ in thousands
Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Registration
and Licensing

Directly attributable to
Non-insurance except for
some minor costs that
are allocated based on
transaction volume

Insurance Allocations

Premiums Written

4,073

Field Broker support

Work Effort

2,233

Bad Debts & Allowances

Weighted Average Income

3,246

General broker support

Premiums Written

1,754

Chief Underwriter
Insurance Project
Expenses
Marketing
Customer Accounting
Garage & Fleet

Premiums Written Product Development
Insurance Division
Average
Average of FTE &
Advertising Expense
Weighted Average Income

7,380

1,331

Total

Allocation %
Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Total

47

7,426

0.0%

99.4%

0.6% 100.0%

3,213

7,286

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

558

2,791

5,582

40.0%

10.0%

50.0% 100.0%

-

1,666

4,911

66.1%

0.0%

33.9% 100.0%

1,384

3,138

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

1,325

2,657

50.1%

0.0%

49.9% 100.0%

915

2,291

60.1%

0.0%

39.9% 100.0%

-

1,376
898

-

599

1,497

60.0%

0.0%

40.0% 100.0%

1,007

345

86

1,438

70.0%

24.0%

6.0% 100.0%

57

468

1,418

63.0%

4.0%

33.0% 100.0%

405

1,093

63.0%

0.0%

37.0% 100.0%

Weighted Average - FTE

894

Insurance Corporate Cost Finance Shared Services
(performance accrual)
Ratio

688

Ins. Business Analysis

Weighted Average - Cost
Centres

412

247

417

1,075

38.3%

22.9%

38.8% 100.0%

Insurance
Broker Team

Directly attributable to
Basic

996

-

-

996

100.0%

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Specialty Lic & Ins

Weighted Average Special Coverages

227

339

414

980

23.2%

34.6%

42.2% 100.0%

Head Office support

Premiums Written - HO
Support

490

426

917

53.5%

0.0%

46.5% 100.0%

Actuarial

Weighted Average - FTE

360

-

540

901

40.0%

0.0%

60.0% 100.0%

Product Development

Premiums Written

500

-

395

895

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

Market Research

Weighted Average Projects

101

765

867

11.7%

0.0%

88.3% 100.0%

Marketing and UnderwritingInsurance Division
applications
Average

500

-

332

832

60.1%

0.0%

39.9% 100.0%

Insurance Planning

Work Effort

260

260

260

781

33.3%

33.3%

33.3% 100.0%

Insurance Processing

Premiums Written Insurance Processing

274

252

195

721

38.0%

35.0%

27.0% 100.0%

Regional Marketing

Work Effort

168

505

673

25.0%

0.0%

75.0% 100.0%

Internet Services

Premiums Written - Proxy

327

284

611

53.5%

0.0%

46.5% 100.0%

Competitive Products
ADP Technical

Directly attributable to
Optional
Premiums Written

-

-

491

491

0.0%

0.0%

100.0% 100.0%

263

-

207

470

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

Insurance Support

Weighted Average - Cost
Centres

68

332

56

456

14.9%

72.9%

12.2% 100.0%

Insurance Business
Support

Weighted Average - Cost
Centres

35

95

32

162

21.6%

58.5%

19.8% 100.0%
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$ in thousands
Basic
Non
Optional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Allocation %
Basic
Non
Optional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Operating Costs
Insurance Services

Allocator

Funds Management

Premiums Written - Proxy

88

-

58

146

60.0%

0.0%

40.0% 100.0%

Premium Financing Plan
Operations

Premiums Written

70

-

55

125

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

Total

Total

Product Research

Premiums Written

63

-

50

113

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

Mgr. of Comm. Lines

Commercial Vehicle
Premiums Written

58

-

38

96

60.2%

0.0%

39.8% 100.0%

Collector Vehicle Program

Weighted Average - FTE

6

28

23

57

10.0%

50.0%

40.0% 100.0%

22,765

9,893

18,442

51,100

44.5%

19.4%

36.1% 100.0%

Total Insurance Services

Operating Costs
Admin & Other Services

ISD Shared Services:
Insurance, Claims , Non
Insurance

Allocator

Corporate Shared
Services Ratio

$ in thousands
Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Total

Allocation %
Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Total

15,045

3,511

8,848

27,404

54.9%

12.8%

32.3% 100.0%

6,772

655

4,033

11,460

59.1%

5.7%

35.2% 100.0%

6,578

(45)

4,370

10,903

60.3%

-0.4%

40.1% 100.0%

4,268

996

2,510

7,773

54.9%

12.8%

32.3% 100.0%

4,615

-

2,714

7,329

63.0%

0.0%

37.0% 100.0%

3,345

442

1,539

5,327

62.8%

8.3%

28.9% 100.0%

Finance Shared Services - Finance Shared Services
Insurance Operations
Ratio

3,342

-

1,966

5,308

63.0%

0.0%

37.0% 100.0%

Customer Contact Call
Centre

2,962

-

2,337

5,299

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

2,556

1,022

1,534

5,112

50.0%

20.0%

30.0% 100.0%

-

4,534

-

4,534

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

171

3,254

-

3,425

5.0%

95.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Work effort

2,551

193

576

3,320

76.8%

5.8%

17.4% 100.0%

Square Footage
Finance Shared Services
Ratio

1,941

188

1,156

3,285

59.1%

5.7%

35.2% 100.0%

1,068

2,885

63.0%

0.0%

37.0% 100.0%

Freedom Of Information
Department

Work effort

1,794

-

769

2,563

70.0%

0.0%

30.0% 100.0%

General Counsel

Work effort

1,483

314

449

2,246

66.0%

14.0%

20.0% 100.0%

Finance Division
Banking Operations

Work effort

1,249

-

833

2,082

60.0%

0.0%

40.0% 100.0%

1,077

-

550

1,626

66.2%

0.0%

33.8% 100.0%

737

-

737

1,474

50.0%

0.0%

50.0% 100.0%

-

1,465

-

1,465

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Facilities Management

Square Footage
Finance Shared Services
except for some costs
Corporate Costs
that are directly
attributable
Corporate Shared
Human Resources Division
Services Ratio
Finance Shared Services
Infrastructure Expenditure
Ratio
Regional Claims, Road
Weighted Average - Cost
Safety and Licensing
Centres
Administration

Premiums Written

Weighted Average Transactions
ISD Non-Insurance VehicleDirectly attributable to
Application
Non-insurance
Facilities Management
Work effort
(Victoria)
Customer Collections

Supply Management
Department
Document Services
Executive Office

Investment Portfolio Mgmt Investment Income Ratio

1,817

Corporate Management
Reporting

Work effort

Government Revenue
Adminstration

Directly attributable to
Non-insurance

External Corporate
Communications

Work effort

499

130

341

969

51.5%

13.4%

35.2% 100.0%

Claims Training

Claims Division Average

575

2

336

913

63.0%

0.2%

36.8% 100.0%

Regulator Costs

Directly attributable to
Basic

798

-

-

798

100.0%

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Claims General Support

Weighted Average - Cost
Centres

450

101

225

775

58.0%

13.0%

29.0% 100.0%
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Operating Costs
Admin & Other Services

Allocator

$ in thousands
Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Allocation %
Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Total

Total

Communication Government relations

Work effort

243

160

236

639

38.0%

25.0%

37.0% 100.0%

Project Management
Services costs

Finance Shared Services
Ratio

386

-

227

613

63.0%

0.0%

37.0% 100.0%

ISD Insurance Systems
Support

Insurance Division
Average

360

-

240

600

60.1%

0.0%

39.9% 100.0%

Vehicle Records

Directly attributable to
Non-insurance

-

466

-

466

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

271

445

39.0%

0.0%

61.0% 100.0%

138

428

54.9%

12.8%

32.3% 100.0%

171

428

60.1%

0.0%

39.9% 100.0%

Material Damage telephone Net Claims
claims training
Costs - MD
Corporate Strategic
Services
Insurance & Telephone
Claims Training

Corporate Shared
Services Ratio
Insurance Division
Average

Insurance Support

Weighted Average Cost Centres

Fair Pracitices Review

Work Effort - Provincial
Litigation

Non-Insurance (Victoria)
Telephone Education

Directly attributable to
Non-insurance

Distribution Services

Directly attributable to
Non-insurance

Material Damage Fees

Net Claims
Costs - MD

Weighted Average Income
Total Admin and Other Services
Interest on Receivables

Operating Costs
Premium Financing
Plan Recoveries

Allocator

Premium Financing Plan
Premiums Written
Recoveries
Total Premium Financing Plan Recoveries

Total Operating Costs
Disclosure on Statement of Operations
Operating Costs
Included in Non Insurance

174
235
257
62

129

54

245

25.5%

52.6%

21.9% 100.0%

187

-

10

197

95.0%

0.0%

5.0% 100.0%

163

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

163
-

24

-

24

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

(1,494)

-

(2,338)

(3,832)

39.0%

0.0%

61.0% 100.0%

(4,612)

-

(1,956)

(6,569)

70.2%

0.0%

29.8% 100.0%

60,421

17,758

33,944

112,123

53.9%

15.8%

30.3% 100.0%

$ in thousands
Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

(14,819)

Total

Allocation %
Basic
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance Insurance

Total

(11,690)

(26,509)

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

(14,819)

-

(11,690)

(26,509)

55.9%

0.0%

44.1% 100.0%

68,367

27,651

40,696

136,714

50.0%

20.2%

29.8% 100.0%

68,367
68,367
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40,696
27,651
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40,696

109,063
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136,714
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Premium Taxes and Commissions
The following is a functional breakdown of Premium Taxes and Commissions found in Section
4.2.5. Explanation of allocators may be found in Appendix 1A.
$ in thousands
Commissions &
Premium Taxes

Allocation %

Basic
Insurance

NonInsurance

Optional
Insurance

Commission

Direct except for
allocation between
Basic and Noninsurance.

32,353

16,085

162,962

211,400

15.3%

Premium Taxes

Premiums earned

Allocator

Total

Basic
Insurance

NonInsurance
7.6%

Optional
Insurance

Total

77.1% 100.0%

63,968

-

47,982

111,950

57.1%

0.0%

42.9% 100.0%

DPAC Adjustment

(1,364)

-

(31,062)

(32,426)

4.2%

0.0%

95.8% 100.0%

Total Commissions & Premium Taxes

94,957

16,085

179,882

290,924

32.6%

5.5%

61.8% 100.0%

Disclosure on Statement of Operations: Section 4
Premium and Commission Expenses
94,957
Included in Non Insurance
94,957

16,085
16,085

179,882
179,882

274,839
16,085
290,924

Non-Insurance Costs
The following is a functional breakdown of Non-insurance Costs found in Section 4.4.
Explanation of allocators may be found in Appendix 1A.

Non-Insurance Costs

Allocator

Basic
Insurance

$ in thousands
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance

Total

Basic
Insurance

Allocation %
NonOptional
Insurance Insurance

Total

Claims Services &
Operating Costs

87% Directly
attributable/ 13%
Allocated to Noninsurance

-

28,180

-

28,180

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Commercial Vehicle
Services

Directly
attributable to Noninsurance

-

5,783

-

5,783

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Payment to the Province
for Compliance
Operations

Directly
attributable to Noninsurance

-

16,888

-

16,888

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Driver Services

Directly
attributable to Noninsurance

-

35,665

-

35,665

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Non-Insurance Operating Costs

-

86,516

-

86,516

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Commission

-

16,085

-

16,085

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Total Non-Insurance Costs

-

102,601

-

102,601

0.0%

100.0%

0.0% 100.0%
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Appendix 1C: Reconciliation of Restated 2002
Revenues and Costs
Comparative Basic Revenues and Costs
For The Twelve Months Ended December 31
Submission

Restated

2002 Basic

2002 Basic

REVENUE
Vehicle premiums written
Driver premiums written
Premiums written

1,587,186
21,456
1,608,642

1,587,186
21,456
1,608,642

0
0
0

Vehicle premiums earned
Driver premiums earned
TOTAL PREMIUMS EARNED

1,524,901
21,876
1,546,777

1,524,901
21,876
1,546,777

0
0
0

CLAIMS AND RELATED COSTS
Current year claims incurred
Claims services
Road safety and loss management services
Total claims and related costs

1,308,497
135,637
34,940
1,479,074

1,357,978
147,687
35,554
1,541,219

(49,481) 1. Claims Inc urred
(12,050) 2. Operating Costs
(614) 2. Operating Costs
(62,145)

70,843
76,190
147,033
1,626,107

66,643
86,097
152,740
1,693,959

4,200 2. Operating Costs
(9,907) 3. Acquis ition Costs
(5,707)
(67,852)

(Dollars in Thousands)

EXPENSES
Operating costs - insurance
Premium taxes and commiss ions
TOTAL CLAIMS AND EXPENSES
Underwriting los s before prior years' claims
adjustment
Prior years' claims adjustment
UNDERWRITING (LOSS)
Investment income
INCOME/(LOSS) - INSURANCE OPERATIONS

(79,330)
10,664
(68,666)
221,425
152,759

(147,182)
10,752
(136,430)
233,146
96,716

Licences and fines on behalf of the Province
Less:
Licences and fines transferred to the Province
Operating costs - non-insurance
Commissions
Total non-insurance expenses
LOSS - NON-INSURANCE OPERATIONS

416,933

416,933

416,933
83,397
15,427
515,757
(98,824)

416,933
83,869
15,427
516,229
(99,296)

INCOME/(LOSS) BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED
NON-RECURRING ITEMS
Restructuring costs
NET INCOME/(LOSS)

53,935
(10,363)
43,572

(2,580)
(10,110)
(12,690)

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004

Explanation for
Better/(Worse) Variance Over $1million

(67,852)
88
(67,764)
11,721 4. Investment income
(56,043)

0
0
(472) 2. Operating Costs
0
(472)
(472)
(56,515)
253
(56,262)

1-90

ICBC July 5th Filing with the BC Utilities Commission
Summary
In preparation for the audit of the 2003 Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs,
ICBC identified a number of allocation improvement opportunities from the allocation
methodology used in the comparative 2002 Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and
Costs and submitted as part of ICBC’s August 29, 2003 filing. These improvements were
incorporated into the 2003 Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs by restating
the 2002 Basic and Optional Allocation of Revenues and Costs.
The allocation methodology was enhanced as a result of the following factors:
·

In the August 29, 2003 filing with the Commission, Total Third Party Liability (“TPL”) claims
data for the purpose of actuarial estimates was not readily separable into the Basic and
Optional portions of TPL. Subsequent to the August 29, 2003 filing, TPL claims data are
tracked separately and are used to analyze loss development and trends for the purpose of
preparing the rate indication to be filed with the Commission during 2004. These same
databases were also used to compute the amount of the policy liabilities at December 31,
2003 for financial reporting purposes. Also refer to Appendix 1C.1;

·

Management estimates were refined to improve causal link and/or enhance consistency;
and

·

Allocators were updated and based on financial results to replace more complex allocators.

Each factor had different levels of impact. The separation of Basic TPL actuarial data from
Optional TPL data accounted for the majority of the expense reallocation, and impacted Current
Year claims incurred, Prior Year Claims Adjustment, Deferred Premium Adjustment Cost
(“DPAC”) and Investment Income. The impact of these changes is discussed in the following
sections.
(Dollars in thousands)
Category
Premiums Earned

2002
Submission
Basic

2002
Restated
Basic

Better
(Worse)

Explanation

$1,546,777

$1,546,777

-

1,308,497

1,357,978

(49,481)

1

324,817

333,753

(8,936)

2

Acquisition costs

91,617

101,524

(9,907)

3

Prior years' claims adjustment

10,664

10,752

88

Investment income

221,425

233,146

11,721

Non-recurring items

10,363

10,110

253

Net Income (Loss)

$43,572

($12,690)

($56,262)

Current year claims incurred
Operating expenses (incl. Non-insurance)

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004
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Explanations
Major changes from the August 29, 2003 filing with the Commission are:
1. Current Year Claims Incurred: $ 49 million
1.1 Actuarial Estimates of Ultimates: $ 46 million
Actuarial estimates rely significantly on historical data and trends.

Although ICBC has

ample actuarial historical data on Total TPL coverages, the data was not readily separable
between Basic and Optional for TPL coverages when preparing the 2002 Statement of
Operations in the August 29, 2003 filing. The actuarial estimates of Basic and Optional TPL
coverages therefore required estimates made from the Total TPL data.
Subsequent to the August 29, 2003 filing, a separate database was constructed to capture
Basic and Optional TPL separately. Basic Loss information is estimated directly from
separated Basic Limit data instead of from Overall Loss Incurred. This new approach
minimizes the amount requiring allocation and is therefore more objective. In other words,
this new database enabled a more accurate representation of actuarial trends specific to
Basic TPL coverage only. The result is an increase of $46 million in Basic insurance
expense. A more detailed explanation by the ICBC Actuarial Department is provided in
Appendix 1C.1 on page 96.
1.2 Bulk Files: $ 3million
Bulk files are expenses and recoveries that are not attributed to a specific claim file. In the
allocation methodology filed with the Commission in August 29, 2003, Bulk files were
allocated 100% to Basic insurance on the basis that most expenses relate to Accident
Benefits and Bodily Injury claims below the Basic Limit. In the revised methodology, a more
detailed review of Bulk files was undertaken and it was determined that the Optional
insurance portion was more material than estimated in the initial filing with the Commission.
In 2002, because the Optional recovery amount exceeded Optional expenses, the Optional
portion is a net recovery amount, or a contra expense. As such, the Optional percentage is
approximately negative 20%, due to the net recovery amount, and the Basic portion is
approximately 120%. The increase of the Basic insurance portion from 100% to 120%
resulted in a $3 million increase to Basic insurance expense.

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004
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Submission
Restated
Increase (Decrease)

Basic*
100%
120%
20%

Optional*
(20%)
(20%)

Total
100%
100%
-

* Percentages are approximate
2. Operating Expenses
2.1 Claims Services
Following ICBC claims operational procedures, all motor vehicle accidents are initially
handled as Collision losses until liability is resolved. In cases where the liability has been
assessed against another motorist, with ICBC liability coverage, the loss payments are
systematically transferred to a Property Damage claim file. Property Damage is a Basic
insurance liability coverage with ICBC.
Work effort was used at the regional claim office level to allocate costs within job types. As
noted above, all motor vehicle accidents were initially handled as Collision losses until the
liability had been concluded. Once the liability was concluded, files where the loss was
transferred to the Property Damage file were allocated to the Basic insurance coverage with
the balance remaining as Optional coverage.
In the methodology filed with the Commission on August 29, 2003, only the estimating work
effort was split in this manner. However, upon further review it was determined that the work
effort of all claim office staff involved in the handling of Collision/Property Damage claims
should be allocated between Collision and Property Damage to be consistent in the
allocation methodology.
The updated methodology allocates all of the work effort in the regional claim centres
appropriately to Basic or Optional coverages and allocates the work effort of the Collision
transaction in a consistent manner to the Collision and Property Damage coverages. This
constitutes the majority of the $10 million increase to the Basic insurance expense.
2.2 Corporate Services
The allocation of property management services (referred to as Corporate Services at ICBC)
is based on the relative square footage occupied by each business division.

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004
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methodology as initially filed, it was estimated that the work effort per square foot is equal
for all business divisions.
For the 2003 yearend, a more precise work effort estimate was established. It applied a
discount factor to the square footage of business divisions that require limited property
management services.

This discount factor achieves a more accurate and equitable

allocation of property management service costs among business divisions. The impact of
this enhancement is $1 million decrease to Basic insurance expense.
2.3 Others
Some cost-centres had revised their basis of allocation to improve the causal link and/or
simplify the cost allocation process by using proxies. The net effect these changes is a
decrease to Basic insurance expense of approximately $500,000.
3. Acquisition Costs
Acquisition costs are deferred until the period which the premiums are earned. An actuarial
evaluation of the deferred acquisition amount is made to ensure the deferred amount is
recoverable.
The actuarial evaluation of DPAC was revised subsequent to the initial submission, resulting
in a $9.9 million increase to Basic insurance for the following reasons:
1. Result of Claims Incurred Methodology Change
The revised claims incurred methodology reduced the profitability of the Basic insurance
line of business. As a result, the amount of recoverable Basic deferred acquisition costs
is reduced.
2. More Consistent Basis of Allocation
One of the elements used in the DPAC calculation is the future expenses for settling
unpaid claims. In the submission methodology, the Basic insurance portion of future
expenses used in the DPAC calculation was different from that used by Corporate
Accounting for financial reporting and forecasts. To be consistent, the DPAC calculation
now uses the same Basic/Optional split as Corporate Accounting.

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004
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3. Discount Rate used in the determination of DPAC
A discount rate is used in the determination of DPAC balance. In 2002, the discount rate
was derived from data on Total TPL coverages, as segregation between Basic and
Optional TPL data was not available. For the 2003 yearend, as discussed above, a new
database was constructed that provides Basic TPL coverage specific data. The new
actuarial database allows a more accurate estimate of the Basic discount rate.
4. Investment Income
The allocation of Investment Income is based on the weighted average of three allocation
ratios:
1. Unpaid Claims Liability (approximately 73% weighting)
2. Unearned premiums (approximately 22% weighting); and
3. Retained earnings (approximately 5% weighting).
The allocation method for Unpaid Claims Liability is a derivation of the claims incurred
allocation methodology. Due to the changes with respect to claims incurred as described in
Section 1 above, the Basic insurance portion of Unpaid Claims Liability has increased. The
result is a higher Basic insurance percentage for investment income, which translates to $11
million increase in Basic insurance income.
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Appendix 1C.1: Actuarial Explanation - Claims
Incurred Methodology Enhancement
The Rate Application filed on August 29, 2003 contained actuarial rate indications for Total Third
Party Liability coverage instead of Basic Third Party Liability TPL coverage. The main reason
Total TPL indications were filed was because, as was stated in Eckler Partners' rate filing
document (Volume 1, Page 2), "...the Third Party Liability extended limits data is not readily
separable from the Basic business data." The primary driver of this statement was that various
rate level analysis (Loss Development analysis, Loss Trend analysis etc.) were available only
for Total TPL and not for each of the Basic and Optional portions of TPL. Therefore, it was most
appropriate to offer a professional opinion on the rate indication for Total TPL as opposed to the
Basic coverage portion only.
Although there was no reason to believe that using Total Third Party Liability experience was
biasing the calculation of the indicated rate level requirements for Basic Third Party Liability, it
was nevertheless a stopgap measure and it was recognized that it would not be desirable to
continue to prepare only Total TPL indications. Therefore, after last year's BCUC filing and the
Decision, ICBC embarked upon a process of constructing separate Basic and Optional TPL
databases with which to analyze loss development. These same databases were also used to
compute the amount of the policy liabilities at December 31, 2003 for financial reporting
purposes.
To obtain Basic loss information for 2002 Basic Revenues and Costs, allocation was made on
the two components of Total Third Party Liability Claims Incurred, namely Bodily Injuries and
Property Damages, to divide Total Incurred into Basic Incurred and Optional Incurred. Various
components of the Total Incurred, which are estimated by the actuaries, are allocated into Basic
and Optional using methods viewed to be most appropriate (e.g., Late reported Loss is
allocated using Earned Premium, Claims Margin is allocated using Unpaid Liabilities, and
Development of claims is allocated using actual claims properties).
For the 2003 yearend, Third Party Basic Limit data and Third Party Extended Limits data have
been separately compiled. Independent analysis on Loss Development, Loss Trend etc. has
been performed on Basic Limit data.

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
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separated Basic Limit data instead of from Overall Loss Incurred. Similar analysis has been
performed on data as of 2002 year-end. 2003 Basic Revenues and Costs utilizes the revised
2002 and 2003 data.
The impact on 2002 Basic Revenues and Costs of all the changes is an increase of $46 million
in Current Year claims incurred, which includes $2 million of ULAE. There was no change to the
assignment process on all other coverages. They can all be assigned to Basic and Optional
insurance directly.
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Appendix 1D Letter from David Atkins on
Review of the ICBC Allocation Methodology

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
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BCE Place, tat Bay Street, Suite 2500
P.O. Box 747
Toronto ON MSJ 2T7
Canada

Reply to:
David Atkins
416-307-4041
datklnsOlangmlchener

.cA

Telephone: 416-360-8600
Facsimile: 416-365-1719

VIA COURIER

July 2, 2004

Mr. Anwar Chaudhry
Vice President,CorporateController
ICBC
Room 517
151West Esplanade
North Vancouver,BC V7M 3H9
DearMr. Chaudhry
Re:

Financial Allocation Report: For Submissionto the BCUC

You have asked for my opinion on a number of matters connected with the Financial Allocation
Report being submitted to the British Columbia Utilities Commission ("BCUC") . Thesematters
relate specifically the treatment of direct and indirect costs, and the pro-rata method of cost
allocation. I have also included reference to the need for consistency in rate applications and the
use of statistics for the most recent periods. In preparing this letter, I have referred to accounting
and rate application practices that are common to the insurance industry. In addition, I have
reviewed the audited financial statementsof ICBC for the year ended December 31, 2003.

I have had forty yearsexperiencein the field of auditing and consultingwith property casualty
insurance companies. I have advised a provincial governmenton rating making for the
automobileinsuranceindustry. I am a directorof severalinsurancecompaniesand am chainnan
of a numberof their audit committees. In preparingthis opinion, I have reviewedthe various
reportssubmittedby you to BCUC andhavehad discussionswith the auditorsand actuariesfor
ICBC. In addition, I have reviewedthe filing instructionsfor automobilerate applicationswith
the Financial Services Commission of Ontario ("FSCO") and have had discussionswith
consultantsto FSCO.
~Allocation
Costs are allocated frequently in the automobile insurance industry for a variety of purposes.
Various examples comprise the following. In conducting their businesses,insurers allocate costs
by type within the automobile line and by geographical area, such as by province or state. Cost
allocation is also required to provide segmentedinformation geographically and by major line of
business, when automobile insurers issue financial statements as publicly listed companies.
Insurers are also required to allocate costs for rate making purposes,in order for both the insurers
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and the rate-makingbodies to determinethat appropriatemargins are obtained by line of
msurance.

ProRata
It has generallybeena practicein the insuranceindustry to have eachline of insurance
standon its own as a profit centre.The pro rata methodof cost allocationis usedwidely
to allocatecostsbetweenlines of business.Indeed,crosssubsidizationis discouragedby
regulatoryrate makingauthorities,althoughit is recognizedthat occasionallyincremental
costsmay occur for very minor lines of business.It is emphasizedhowever,that the pro
rata method of allocation is effectively employeduniversally as being the fairest and
most accuratemethodof assessing
profitability andperformance.
ICBC has,in line with industrypractice,usedpro rataallocationof revenuesandcosts.
Direct and Indirect Costs

Insuranceindustry and regulatorypracticesalso adopt certainguidelineswith regardto
direct and indirect costs.Certain costs,such as brokerscommissionsand allocatedloss
adjustment expenses,being variable are allocated directly to premiums and claims
respectively. Semi-variableexpenses,suchas certainunderwritingcostsand unallocated
loss adjustmentexpensesare also appliedto premiumsand claims, "in a mannerthat is
consistentwith the way the insurerconductsits business,the mannerin which expenses
are inCWTed,
and the type of unit insured" (TechnicalNotes for Automobile Insurance
Rate and Risk ClassificationFilings - FSCO,January,2003). Other indirect and fixed
expensesare allocated using the individual insurer's experienceand "may follow
inflation or othereconomicconditions"(TechnicalNotesabove).
ICBC has followed thesepracticesand hasallocatedcoststo the basic,non insuranceor
optional linesof businessappropriately.
Other 2eneralnracticeswith regardto Costallocation:
Consistencyand Mannerof ARRlication
In rate filings, both variable and fixed expensesare expectedto remain reasonably
consistentfrom one reportingperiod to the next. "Variable expensescan be expectedto
remain reasonablyconstantover the yearsfor the insurer" (TechnicalNotes above). In
other words, the ratios of commissionsand underwritingexpensesto premiums,and the
ratios of claims servicingand adjustmentexpensesto claims shouldbe consistentand,if
they arenot, variancesneedto be explainedandsupported.
Statistical Period.

Generally,expensesshouldbe allocatedbasedon infonnation from the most recentyear.
However,certainitems, suchas loss developmentstatistics,may usea three yearperiod
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or longer. A threeyearor longerreviewof expenses
wouldonly be usedto ensure
consistency
andrevealanysignificantvariances
overtheyears.
In conclusion, in my opinion the allocation method ICBC followed in 2003 is in line
industrypracticesfrom both an accountingandregulatoryviewpoint.
I can also confinn that the "recommended approach" whereby common costs are allocated based
on the revenue or direct costing stream to which they are related, and administrative costs on a
combination theroof, is a robust and objective method of allocating common expensesand has
many advantagesover the detailed method used in 2003. For example, it is proposed that internal
claims servicing costs be allocated based on claims incurred, and since the claim dollar amounts
are generally indicative of the servicing involved, it is considered to be robust and objective.
However, this assertion is tested, whereby it has been detennined that it takes as long a period of
time to service a basic claim as it does to service an optional, duration being another potential
variable. In the private sector, comparisons with industry-wide data are also often made to assess
the reasonablenessof cost allocation.

Should ICBC adopt the "recommendedapproach",the recommendedapproachwill ensurethat
common costs are allocated consistently with both claims and premium ratios and with
infonnation basedon the current year and which will ensurecontinuing alignment with the
"ConsistencyandMannerof Application" and"StatisticalPeriod" asdescribedin the paragraphs
above.

Yours very truly,
Lang Mlch~ner LLP

'I {1pt -I
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/

¥~~

Per: v David Atkins, FCA
SeniorAdvisor, CorporateInsurancePractice
DA/cb
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JOHN D. TODD
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PERSONAL INFORMATION - JOHN D. TODD
Born:

Oshawa, Ontario, March 20, 1950

Citizenship:

Canadian

Address: Business
Elenchus Research Associates
34 King Street East, Suite 610
Toronto, Canada M5H 3S6
Education: M.B.A.
B.A.Sc.

E-mail: jtodd@era-inc.ca
Telephone: (416) 348-9910
Facsimile: (416) 348-9930

University of Toronto, 1975
(Economics and Management Science)
University of Toronto, 1972
(Electrical Engineering)

Founded Elenchus Research Associates (ERA) in May, 2003
There are presently seven ERA Associates: Bruce Bacon, Emay Cowx, Judy
Kwik, Rudy Riedl, Terry Rochefort, Marie Rounding and John Todd.
Web address: www.era-inc.ca
Founded the Canadian Energy Regulation Information Service (CERISE) in 2002
CERISE is a web-based service providing a decision database, regulatory
monitoring and analysis of current issues on a subscription basis. (Staff are Keith
Bryan, Bayu Kidane and Ed Robertson.)
Web address: www.cerise.info.
Founded Econalysis Consulting Services, Inc., (ECS) in October, 1980
There are presently four ECS consultants: Bill Harper, Roger Higgin, Joyce Poon
and Yannick Vennes.
Web address: www.econalysis.ca
Areas of Expertise:
John Todd has specialized in government regulation for 25 years, addressing
issues related to price regulation and deregulation, market restructuring to
facilitate effective competition, and regulatory methodology. Sectors of primary
interest have included energy, telecommunications, housing and the financial
industry. John has assisted counsel in more than 175 regulatory proceedings and
provided expert evidence in over 65 hearings. His clients include regulated
companies, producers and generators, competitors, customers groups,
regulators and government.
Prior Employment:
1978-80
Ontario Economic Council, Research Officer (Government Regulation)
1973-78
Research Assistant, Univ. of Toronto, Faculty of Management Studies
1972-73
Bell Canada, Western Area Engineering (Central Office Provisioning and
Special Services Co-ordinator)

John D. Todd: Research/Consulting Profile
c.v.-2

Regulatory/Legal Proceedings
Expert Evidence and/or assistance to counsel provided for these proceedings.

Before the Ontario Energy Board
2003

2002
2001

1999

1998
1997

1996
1995

1994

1993

1992
1991

- Generic Proceeding on Electricity Distributor Boundary Changes (RP-2003-0044)
(Evidence: The Benefits of Competition in the Electrical Distribution Sector)
- Union Gas Limited, 2004 Rates (RP-2003-0063)
(Evidence: Monthly Demand Charge for Brighton Beach Power Station (with Paula Zarnett))
- Union Gas Limited, 2003 Rates (RP-2002-0130/EB-2002-0363)
(Evidence: Review of Union’s Delivery Commitment Credit (with Joyce Poon))
- Union Gas, Further Unbundling of Rates (RP-2000-0078)
(Evidence: Regulatory Framework and Cost Responsibility)
- Hydro One Networks, Cost Allocation and Rate Design for RP-2000-0023
(Evidence: Cost Allocation Model (with Bruce Bacon))
- Propose Electric Distribution Rate Handbook
(Evidence: Comments on Staff Proposals)
- Standard Supply Service Code, (RP-1999-0040)
(Evidence: Comments and Alternate Proposal)
- Enbridge, Year 2000 Rate Application (RP 1999-0001)
- Enbridge, Performance Based Regulation Application (EBRO 497-01)
- Enbridge, Ancillary Service Separation & Rental Wind Down (EBO 179-14/15)
- Consumers Gas, 1999 Test Year Rates Application (EBRO 497)
- Union Gas, Separation of Ancillary Services (EBO 177-17)
- Town of Aurora, Franchise Renewal (EBA 795)
- Union Gas, Customer Information System (EBO 177-15)
- Legislative Change (EBO 202)
- System Expansion Generic Hearing (EBO 188)
- Consumers Gas, 1998 Test Year Rates Application (EBRO 495)
- Ten Year Market Review Working Group
- Union Gas/Centra Gas Amalgamation Application
- Union Gas/Centra Gas, 1997 Rates Application (EBRO 493/494)
- Consumers Gas, 1997 Test Year Rates Application (EBRO 492)
- Ontario Hydro, Review of 1997 Rates (HR-24)
- Ontario Hydro, Review of 1996 Rates (HR-23)
- Consumers Gas, 1996 Test Year Rates Application (EBRO 490)
- Union Gas, 1996 Test Year Rates Application (EBRO 486)
- Union Gas/Centra Gas, Shared Services Hearing (EBRO 486/489)
- Centra Gas, 1995 Test Year Rates Application (EBRO 489)
- Ontario Hydro International Hearing (EBRLG - 36)
- Ontario Hydro Corporate Restructuring and 1995 Rates (HR-22)
- Consumers' Gas, 1995 Test Year Rate Case (EBRO 487)
- Joint Hearing on Direct Purchase Issues (EBRO 474-B/476/483/484/485)
(Evidence: Return-to-System Policies for Ontario LDCs)
- Centra Gas, 1994 Test Year Rates Application (EBRO 483/484)
- Consumers' Gas, 1994 Test Year Rate Case (EBRO 485)
- Union Gas, 1994 Test Year Rate Case (EBRO 476-03)
(Evidence: Equity Effects of Union's Depreciation Study)
- Consumers' Gas, 1993 Test Year Rate Case (EBRO 479)
- Union Gas, 1993 Test Year Interim Rate Increase (EBRO 476)
- Consumers' Gas, 1992 Test Year Rate Case (EBRO 473)
(Evidence: Direct Purchase Issues)
- Union Gas, Application for Rates and Cost of Gas (EBRO 462)
- Centra Gas, 1992 Test Year Rates Application (EBRO 474)
(Evidence: Direct Purchase Issues)

John D. Todd: Research/Consulting Profile
c.v.-3

Regulatory/Legal Proceedings (cont'd)
Before the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission
2001

2000

1999
1998
1997

1996

1995

1994

1992
1991

- Implementation of Price Cap Regulation for Québec-Téléphone & Télébec (PN 01-36)
(Evidence: Designing a Consistent Price Cap Regime)
- Price Cap Review (PN 01-37)
(Evidence: The Second Generation Price Cap Regime)
- Recovery of 2000 and 2001 Income Tax Expense (PN 00-108)
(Evidence: Appropriate Recovery of MTS Income Tax Expense)
- Scope of Price Cap Review (PN 00-99)
- Sunset Rule for Near-Essential Facilities (PN 00-96)
- Access to Municipal Property in the City of Vancouver (PN 99-25)
- Review of Contribution Collection Mechanism (PN 99-6)
(Evidence: Review of Contribution Collection Mechanism)
- Review of Direct Connection Charges
- Review of Frozen Contribution Rate Policy (PN 99-5)
(Evidence: Comments on the Frozen Contribution Rates Policy)
- High Cost of Serving Areas (PN 97-42)
- Local Number Portability Start-up Costs (PN 98-10)
- Competition in the Provision of International Telecommunications Services (PN 97-34)
- Implementation of Price Caps (PN 97-11)
- Review of Joint Marketing Restrictions (PN 97-14/97-21)
- Forbearance from Regulation of Toll Services Provided by Dominant Carriers (96-26)
- Regulation of Telecom Services Offered by Broadcast Carriers (PN 96-36)
- Scope of Contribution (PN 96-19)
- Bell Canada, Business Rate Restructuring (PN 96-13)
- Price Cap Regulation and Related Issues (PN 96-8)
(Evidence: Evidence addressing the design of the price cap system)
- Local Interconnection and Network Component Unbundling (PN 95-36)
(Evidence: Mechanisms for Collecting Contribution)
- AGT, General Rate Application
- Local Services Pricing Options (PN 95-49/95-56)
(Evidence: Mechanisms for Pursuing the Goal of Universally Available Basic
Telephone Service in Low-Penetration Exchanges)
- Review of Phase II (PN 95-19)
- Regulatory Framework for Ontario Independent Telephone Cos. (PN 95-15)
- Split Rate Base Hearing (PN 94-52, 94-56 and 94-58)
(Evidence: Applicability of the Decision 94-19 Regulatory Framework to MTS)
- Review of the Quality of Service Indicators (PN 94-50)
- Review of the Regulatory Framework of Teleglobe Canada Inc. (PN 95-11)
- Bell SYGMA Hearing (PN 94-53)
- Regulatory Framework
(Evidence: A Proposed Regulatory/Structural Alternative)
- Maritime Tel, General Rate Increase
- Island Tel, General Rate Increase
- BC Tel, General Rate Increase
- AGT, General Rate Increase
- Northwestel, General Rate Increase (paper hearing)
- Bell Canada, General Rate Increase
- Teleglobe, Annual Construction Program Review (paper hearing)
- New Brunswick Tel, Annual Construction Program Review (paper hearing)
- Bell Canada - 1992 Annual Construction Program Review
- AGT - 1992 Annual Construction Program Review
- Bell Canada - 1991 Construction Program Review

John D. Todd: Research/Consulting Profile
c.v.-4

Regulatory/Legal Proceedings (cont'd)
1990

- Maritime Telegraph & Telephone, Review of Revenue Requirement 1990-91
(Evidence on the impact of modernization)
- Island Telephone Company, Review of Revenue Requirement 1990-91
(Evidence on the impact of modernization)
- Review of Cable Television Regulations
(Evidence on alternative forms of regulation)

Before the Public Utilities Board of Manitoba
2003
2002

2001

2000

1999

1998

1997

1996

- Centra Gas Manitoba, 2003/04 General Rate Application,
(Evidence: Comments on the Future Regulatory Methodology)
- Manitoba Hydro, Rate Status Update
(Evidence: Manitoba Hydro’s Financial Requirements and Proposed Curtailable Rate
Program, with William Harper)
- Manitoba Hydro, Integration Proceeding
(Evidence: Assessment of Manitoba Hydro/Centra Manitoba Integration, with William
Harper)
- Manitoba Public Insurance, 2002 General Rate Application
(Evidence: Rate Stabilization Issues)
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Primary Gas Rates
(Evidence: Centra Gas Manitoba’s Rate Setting Methodology)
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Rate Management
- Manitoba Public Insurance, 2001 General Rate Application
(Evidence: MPI’s Rate Stabilization Reserve Surplus)
- Manitoba Hydro, Surplus Energy Program
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Western T-Service and Agency Billing and Collection Service
(Evidence: Assessment of the Proposals of the Company)
- Manitoba Public Insurance, 2000 General Rate Application
(Evidence: Rate Stabilization Reserve Risk Analysis)
- Manitoba Hydro Purchase of Centra Manitoba
(Evidence: Implications for Rates and the Regulatory Regime)
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Rates Flowing from Board Order 79/98
- Manitoba Public Insurance, 1999 General Rate Application
(Evidence: Rate Stabilization Reserve, Allocation of Costs and IT Expenditures)
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Feasibility Cost Assumptions Application
(Evidence: Comments on Centra’s Proposed Changes to the Feasibility Test)
- Centra Gas Manitoba, 1998 Test Year General Rate Application
(Evidence: Comments on Centra’s Proposed Customer Information System)
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Ste. Agathe Franchise Application
- Manitoba Hydro, Review of ISE/DFH/SESS Programs
- Manitoba Public Insurance, 1998 General Rate Application
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Continuation of Shared Services Application
- Centra Gas Manitoba, 1997 General Rate Application
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Cost of Service and Rate Design Review
- Generic Hearing on the Role of the LDC in Manitoba
(Evidence: The Future Role of Centra Manitoba in the Supply of Natural Gas)
- Manitoba Hydro, General Rate Application, 1996 and 1997

John D. Todd: Research/Consulting Profile
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Regulatory/Legal Proceedings (cont'd)
1995

1994

1993
1992

1991
1990

- Centra Gas Manitoba, Price Management and Direct Purchase Issues
- Application of the Gladstone, Austin Natural Gas Co-op Ltd.
- Manitoba Hydro, Review of Prospective Cost of Service Study (GRA)
(Evidence: Comments on the Prospective COSS Methodology)
- Manitoba Hydro, Dual Fuel Heating and Industrial Surplus Energy Rates
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Rural Expansion/Brandon Facilities Upgrade Hearings
- Centra Gas Manitoba, 1995 General Rate Application
(Evidence: Review of Centra's Weather Normalization Methodology)
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Rural Expansion Hearing
(Evidence: Rural Mains Expansion Feasibility Test)
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Future Test Year Application
(Evidence: Comparison of the Future and Historic Test Year methods of rate-base
rate-of-return regulation)
- Manitoba Hydro, General Rate Application, 1994 and 1995
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Inc. 1994 General Rate Application
- Manitoba Telephone System, Interconnect Hearing
- Manitoba Telephone System, 1993 General Rate Application
- Manitoba Telephone System, 1992 General Rate Application
(Evidence: The appropriate debt ratio for a crown corporation)
- Manitoba Hydro, General Rate Application, 1992
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Inc. General Rate Application
- Manitoba Telephone System, General Rate Application, 1991
- Centra Gas Manitoba, Inc. Application for Interim Refundable Rate Increase
- Manitoba Hydro, Major Capital Projects
(Evidence: Hydro's 1000MW Ontario Sale and system planning risks)
- ICG Utilities (Manitoba) Ltd., Generic Hearing on Rate Setting
(Evidence: Implications of using a future versus historic test year)

Before the British Columbia Utilities Commission
2002
2001
2000
1999

1998
1997

- Pacific Northern Gas West and Northeast, General Rate Application.
- Utilicorp Networks Canada (formerly West Kootenay Power), Annual Review, 2001
- Pacific Northern Gas, 2000-01 General Rate Application (negotiated)
- West Kootenay Power, Annual Review, 2000
- Centra Gas BC, 2000-02 Rates Application (negotiated)
- BC Gas, Market Unbundling Group (Report to the BCUC)
- West Kootenay Power, 2000-02 Rate Application (negotiated)
- Pacific Northern Gas, 1999-00 General Rate Application (negotiated)
- Annual Reviews of WKP and BC Gas
- West Kootenay Power, Transmission Access Application
- BC Gas, Southern Crossing Pipeline Application (Revised)
- Pacific Northern Gas, 1998-99 Revenue Requirement/Rate Design
(Evidence on PNG’s Cost of Service Methodology)
- BC Gas, Southern Crossing Pipeline Application
(Evidence on the impact of ratepayer risks related to the SCP due to developments in
the competitive environment in the natural gas sector)
- Annual Reviews of WKP and BC Gas.
- West Kootenay Power, Cost of Service and Rate Design (negotiated settlement)
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Regulatory/Legal Proceedings (cont'd)
1997
1996

1995
1994
1993

- Pacific Northern Gas Shared Services
- Retail Access and Unbundling Tariff Hearing (suspended)
(Evidence on the impact of market restructuring on costs and rates)
- BC Gas - 1996 Rate Design (negotiated settlement)
(Evidence: Alternative Methods for Allocating Distribution Mains Costs to Customer
Classes)
- BC Gas - 1996-1997, Revenue Requirement & IRP (negotiated settlement)
- West Kootenay Power - Brilliant Generating Station Transactions
- West Kootenay Power - General Rate Application/IRP (negotiated settlement)
- Generic System Expansion Hearing
- BC Gas - General Rate Application (negotiated settlement)
- BC Hydro, 1994 Rate Increase Application
- West Kootenay Power, 1994/95 Rates and Integrated Resource Plan
(Evidence: Review of WKP's Integrated Resource Plan)
- BC Hydro, 1993 Rate Increase Application
- BC Gas, Rate Design Hearing
(Evidence: Analysis of BC Gas' cost studies and their use in setting rates)
- BC Gas - General Rate Application (settled and withdrawn prior to hearing)
- Generic Hearing into the New Provincial Domestic Natural Gas Supply Policy

Before the Régie de l’énergie
2001

2000

1999

1998

- Hydro Québec, Transmission Rates (R-3401-98)
(Evidence: HQT’s Transmission Tariff Rate Design Methodology, with B. Bacon)
- Inclusion of Operating Costs in the Gasoline Price Floor Set By the Régie
(Evidence: Review of Principles) (Régie File R-3457-2000)
- SCGM Unbundling of Tariffs (R-3443-2000)
(Evidence: SCGM’s Unbundling Tariff Proposal, with R. Higgin)
- Gazifère, Rates (R-3446-2000)
(Evidence: Cash Working Capital and Other Issues, with G. Morrison)
- Operating Costs Borne by Gasoline or Diesel Fuel Retailers (R-3399-98)
(Evidence: Methodology for Determining Operating Costs)
- Small Hydro Within Hydro Quebec’s Resource Plan (R-3410-98)
(Evidence: Determining the Purchase Price for Small Hydro)
- Gazifère, Year 2000 Rate Case
(Evidence: Assessment of Cost Allocation and Revenue Sharing Proposals)
- Hydro Québec, Rate-Setting Methodology Under s. 167 of the Régie de l’énergie Act.
(Evidence: Recommendations on Regulatory Framework)
- Hydro Québec, The Role of Wind Power in the Quebec Energy Portfolio
(Evidence: Issues Related to Establishing a Set-Aside)

Before the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board
2001

- Generic, Gas Rate Unbundling (2001-093)
(Evidence: Canadian Experience and Approaches)
- Generic, Gas Cost Recovery Rate Methodology (2001-040)

Before the National Energy Board
1999

- BC Gas, Southern Crossing Project
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Regulatory/Legal Proceedings (cont'd)
Before the Ontario Securities Commission
1985
1983
1982
1981

- Securities Industry Review
(Evidence: Industry structure and the form of regulation)
- Role of Financial Institutions in the Securities Industry
(Evidence: Discount Brokerage and the Role of Financial Institutions)
- Institutional Ownership of, and Diversification by, Securities Dealers
(Evidence: The impact of foreign and institutional entry)
- The Unfixing of Brokerage Commission Rates
(Evidence: The impact of price competition on the securities industry)

Before the Ontario Telephone Services Commission
1992

- Review of Rate-of-Return Regulation for Public Utility Telephone Companies.
(Evidence: The need for OTSC regulation of municipal public utility telcos)

Before the Ontario Municipal Board
1995
1992

- Appeal of Boundary Expansion by Lincoln Hydro Electric Commission
(Affidavit prepared on the tests for boundary expansions)
- Evidence dealing with the Rental Housing Protection Act, 1989

Before the Supreme Court of Ontario
1990

- Challenge of the Residential Rent Regulation Act (1986) under the Canadian Charter
of Rights and Freedoms
(Evidence: The impact of rent regulation on Ontario's rental housing market)

Before the Saskatchewan Court of Queen's Bench
1993

- Evidence regarding market dynamics and competition policy.

Non-Hearing Processes
2003/04 – Expert evidence and advice to counsel for several lawsuits and contract arbitrations.
2001 - BC Gas, Second Generation Performance Based Regulation Negotiation
- Telecommunications Industry, Price Cap Review Negotiation
1999 - PBR Task Force (Electricity), Ontario Energy Board
- Market Unbundling Group (BC Gas), British Columbia Utilities Commission
- Western Supply Transportation Service (Centra Gas Manitoba), Manitoba PUB
1998 - Market Design Task Force, Ontario Energy Board
1997 - Ten Year Market Review, Ontario Energy Board

Facilitation Activities
2004
2000

- Business Plan Visioning Session with the Board of Directors of an Ontario electric LDC.
- Ontario Energy Board, Distribution Access Rule Task Force.
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Regulated Industries: Papers and Research Projects
-

Report on the Effects of Separating Hydro One’s Transmission and Distribution
Functions.

-

Report on Hydro One Privatization Options.

-

The Impact of Complete Deregulation on Market Efficiency of the Gas and
Electric Industry in Alberta Post-2005 Assuming Current Market Dominance.
Analysis of a Possible Equity Infusion for Ontario Hydro: Potential Implications for
Financing Costs.

-

Volatility in the Ontario Electricity Market, by ECS with Snelson International
Energy.

-

An Assessment of Price Volatility in the Ontario Electricity Market.

-

Analysis of MTS Privatization Plan.

-

Comments on the Issues Identified in the December 1995 Working Paper of the
Advisory Committee on Competition in Ontario’s Electricity System, A submission
on behalf of The Power Workers’Union.

-

Telecommunications Municipal/Franchise Tax Design Options (with Dr. E. Slack).

-

The Implications of Phase III Costing for the Rates and Toll Settlements of
Independent Telephone Companies (with Andrew Roman).

-

Submission to the Department of Communications (Canada) (August 1990):
Towards Competition in Telecommunication and Cable TV Services: A Single
Switched Broadband Distribution Facility (Comments of the Public Interest
Advocacy Centre, with Robert E. Horwood and Gaylord Watkins).

-

Submission to the Department of Communications (Canada) (May 1990): Fibre
Optic Networks: Facilitating Competition in Telecommunication and Television
Services for the Benefit of All Users (Comments of the Public Interest Advocacy
Centre, with Robert E. Horwood and Gaylord Watkins).

-

Submission to the CRTC concerning cable television regulation on behalf of the
Public Interest Advocacy Centre (with Carmen Baggaley).

-

Analysis of financing alternatives for Toronto Hydro's 13.8 kV conversion
program for the City of Toronto Parks and Recreation Department.

-

Analysis of the MacEachen White Paper on "Inflation and the Taxation of
Personal Investment Income" for the Ontario Economic Council.

-

Submission to the Parliamentary Committee commenting on the April 1985
Finance Green Paper, "The Regulation of Financial Institutions: Proposals for
Discussion" prepared on behalf of the Public Interest Research Centre.
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Financial Markets: Papers and Research Projects
-

Analysis of the potential consumer benefits from insurance retailing by financial
institutions in Canada for the Public Interest Research Centre.

-

Development of a financial model for projecting the financial implications of
alternative corporate structures.

-

Developed model for projecting cash flows for a major land development project.
-

Analysis of the impact on the capital markets of changes to the investment rules
for public sector pension funds for the Task Force on the Investment of Public
Sector Pension Funds (with Prof. John Bossons).

-

Review of the OSC proposals and alternatives for relaxing ownership restrictions
in the securities industry prepared for the Ontario Securities Commission for
submission to the Premier's Office (with Prof. Tom Courchene).

-

Analysis of the Impact of Opening the Ontario Securities Market on the Economy
of Toronto for a major Canadian securities dealer.

-

Response to the December 1984 "Interim Report of the Ontario Task Force on
Financial Institutions" for Consumer and Corporate Affairs (Canada).

-

Report on functional integration in the Canadian financial services sector for the
Australian Merchant Bankers' Association.

-

Analysis of the Canadian and American Experience with Partially Negotiable
Brokerage Commission Rates for the Australian Merchant Bankers Assoc.

-

Served as a North American contact for the Office of Fair Trading (United
Kingdom) providing information on developments in the debate over unfixing of
brokerage fees, entry of banks into securities dealing and related matters.

-

Development of a computerized package for analyzing the effects of alternative
tax systems on business investment. Prepared for the Ontario Government
reference to the Ontario Economic Council to study a separate personal income
tax for Ontario.

-

"An Analysis of the Use of Component Internal Rates of Return for Fund
Performance Measurement" for Canadian National Investments.

-

Analysis of Canadian Stock Market Data (development of a computer package
for evaluating investment portfolio efficiency).

-

Redesign and periodic updating of the financial, analysis methodology for Alfred
Bunting and Co.

-

Developed an APL computer package for teaching Business Finance concepts.
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Housing: Papers and Research Projects
-

Potential Impact of Rent De-Control on Selected Markets in Ontario

-

Review of the Ontario Auditors analysis of the cost of social housing.

-

Future Social Housing Delivery Opportunities in Metro Toronto.

-

Development of a model for projecting core need households to 2011.

-

Analysis of the City of Toronto's approach to the valuation of certain properties
developed under the Rental Housing Protection Act, 1989.

-

Security of Tenure Issues Pertaining to Co-operative Housing.

-

Rent Regulation in Ontario, a report prepared as expert Evidence for a Charter of
Rights challenge of Ontario's system of rent regulation (with W.T. Stanbury).

-

Feasibility study of enhancements to long term housing forecasting models
(demographic factors) with David Foot.

-

Feasibility study of enhancements to long term housing forecasting models
(economic factors).

-

Review of the housing situation in the Greater (Toronto) Metropolitan Region in
1988 and the next decade for the Ontario Ministry of Housing.

-

Treatment of the Assisted Rental Program under rent regulation for the Ontario
Ministry of Housing.

-

Alternatives for implementing of the chronically depressed rent provision of the
Residential Rent Regulation Act, 1986.

-

Projected rental housing requirements to 1996, by unit rent level for Ontario
Ministry of Housing.

-

Analysis of the effects of the Canadian Home Ownership Stimulation Program on
housing starts for Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.

-

Energy Efficiency of New Housing (with Peat, Marwick and Partners and
Scanada Consultants Limited) for Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.

-

A Model of Supply and Demand in the Market for Housing for the Ontario Ministry
of Housing.

-

Several publications and presentations shown in the Academic Profile
(see below).
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Other Areas: Papers and Research Projects
-

Economic analysis of the market impact of the merger of two Canadian trucking
companies in the context of the Competition Act.

-

Assisted a Joint Task Force of the Ontario Ministries of Social Services and
Health to develop a cost project model of alternative long term health care
delivery systems.

-

Study of Tax Incentives for Film and Television (joint project with Dr. E. Slack) for
the Canadian Film and Television Association.

-

Economic Analysis of Tax Incentives for the Film Industry (joint project with Dr. E.
Slack) for the Department of Communications.

-

Economic Impact of Cultural Institutions for Ontario Association of Art Galleries
with the Ontario Federation of Symphony Orchestras and the Toronto Theatre
Alliance.

-

Economic Impact of Art Galleries' Expenditures on their Local Communities for
the Ontario Association of Art Galleries.

-

Developed a case study of the potash pro-rationing scheme invoked by the
Saskatchewan government for the Faculty of Management Studies, Univ. of
Toronto.

-

Analysis of Regional Municipality of Niagara financial information for the Niagara
Region Review Commission.

-

Analysis of Ottawa/Carleton regional government's financial information, and
comparison with other regional governments, using the MARS database (with Dr.
E. Slack).

-

A Dynamic Simulation Model of the North York Secondary School System for
Planning for Declining Enrolment for the Ontario Institute for Studies in
Education, Department of Educational Planning (with Dr. S. Padro).

-

Development of an extension to the Limits to Growth World III Model
incorporating commodity prices, technology, disaggregated regions and energy
resources into the model.

-

Development of a computer program for solving the Dynamic Transportation
Problem (with Professors Sethi and Bookbinder at the Faculty of Management
Studies, University of Toronto).
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Presentations
-

“The “Deregulated Retail Energy Sector in Ontario”, Toronto Association of Business
Economists, Oct. 2003.

-

“Other Approaches to Rate Regulation”, CAMPUT Annual Meeting, Sept. 2003.

-

“Price Projection: Will the Rate Freeze be Revenue Neutral?” at Canadian Institute
Conference, The Impact of Ontario’s New Electricity Market on Large Power Consumers
Jan. 2003.

-

“Managing Energy Price Risk: Impact of Market & Regulatory Developments on Price
Risk Management”, Canadian institute Conference, Toronto, October 21, 2002.

-

“Location Based Marginal Pricing: Will it Happen?” Ontario Energy Contracts, Insight
Conference, Toronto, October 1, 2002.

-

“The Evolution of the North American Energy Market” Canadian Gas Association
Executive Conference, Vancouver, June 2002.

-

“Alternate Dispute Resolution: Can Everyone Win?” Canadian Gas Association
Breakfast, Whistler, British Columbia, May 7, 2002.

-

“Incentive Regulation and Commodity Competition Impacts on Quality of Service &
Rates”, CAMPUT Regulatory Educational Conference, Whistler, British Columbia, May
7, 2002.

-

“Energy Deregulation Developments and Impacts on the HVACR Industry”, HRAI’s 33rd
Annual Meeting, August 23-25, 2001 Huntsville, Ontario.

-

“Natural Gas Delivery Regulation in Canada”, HRAC Conference on Natural Gas in
Nova Scotia, Halifax, Nova Scotia, August 25, 1999.

-

“Licensing as a Regulatory Approach” Thirteenth Annual CAMPUT Regulatory
Educational Conference, Saint John, New Brunswick, May 4, 1999.

-

“The Impact of Restructuring Electricity Markets on Customers”, West Kootenay Power
1998 Annual Conference, The Dawn of Customer Choice, Kelowna, B.C., Dec. 2, 1998.

-

“Gaining Access to the Retail Customer”, Electricity Competition in Ontario, New Rule,
New Opportunities, New Players (Canadian Institute Conference), Toronto, Oct. 1998.

-

“The Future: Mega-BTU Inc.?” (Plenary session) Twelfth Annual CAMPUT Regulatory
Educational Conference, Banff, Alberta, April 27, 1998.

-

“Protecting Low Income Consumers’ Access: Lessons Learned From Other Countries,”
Twelfth Annual Energy Affordability Conference, National Consumers Law Center,
Washington, D.C, February 26-27, 1998.

-

“Competition: What happens downstream of the meter?” (Plenary) Eleventh Annual
CAMPUT Regulatory Educ. Conference, Whistler, B.C., May 6, 1997.

-

“Brokers, Marketers and the Public Interest” Eleventh Annual CAMPUT Regulatory
Educational Conference, Whistler, B.C., May 6, 1997.

-

“Separation of Gas Supply, Merchant Functions & Other Alternatives,” Tenth Annual
CAMPUT Regulatory Educ. Conf., Niagara-on-the Lake, May 1, 1996.

-

“The Impact of Deregulation on the Public Interest,” Tenth Annual CAMPUT Regulatory
Educational Conference, Niagara-on-the Lake, April 30, 1996.
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Presentations (cont'd)
-

“Marketing to Low and Moderate Income Consumers in the New Competitive Market:
Lessons Learned From Other Industries,” Tenth Annual Energy Affordability Conference,
National Consumers Law Center, Washington, D.C, February 22, 1996.

-

“Where Should We be Going?” OEB Ten Year Market Review Workshop, Jan. 31, 1996.

-

“Restructuring the Electrical Power Industry in Ontario” for the Board of Directors of
Ontario Hydro on behalf of the Power Workers’ Union, August, 1995.

-

"A New Vision for Ontario's Electric Demand/Supply Future" panel presentation,
Opening Plenary Session of the Canadian Independent Power Conference, Toronto,
Dec. 1993.

-

"Trends in Rental Housing Affordability by Income Level in Ontario" presented at the
1992 meetings of the Canadian Economics Assoc., Charlottetown, PEI.

-

"An Evaluation of Rent Regulation as an Instrument for Meeting the Housing Needs of
Renters in Ontario," presented to the Ontario Standing Committee on General
Government, August, 1991.

-

with S.W. Hamilton (Sept 1990) "Housing and the Regulatory Environment", a paper
presented at the Housing Young Families Affordability Symposium, (Vancouver:
Canadian Housing and Renewal Association/Canada Mortgage and Housing Corp.)

-

"New Telecommunications Technologies: Who Pays? Who Benefits?" presented at the
1990 (June) meetings of the Canadian Economics Assoc., Victoria, B.C.

-

with W.T. Stanbury, (1989) "Rent Controls as a Prisoner of War Game", Canadian Real
Estate Research Bureau, Faculty of Commerce and Business Administration, University
of British Columbia, #89-ULE-019.

-

"The Implications of Rent Regulation for Housing Market Models" presented at 1989
(June) meetings of the Canadian Economics Association, Quebec City.

-

"Price Caps - An Alternative to Rate of Return Regulation?" at the Canadian Association
of Members of Public Utility Tribunals/Centre for the Study of Regulated Industries,
Annual Regulatory Studies Training Programme, McGill University, May 14-18, 1989.

-

"Living with Rent Regulation in Ontario" at the 35th North American meetings of the
Regional Sciences Association, Toronto, November 1988.

-

"A Survey of the Research of the Thom Commission," at Rent Control: The International
Experience, John Deutsch Institute Roundtable, Queen's University, September, 1987.

-

Invited address on "Forecasting the Regulatory Environment of Financial Institutions"
sponsored by the University of Michigan - Flint as the 1985 paper for their annual
Lectures on the American Economy and the Business Community series.

-

"Collapsing Barriers Between Banking and Other Financial Institutions" at the 1984
Canadian MBA Conference, McMaster University.

-

The economic impact of cultural activities for conferences of National Museums of
Canada, Canadian Conference on Heritage Resources, Canadian Museums
Association, Ontario Association of Art Galleries, and Ontario Federation of Symphony
Orchestras.
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Publications
Refereed Books and Monographs:
-

with W.T. Stanbury (February 1990) Rent Regulation: The Ontario Experience,
(Vancouver: The Canadian Real Estate Research Bureau).

-

with W.T. Stanbury (January 1990) The Housing Crisis: The Effects of Local
Government Regulation, (Vancouver: The Laurier Institute).

-

with T. Courchene and L. Schwartz (October 1986) Ontario's Proposals for the Canadian
Securities Industry, Observation No. 29, (Toronto: C.D. Howe Inst.).

-

(1983) Price Competition in the Canadian Securities Industry: A Test Case of
Deregulation, (Toronto: Ontario Economic Council).

-

with G.F. Mathewson (1982) Information Entry and Regulation in Markets for Life
Insurance - Part II Overview and Policy Implications, (Toronto: Ontario Economic
Council).

Refereed Articles:
-

with W.T.Stanbury (1990) "Landlords as Economic Prisoners of War", Canadian Public
Policy, XVI no.4.

-

with G.D. Quirin and S.P. Sethi (1977) "Market Feedbacks and the Limits to Growth",
INFOR, Vol. 15, No. 1.

Other Publications:
-

(1992) Technology, Competition and Cross-subsidization in the Canadian
Telecommunications Industry, (Ottawa: Public Interest Advocacy Centre).

-

(April 1990) Paying for What You Need: Technological Advances and Competition in
Telecommunications, (Ottawa: Public Interest Advocacy Centre).

-

with Andrew Roman and Robert Horwood, (1989) Insurance Retailing by Financial
Institutions in Canada, (Ottawa: Public Interest Research Centre).

-

with Douglas G. Hartle (1983) "The TAX-2 Model and Results" in A Separate Personal
Income Tax for Ontario: An Economic Analysis, Special Research Report, (Toronto:
Ontario Economic Council).

-

(1982) "Commentary" in Inflation and the Taxation of Personal Investment Income: An
Analysis and Evaluation of the Canadian 1982 Reform Proposals (edit. D.W. Conklin),
Special Research Report (Toronto: Ontario Economic Council).

Teaching
1989
1979-85
1982-85
1979
1977-79
1980-85

Economics of Housing, Scarborough College, University of Toronto
Engineering Economy, Faculty of Engineering, University of Toronto
Computerized Business Systems (B.A. Program), and Management Information
Systems (M.B.A.), Canadian School of Management
Introductory Economics at St. George Campus, University of Toronto
Economic Principles at Erindale College, University of Toronto
Scuba diving instruction for Basic Diver, Sport Diver, Assistant Instructor and
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Instructor courses (National Association of Underwater Instructors).

Research Management
1983-87:

Research Director: Commission of Inquiry Into Residential Tenancies.
Directing a staff of four in-house researchers on various background studies on
Ontario's housing market and the literature related to rent regulation. Managed
thirty external projects on topics related to the housing market and rent
regulation.

1978-80:

Research Officer: Ontario Economic Council.
Research was conducted in the areas of regulation of the securities industry,
mineral resource taxation policy, and Federal-Provincial energy policy.
Other duties included managing ten external research contracts on topics in
regulation and directing the work of research assistants.

Other Activities
-

Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Ontario Energy Marketers Association
(formerly the Direct Purchase Industry Committee) and Executive Director of the
Association.

-

Invited participant in the Ontario Energy Board’s External Advisory Committee.

-

Panelist for “Administrative Tribunals and ADR”, Osgoode Hall Law School,
Professional Development Program, Continuing Legal Education, April 1997.

-

Participation on behalf of OCAP in consultative processes related to direct purchase and
integrated resource planning in the Ontario natural gas industry.

-

Former Member of the Board of Directors of East Toronto Community Legal Services.

-

Former Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Festival of Canadian Theatre.

-

Articles in the editorial section of the Financial Times of Canada on policies for reforming
Ontario's system of rent regulation (June 1990) and federal proposals regarding bank
directorships (February 1991).

-

Numerous appearances on CBC radio and television commenting on competition,
regulation and mergers in the Canadian economy.

-

Refereed articles and research studies for Canadian Public Policy, Queen's Quarterly
and Consumer and Corporate Affairs, Canada.
Several organizations have been assisted in developing their research agendas, writing
submissions to government on economic issue, or in other advisory capacities. Clients
include the Public Interest Research Centre (topics include airline deregulation, Via Rail,
telephone solicitation, Bell Canada's rate structure, frequent flyer programs, price cap
regulation, and home equity conversion), Ontario Association of Art Galleries (arts
funding and economic impact), Public Affairs Management, Inc., City of Toronto, Parks
and Recreation Department, and Goldfarb Consultants.

-

John D. Todd: Research/Consulting Profile
c.v.-16

Clients
Private Sector Companies
Alfred Bunting & Co.
Auto Haulaway Inc.
BC Gas Utilities Limited (now Terasen)
BC Rail
Buttcon Ltd.
Canavest House Ltd.
Canadian National Investments
Comdisco Canada Inc.
Coral Energy
ENERconnect
Enbridge Gas Distribution
EnCana Corporation
Enron Trade and Capital Canada
Financial Times of Canada
Fine Line Communications Ltd.
Fuji Electric (Tokyo)
Goldfarb Consultants
Great West Life Assurance Company
Highmark Properties
Hydro One Networks Inc.
McLeod Young Weir
Ontario Hydro Services Company
Shulman Communications Inc.
Sithe Canada
Star Produce
The Morassutti Group
Wirebury Connections Inc.
Industry and Other Associations
Association for Furthering Ontario's Rental Development
Australian Merchant Bankers' Association
Canadian Business Telecommunications Alliance
Canadian Film and Television Association
Canadian Independent Telephone Association
Canadian Museums Association
Manitoba Keewatinowi Okimakanak
Ontario Association of Art Galleries
Ontario Federation of Symphony Orchestras
Power Workers' Union (CUPE 1000)
Toronto Theatre Alliance
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Clients (cont'd)
Consumers' Associations
Alberta Council on Aging
Alert on Welfare
British Columbia Old Age Pensioners' Association
Canadian Pensioners Concerned
(Nova Scotia Division)
Consumers Association Of Canada
(National)
(Manitoba Branch)
(Alberta Branch)
(Northwest Territories Branch)
Consumers Fight Back Association
Council of Senior Citizens' Organizations
Co-operative Housing Association of Ontario
Federated Anti-Poverty Groups of British Columbia
Action réseau consommateurs (formerly La Fédération
Nationale des Associations de Consommateurs du Québec)
Manitoba Society for Seniors
The National Anti-Poverty Organization
Nova Scotia League for Equal Opportunities
Ontario Coalition Against Poverty
Option Consommateurs
PEI Council for the Disabled
PEI Senior Citizens Federation
People on Welfare for Equal Rights
Public Interest Research Centre
Rural Dignity of Canada
Rural Dignity, PEI Chapter
Senior Citizen' Association
Social Action Commission
Counsel for Consumers' Associations
British Columbia Public Interest Advocacy Centre
Legal Aid Manitoba, Public Interest Law Centre
Public Interest Advocacy Centre (Ottawa)
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Clients (cont'd)
Government
Federal
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation
Canadian Conference on Heritage Resources
Consumer and Corporate Affairs (Canada)
Department of Communications (Canada)
Director of Investigation and Research, Combines Investigation Act
St. Lawrence Seaway Authority
Provincial
Alberta Department of Energy
Commission of Inquiry into Residential Tenancies
Niagara Region Review Commission
Ontario Economic Council
Ontario Energy Board
Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, Department of Educational Planning
Ontario Ministry of Community and Social Services
Ontario Ministry of Health
Ontario Ministry of Housing (Corporate Policy and Planning; Rent Review Policy,
Housing Field Operations)
Ontario Securities Commission
Ontario Task Force on the Investment of Public Sector Pension Funds
Ottawa/Carleton Region Review Commission
University of Toronto
Other
City of Calgary Electrical System
City of Peterborough
City of Toronto, (Telecom; Housing; Parks and Recreation)
Manitoba NDP Caucus
Office of Fair Trading (United Kingdom)
Toronto Harbour Commissioners
Four municipally operated public utility telephone system

ICBC July 5th Filing with the BC Utilities Commission

Appendix 1F – Comparison of the 2004 and
2005 Results Using the Recommended
Methodology
Comparison of the recommended methodology and the current methodology using 2004
operating expenditure
$ in thousands

2004
Basic
Insurance

Current Allocation Method
Claims Services

Optional
Insurance

Subtotal

A

Allocation %
Non
Insurance

152,832

88,533

241,365

Road Safety and Loss Mngmt

43,667

2,532

46,199

Insurance Services

26,967

21,561

48,528

Admin and Other

62,861

30,501

93,362

(16,796)

(13,251)

(30,047)

73,032

38,811

111,843

29,286

141,129

269,531

129,876

399,407

29,863

429,270

Premium Financing Plan Recoveries
Total Allocated
A

577

Basic
Ins.

Total

Optional
Ins.

Non
Ins.

Total

241,942

63.2%

36.6%

0.2%

100.0%

46,199

94.5%

5.5%

0.0%

100.0%

11,487

60,015

44.9%

35.9%

19.1%

100.0%

17,800

111,162

56.5%

27.4%

16.0%

100.0%

(30,047)

55.9%

44.1%

0.0%

100.0%

62.8%

30.3%

7.0%

100.0%

See Section 4 for inclusion of the amounts in bold on the 2003 Financial Allocation Of Revenues and Costs

2004

$ in thousands
Basic
Insurance

Recommended allocation
Methodology

Optional
Insurance

Non
Insurance

Subtotal

Claims Services - Non Ins.

153,114

Road Safety

88,251

38,139
1

Optional
Ins.

Non
Ins.

Total

577

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

100.0%

11,487

11,487

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

100.0%

17,800

17,800

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

100.0%

241,365

241,365

63.4%

36.6%

0.0%

100.0%

38,139

38,139

100.0%

0.0%

0.0%

100.0%

Admin and Other - Non Ins.
Claims Services - Remainder

Basic
Ins.

Total

577

Insurance Services - Non Ins.

1

Allocation %

5,113

2,947

8,060

8,060

63.4%

36.6%

0.0%

100.0%

27,195

21,333

48,528

48,528

56.0%

44.0%

0.0%

100.0%

61,775

31,587

93,362

93,362

66.2%

33.8%

0.0%

100.0%

Premium Financing Plan Recoveries

(16,838)

(13,209)

(30,047)

(30,047)

56.0%

44.0%

0.0%

100.0%

72,132

39,711

111,843

Total Allocated

268,498

130,909

399,407

29,863

429,270

62.5%

30.5%

7.0%

100.0%

(1,033)

1,033

0

0

0

Loss Mngmt

Insurance Services - Remainder
Admin and Other - Remainder

2

3

Difference ( )=decrease in costs

111,843

1: Allocated on the 2004 Claims Incurred ratio
2: Allocated on the 2004 Overall Premiums Ratio
3: Allocated on a weighted average of the ratios used to allocate Claims Services, Insurance Services & Road Safety
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Comparison of the recommended methodology and the current methodology using 2005
operating expenditure
$ in thousands

2005
Basic
Insurance

Current Allocation Method
Claims Services
Road Safety and Loss Mngmt

Optional
Insurance

Subtotal

A

Allocation %
Non
Insurance

Basic
Ins.

Total

Optional
Ins.

Non
Ins.

Total

155,049

89,824

244,873

244,873

63.3%

36.7%

0.0% 100.0%

45,809

2,655

48,464

48,464

94.5%

5.5%

0.0% 100.0%

Insurance Services

26,646

21,308

47,954

11,500

59,454

44.8%

35.8%

19.3% 100.0%

Admin and Other

69,061

33,514

102,575

17,800

120,375

57.4%

27.8%

14.8% 100.0%

(18,980)

(14,973)

(33,953)

(33,953)

55.9%

44.1%

0.0% 100.0%

76,727

39,849

116,576

29,300

145,876

277,585

132,328

409,913

29,300

439,213

63.2%

30.1%

6.7% 100.0%

Premium Financing Plan
Recoveries
Total Allocated
A

See Section 4 for inclusion of the amounts in bold on the 2003 Financial Allocation Of Revenues and Costs

$ in thousands

2005
Recommended allocation
Methodology

Basic
Insurance

Optional
Insurance

Subtotal

Insurance Services - Non Ins.

Claims Services - Remainder

151,112

Road Safety
Loss Mngmt

93,761

40,404
1

Insurance Services - Remainder 2
Admin and Other - Remainder

3

Premium Financing Plan
Recoveries

Total Allocated

Difference ( )=decrease in costs

Non
Insurance

Basic
Ins.

Total

Optional
Ins.

Non
Ins.

Total

11,500

11,500

0.0%

0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

17,800

17,800

0.0%

0.0% 100.0% 100.0%

244,873

244,873

61.7%

38.3%

0.0% 100.0%

40,404

40,404

100.0%

0.0%

0.0% 100.0%

Admin and Other - Non Ins.
1

Allocation %

4,974

3,086

8,060

8,060

61.7%

38.3%

0.0% 100.0%

27,516

20,438

47,954

47,954

57.4%

42.6%

0.0% 100.0%

67,049

35,526

102,575

102,575

65.4%

34.6%

0.0% 100.0%

(19,482)

(14,471)

(33,953)

(33,953)

57.4%

42.6%

0.0% 100.0%

75,083

41,493

116,576

116,576

271,573

138,340

409,913

29,300

439,213

61.8%

31.5%

6.7% 100.0%

(6,012)

6,012

0

0

0

1: Allocated on the 2005 Claims Incurred ratio
2: Allocated on the 2005 Premiums Written Ratio
3: Allocated on a weighted average of the ratios used to allocate Claims Services, Insurance Services & Road Safety

2005 Non-insurance expenditure estimated to be in line with 2004.
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Appendix 1G – Reconciliation of 2003
Operating Costs
Reconciliation of 2003 Operating Expenses as in Section 4, " Financial Allocation of Revenues and Costs"
to Operating Expenses contained in Section 5 and Appendix B
Section

(Dollars in Thousands)

Basic

Optional

4.2.2

Claims Services

148,686

4.2.4

Operating Costs
Administrative and Other Expenses
Insurance Services
Premium Financing Plan Recoveries
Total Operating Costs

Premium Taxes and Commissions
Premium Taxes
Commission
DPAC Adjustment
Total Premium Taxes and Commission

4.2.5

4.4

Sub Total *

Non Insurance

529

Total **

86,928

235,614

236,143

60,421
22,765
(14,819)
68,367

33,944
18,442
(11,691)
40,696

94,365
41,207
(26,509)
109,063

17,758
9,893
27,651

112,123
51,100
(26,509)
136,714

63,968
32,353
(1,364)
94,957

47,982
162,962
(31,062)
179,882

111,950
195,315
(32,426)
274,839

16,085
16,085

111,950
211,400
(32,426)
290,924

NON INSURANCE
Operating Costs - Non Insurance
Claims Services, Administrative & Other
Expenses, & Insurance Services (noted above
in Section 4.2.2, 4.2.4, 4.2.5)
Drivers Services
Payment to the Province
Commercial Vehicle Services
Total Operating Costs - Non Insurance

-

-

-

28,180
35,665
16,888
5,783
86,516

28,180
35,665
16,888
5,783
86,516

Commission (noted above in Section 4.2.5)

-

-

-

16,085

16,085

Total Non Insurance

-

-

-

102,601

102,601

* Sub Total as per Annual Report
** Sub Total as per Appendix 1B
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Appendix 1H – 2003 Annual Report

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia
July 5, 2004

1-103

Profile

Vision

The Insurance Corporation of British
Columbia (ICBC or the Corporation)
is a provincial crown corporation established in 1973 to provide universal
compulsory automobile insurance (basic product) to BC motorists. In addition,
ICBC competes with other insurance
companies in the sale of optional insurance products. ICBC is one of Canada’s
largest property and casualty insurers
with over $2.9 billion in premiums written and $6.8 billion in assets, and
employs approximately 4,750 people.

ICBC will be the leading insurance company in all aspects of its business,
operating competitively and valued by its customers.

ICBC offers insurance products to more
than 2.7 million motorists through a network of over 900 brokers and provides
claims handling services at 41 locations
throughout BC. In addition, ICBC provides vehicle and driver licensing services
and vehicle registration services on behalf of the provincial government. ICBC
invests in loss management and road
safety programs to reduce crashes and
automobile crime, which benefit customers by minimizing insurance premiums.
In 2003, the British Columbia Utilities
Commission was appointed as the independent regulator for ICBC, with
primary responsibility for approving
basic insurance rates and to ensure that
basic premiums do not subsidize optional insurance.

Mission
ICBC’s mission is to be the insurer of choice delivering insurance
products, licensing services, road safety, and other loss management
initiatives that are superior, innovative and valued by our customers,
at the lowest cost possible. Our reputation will be as a dependable,
fair, equitable and competitive service provider.
ICBC will accomplish this with our dedicated employees working in a
performance based culture achieving operational excellence with the
assistance of our independent broker force and other business partners.

Corporate Goals
In support of ICBC’s mission, four corporate goals have been established for moving forward into 2004 to 2006:
• Become more competitive
• Be customer focused
• Be revenue driven and fiscally responsible
• Develop accountable, capable and engaged people.

Corporate Values
In providing valued products and services, ICBC is guided by these
corporate values:
• Integrity
• Commitment
• Dedication to the Customer

Customer owned, customer driven
In 2003 ICBC conducted a corporate wide employee contest to select a new internal slogan which would capture in one memorable
phrase what inspires and connects all ICBC employees. Customer owned,
customer driven was chosen as the winner as it captures ICBC’s mission and vision, and provides a strong internal identity for ICBC.
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March 31, 2004
Honourable Rich Coleman
Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General
Minister Responsible for ICBC

Dear Minister:
On behalf of the Board of Directors, senior management and employees, it is my
privilege to submit the Annual Report of the Insurance Corporation of British
Columbia (ICBC) for the year ended December 31, 2003, which has been prepared
in accordance with the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act. I am accountable
for the contents of this report, including the Report on Performance, which identifies the organization’s success in obtaining its goals and objectives. Significant
decisions, events and identified risks, as of December 31, 2003, have been considered in preparing the report.
Sincerely,

T. Richard Turner
Chair
Board of Directors
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Performance Highlights

Net Income
($ Millions)

225

Net Income
In 2003, ICBC recorded a net income of $225 million, which will stay in the Corporation to build retained
earnings and enable a low and stable rate environment
to prevail.

139
96
45
(251)
1999

2002

2000

2003

2001

Controllable Costs

Controllable Costs

After more than 26% reduction in costs since 2000,
ICBC’s focus on fiscal restraint kept controllable cost
increases to a minimum in 2003, despite ongoing upward pressures.

($ Millions)
635.5
566.3

624.6

469.3

461.7

*These years have not been restated to conform to the financial allocation
methodology developed in 2003 for the segregation of revenues and
costs between the basic, optional and non-insurance businesses.
1999*

2000* 2001
2002
2003
Insurance
Non-Insurance

Combined Ratio

Combined Ratio

128.8%

The combined ratio declined in 2003 due to good
driving conditions throughout most of the year and
continued focus on cost control and claims management. Premiums also increased in 2003. The combined
ratio is a standard industry measure of profitability.

114.9% 111.3%

110.7%

103.7%

**Prior years’ actual have been restated to conform to the revised
method of calculation, which includes non-insurance operating costs.
1999** 2000** 2001** 2002** 2003
Non-insurance Expense
Claims & claims related expenses
and insurance expenses

Customer Satisfaction
Customer satisfaction levels for insurance and driver services transactions improved in 2003. A slight decline
occurred in claims customer satisfaction due in part to
changes in the business and current labour negotiations.

Investment Income
ICBC’s investment income was marginally higher in
2003 at $330 million resulting in an investment return
of 5.3%. Portfolio unrealized gains are significantly
higher at $370 million as at December 31, 2003, and
investment performance exceeded the portfolio performance benchmark.

Customer Satisfaction
(%)

92 93 95

86

Insurance
Driver Services
2001 Actual
2002 Actual

85 84

Claims
2003 Actual

Investment Income
($ Millions)

625.7

449.2

454.0
327.3

1999

3

89 90 91

2000
2001
Other Income

330.0

2002
2003
Gains

Insurance Corporation of British Columbia

Key Financial and Operating Comparatives
Five-year Comparison
For The Years Ended December 31

Premiums earned ($000)
Claims incurred during the year ($000)
Prior years’ claims adjustments ($000)

1

Claims services and operating costs ($000)
Insurance premium taxes and commissions ($000)
Investment income ($000)
Net income (loss) for the year ($000)
Cash and investments at year end ($000)
Total assets ($000)
Retained earnings ($000)
Autoplan policies earned

3

Average premium ($)4
Claims reported during year

2

2003

2002

2001

2000

1999

2,859,487
2,208,140
10,392
382,763
274,839
329,936
224,807

2,628,493
2,193,492

2,447,066
2,126,250

2,387,031
2,006,151

2,382,411
2,080,270

6,436,189
6,810,145
535,879

5,857,937
6,166,390
314,190

5,548,362
5,835,233
269,222

5,853,669
6,196,354
519,741

5,609,405
5,945,871
381,001

2,750,000
1,009
931,000

2,705,000
960
1,072,000

2,661,000
888
1,105,000

2,614,000
882

2,572,000
888

1,026,000

1,029,000

(24,791)
377,810
249,778
327,269
44,968

2,230
464,845
301,758
453,955
(250,519)

(266,336)
545,369
264,830
625,660
138,740

(238,200)
536,431
256,492
449,188
95,723

Loss ratio:
Current year (%)
Prior years' claims adjustments (%)
Loss ratio (%)
Insurance expense ratio (%) 5
Number of employees 6
1
2
3
4
5

6

1

86.8
0.4

93.7
(0.9)

87.2
14.5
4,754

92.8
14.7
5,100

99.8
0.1

98.0
(11.2)

101.3
(10.0)

99.9
16.4
5,625

86.8
19.4
6,436

91.3
18.7
5,976

( ) denotes a favourable adjustment, i.e. a reduction in expense.
Insurance premium taxes and commissions are net of Deferred Premium Acquisition Cost (DPAC) Adjustments.
Annualized values have been used for policies with a term of less than 12 months.
Average premium is based on premiums earned.
Insurance expense ratio is based on insurance operating costs as a percentage of premiums earned (excludes non-insurance costs and
non-recurring items).
Effective April 1st, 2003 Compliance Operations was transferred back to Government (286 employees transferred). Number of employees
is based on year end full time equivalents.

Certain comparative figures have been restated to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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Message from the Chair
2003 has been a landmark year for the Insurance Corporation of BC (ICBC). The Corporation has enjoyed a successful year financially, achieved through the dedication and hard work
of employees in cooperation with ICBC’s key business partners.

F
O
P

The transformation, which began three years ago with significant cost reduction efforts, contributed to the successes of today and has prepared ICBC for the challenges ahead. The
financial success of 2003 will serve customers well in the future as it contributes to the
financial health and stability of the Corporation, and enables a low and stable rate environment to prevail in BC.
In 2003, a milestone was reached in ICBC’s history with the British Columbia Utilities
Commission becoming the independent regulator for ICBC’s basic insurance business. The open and transparent regulatory process provides assurance to customers that basic insurance rates are fair, just and reasonable.
With recent legislative changes affecting BC’s optional auto insurance market, ICBC is preparing to operate
on a similar basis as its competitors. In this new environment, ICBC embraces the opportunity to be the
insurer of choice in delivering value to customers at the lowest cost possible. Further changes are on the
horizon to continue to build financial strength and move along the continuum to operate as a sustainable
and performance driven organization. Ultimately, it will be the customer who will decide ICBC’s future
success in this market.
The past year can be characterized as one of considerable progress and improvement. The next few years hold
much of the same as ICBC remains steadfast in its course to becoming the leading insurance company,
operating competitively and valued by its customers.

T. Richard Turner
Chair
Board of Directors
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Customer Owned,
Customer Driven…

…to be the leading insurance company
in all aspects of its business,
operating competitively and
valued by its customers
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Message from the President & CEO
In 2003, ICBC made significant progress towards achieving the vision set for becoming the
leading insurer and operating competitively. With the help of our employees, our customers
and our business partners, progress was made to make ICBC financially stronger and more
efficient, and enable the Corporation to deliver products and services that are superior, innovative and valued by customers.

F
O
P

ICBC recorded a net income of $225 million for the year as compared to $45 million for the
prior year. ICBC’s net income stays in the company to protect customers against unexpected
events, and helps to keep rates as low and stable as possible in the future. It is particularly
encouraging that the improved results for the year were achieved with a minimal increase in
rates overall of 4.8% for 2003, of which 1.4%, less than inflation, relates to the increase in
basic premiums for private passenger vehicles. ICBC needs to build its retained earnings as we move to a level
playing field with our competitors. The positive performance came as a result of changes in the insurance
product, improvements in claims experience, and a continued focus on cost control, while providing high levels
of service to our customers. During 2003, operating costs were kept under control and the expense ratio for
ICBC, before considering non-insurance expenses, declined further to 14.5% in 2003 as compared to 14.7%
in 2002.
On the claims side, which always represents the most significant cost to an insurance company, there was a
reduction in claims volumes for vehicle damage related claims, in part due to the favorable driving conditions
experienced during most of 2003, and in part due to changes to insurance policies and other programs.
However, bodily injury settlements remain a concern and continue to increase in both smaller and larger value
claims. With the introduction of the enhanced Graduated Licensing Program, it is anticipated that there will be
a further reduction in crashes and injuries to new drivers in the years to come.
This past year saw a number of changes implemented or under consideration, which will affect ICBC for
many years to come. The objective of transitioning to a performance-based culture was further advanced
within ICBC with the introduction of a new performance-based contract with the auto repair industry. In the
summer, ICBC made its first presentation to the BC Utilities Commission, the new regulator for ICBC’s basic
insurance business, and obtained approval for basic rates in 2004. New legislation was also introduced in the
BC Legislature, with the aim of providing for a more level playing field for optional insurance.
As a result of the successes in 2003, the financial picture of ICBC has improved for the future. With our
dedicated employees and the many programs in place to reduce crashes and costs, we look forward to continuing to run like a business, for the benefit of customers, to provide the lowest rates possible.

Nick Geer
President and CEO
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Customer Driven…

…to work with a range
of business partners providing
specialized services
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Corporate Overview
The Insurance Corporation of British Columbia (ICBC) is a provincial crown corporation established in 1973 under the Insurance Corporation Act, to provide universal auto insurance to BC motorists.
At the time it was established, ICBC was the sole provider of auto insurance. Soon after inception,
the legislation was amended to allow private insurance companies to compete for the optional
insurance business. As part of its mandate, ICBC also provides vehicle licensing and registration
services on behalf of the province. In 1996, ICBC merged with the former Motor Vehicle Branch
(MVB) assuming responsibility for driver licensing services, road safety programs, and commercial
vehicle compliance (e.g. weigh scales and commercial vehicle inspections). As a result of government’s Core Services Review, the commercial vehicle compliance function was transferred back to
the provincial government during 2003.
The Insurance Corporation Act and the Insurance (Motor Vehicle) Act govern the Corporation. To improve accountability for rate setting and transparency, the British Columbia Utilities Commission
(BCUC) became the independent regulator for ICBC during 2003. As a crown corporation, ICBC
is also subject to legislation such as the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act, the Financial
Information Act, the Financial Administration Act, and the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy
Act. In addition, the Corporation has administrative and other duties and obligations under various
motor vehicle related acts.
ICBC is currently one of BC’s largest corporations, and one of Canada’s largest property and casualty (P&C) insurers. ICBC receives in excess of $2.9 billion in insurance premiums from more than
2.7 million customers annually. Through a network of over 900 independent brokers located throughout the province, ICBC provides insurance products, vehicle registration and licensing services.
ICBC’s customers are those who pay premiums or fees, and consist of all licensed and insured
motor vehicle owners and drivers in BC. ICBC also provides services to those involved in crashes or
victims of auto crime. ICBC’s business partners range from brokers, law enforcement agencies,
members of the auto repair industry, and health service providers, to defense lawyers. These partners are involved in different aspects of the insurance and claims processes, such as the purchase of
insurance, road safety programs, repair or replacement of damaged vehicles, the provision of medical and rehabilitation services, and the provision of legal services. The Corporation currently processes
approximately 930,000 claims per year through a 24 hour telephone claims handling facility and a
province-wide network of 41 claims centres. On behalf of the provincial government, ICBC provides vehicle and driver licensing services, vehicle registration, government debt collection and funding
for commercial vehicle compliance operations.
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Insurance Products and Services
Insurance and Claims
Similar to other vehicle owners across Canada, motorists in BC are required to purchase a basic package of
insurance. Private passenger and commercial vehicle
owners (excluding buses, taxis, limousines and extraprovincial trucking and transport vehicles which have
higher mandatory liability levels) are provided with
$200,000 in third-party legal liability protection,
$150,000 in no fault accident benefits and $1 million
of underinsured motorist protection. In BC, the basic
package is provided solely by ICBC. In addition to offering basic insurance, ICBC competes with other
automobile insurance companies in a competitive market in the sale of extended third-party legal liability
and other optional insurance coverages such as collision and comprehensive.

market while retaining ICBC as the sole provider of
basic auto insurance.
The automobile insurance product in BC is based on a
tort scheme. Under this system, injured parties are entitled to take the at-fault party to court and sue for the
full amount of his or her damages. In contrast, in provinces with variants of no-fault automobile insurance,
where compensation can be based on predetermined
benefit schedules regardless of who is at fault, maximum amounts can be established for pain and suffering
awards or awards can be subject to other deductibles.
In these provinces, there may be limited or no ability
to sue for further damages.
The difference between BC’s tort-based insurance product and other provinces’ no-fault or capped insurance
products, makes inter-provincial comparisons quite difficult since the related products and services, and cost
structures of each scheme are unique. Claims costs in
a tort environment are primarily driven by litigation
costs, claims settlement amounts, and legal precedents
which add a level of uncertainty and unpredictability
to costs. In a no-fault environment, costs are driven
predominantly by wage replacement and no-fault medical and rehabilitation costs. Comparisons should only
be made and interpreted with these differences in mind.

In late 2003, changes to legislation were introduced to
provide a more level playing field for selling optional
insurance. Previously, the Insurance (Motor Vehicle) Act
(IMVA) defined basic mandatory and optional insurance products sold by ICBC, and the Insurance Act (IA)
defined optional insurance products for the rest of the
automobile insurance industry. The two acts were restructured and renamed the Insurance (Vehicle) Act to
ensure that all optional automobile insurance policies
are governed by the same legislative provisions. The
amendments will implement government’s direction
to level the playing field in BC’s optional insurance

Loss Management and Road Safety
Enforcement Support

ICBC invests customers’ premiums in road safety and
loss management programs that provide a direct benefit through reduced claims costs. These programs help
keep premiums at the lowest rates possible.

ICBC provides funding to the Ministry of Public Safety
& Solicitor General for enhanced traffic law enforcement initiatives as outlined in agreements between the
Corporation and government that came into effect
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Auto Crime
Auto crime is a significant problem in British Columbia,
resulting in claims costs of approximately $122 million
in 2003. ICBC works with partners and volunteers to
develop community solutions to auto crime. These tactics include continued support for the Vancouver Police
Department’s Bait Car program, sharing the costs of increased parking lot patrols with Business Improvement
Associations, providing equipment for community policing groups to help identify stolen vehicles, and
supporting public awareness campaigns that encourage
motorists to take steps to protect their vehicles.

during 2003. These agreements improve the independence of enforcement bodies from ICBC. The
Corporation provides funding that enables the police
to devote additional resources to activities that reduce
traffic injuries and deaths caused by impaired driving,
aggressive driving and motorists not wearing seat belts.
ICBC’s funding also supports the Intersection Safety
Camera program.

Fraud Prevention

Autoplan Broker Road Safety Program

ICBC has a zero tolerance policy for all types of fraud
against the Corporation. ICBC’s Fraud Prevention &
Investigations (FPI) department focuses on combating
specific types of fraud such as material damage and
bodily injury fraud, staged accidents, vendor and premium fraud. In addition, the department undertakes
data analysis and innovative fraud detection techniques,
and investigates drivers’ license and identity fraud.

This road safety partnership was renewed in 1998 between ICBC and its brokers, to work together on
initiatives to make BC roads safer and reduce crashes.
Many of the programs undertaken involve working with
children and youth and their parents in local communities, helping to create strong community partnerships.
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Road Improvement and Road Safety Planning

Public Private Partnerships

ICBC works with key partners, such as the Ministry of
Transportation and municipalities, to make improvements to high-crash locations such as intersections, and
to highlight safety issues during the development of
new roads and communities. Through the Safer City
program, ICBC, local government, police and community stakeholders also work together to develop road
safety plans that address local problems.

ICBC participates with communities and private sector
organizations on innovative programs, such as the Road
Anti-Icing Program, changeable road advisory message
boards, and the development of a wildlife protection
system. Advancements in vehicle design are also being
made in partnership with vehicle manufacturers, and
during 2003, ICBC participated in developing a dynamic
test standard for head restraints that will begin to be
used by vehicle manufacturers during 2004.

Non-Insurance Services
Unlike traditional property and casualty insurers, ICBC
provides a number of non-insurance services on behalf of the provincial government. These services
include vehicle and driver licensing services, vehicle
registration, government debt collection and funding
for commercial vehicle compliance. During 2003, a
Service Agreement between the Government and

ICBC was established to outline the provision of these
services and the associated costs. The costs of these
non-insurance expenses, for which ICBC receives no
recovery, are funded through ICBC’s basic insurance
premiums, and amount to over $100 million annually
or about $37 per basic insurance policy.

Driver Licensing and Fines Collection
ICBC is responsible for the administration of the Graduated Licensing Program (GLP), which is designed to
help new drivers develop safe driving behaviours and
skills. Within the first two years of its inception, results
have shown that the GLP has been successful in reducing the province’s new driver crash rate by 26%.
Although the program has been working, novice drivers continue to be over-represented in crashes. BC’s
Solicitor General and ICBC partnered together to develop enhancements for the GLP in response to high
profile novice-stage driver crashes and recommendations from BC’s traffic safety stakeholders. The changes
announced in October 2003 included lengthening the
learner’s stage from 6 months to 12 months, lengthening the novice stage from 18 months to 24 months,
the introduction of a safe driving requirement for novice drivers and new passenger restrictions during the
novice stage.
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In addition to the GLP, ICBC works with driving schools
to raise training standards, and continues to investigate
better ways to test new drivers and improve safety on
BC’s roads. Driver licensing services are provided via
118 points-of-service including Driver Service Centres,
Expressways, Appointed Agents and Government
Agents’ offices throughout BC. On an annual basis,

ICBC processes approximately 900,000 driver licencing transactions and performs over 370,000 driver
exams. On behalf of the provincial government, ICBC
collected and remitted revenues of $420 million from
driver and vehicle licenses, fees and fines in 2003. The
Corporation also collects motor vehicle related debts
on behalf of government.

Vehicle Registration and Licensing
Since the mid 1970’s, the Corporation has been collecting vehicle registration and licensing fees, and
managing the issuance of vehicle license plates and
decals on behalf of the provincial government. ICBC
provides these services through its network of brokers
who perform registration and licensing functions at the

time of insurance purchase. The linkage between the
requirement for vehicle registration and licensing prior
to the issuance of insurance minimizes the number of
unlicensed and uninsured vehicles operating in BC. For
this reason, ICBC believes the percentage of uninsured
motorists in BC to be lower than most jurisdictions.

Compliance
As a result of government’s Core Services Review, the
commercial vehicle compliance and motor carrier functions were transferred back to the provincial
government on April 1, 2003. As part of the transfer,

ICBC has committed to provide annual funding of
$24.7 million to government for these functions up to
and including March 31, 2006.
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Year in Review
2003 has been a transformational year for ICBC with significant progress made in preparing the
Corporation for the competitive arena ahead. Early in the year, ICBC’s new vision and mission were
communicated province-wide setting direction for becoming the leading insurance company, operating competitively and valued by its customers. Supported by four corporate goals and seven key
objectives, the new direction is now entrenched within the Corporation, and is gaining momentum.
The internalization of these goals has helped the Corporation achieve the successes it has in 2003.
ICBC is in good financial health with net income of $225 million realized for 2003. These results
have been made possible through the hard work and dedication of employees with only minor
increases in premiums over the last few years. This year’s results are in stark contrast to the significant financial loss recorded by the Corporation only two years earlier. The net income will stay in
the company and will help ICBC restore its retained earnings base necessary to remain financially
viable, and to provide a low and stable rate environment for customers in future years.
During the year, ICBC continued to focus on managing claims costs and operational efficiency.
After the reductions undertaken in recent years, ICBC’s continued emphasis on fiscal restraint and
vigilance over operating costs has become the standard within the Corporation. On the investment
front, ICBC recorded investment income of $330 million in 2003 and exceeded the portfolio
performance benchmark. In 2003, the Telus property was sold at a small profit and the Central City
development was completed. Throughout operations and support areas, changes were made to
become more efficient, increase the value received by the Corporation and align ICBC’s infrastructure with changing business needs.
In May 2003, the Honourable Rich Coleman was appointed as the Minister Responsible for ICBC.
Late in the year, T. Richard Turner was appointed as Chair and was also appointed to ICBC’s Board
of Directors. Nick Geer, who was the previous Chair, continued in the role of President and CEO.
This Board Chair change strengthens the governance structure within ICBC by ensuring the Board
of Directors is independent of management.
With the outcomes of government’s Core Services Review announced in late 2002, this past year
can be characterized as a year of change as the environment in which ICBC will be operating in the
future was being defined. In May, legislative changes were made to appoint the British Columbia
Utilities Commission (BCUC) as the independent regulator for ICBC whose role is to review and
approve ICBC’s basic insurance rates, and to establish a more open and transparent process for the
setting of rates. Under this new regulatory environment, ICBC submitted its first rate application to
BCUC and underwent its first regulatory review process. Considerable work was required to develop the rate application, appear before BCUC and address the questions raised by BCUC and
numerous intervenors. The process concluded with BCUC granting approval for a rate increase of
0.4% for the basic insurance product in 2004, to pass on an increase in premium tax effective
January 1, 2004. A similar increase was also announced for ICBC’s optional insurance product.
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Another significant change in 2003 was the introduction of Bill 93, the Insurance (Motor Vehicle)
Amendment Act. This Act implements government’s
commitment to increase competition in the auto insurance market in BC. These changes, which are
expected to come into force in 2004, will require
ICBC to issue a separate contract for optional insurance and, subject to regulations, require the
Corporation to share certain aggregate insurance data
with the industry. ICBC will continue to transition its
business processes and systems to comply with these
new requirements, and become more competitive.

managed, to capitalize on technology improvements and
to realize efficiencies. During the year, ICBC piloted
Online Claims reporting, which is a web application to
enable customers to report, via icbc.com, claims which
meet certain criteria. As part of the overall strategy for
operations, an alternative business operating model was
also piloted in 2003 for servicing bodily injury claims
via the telephone.
Consistent with the desire to shift from a culture of
entitlement to one of performance, ICBC introduced
a performance management system for all management
and confidential employees to align employees’ efforts
and priorities with the objectives of the Corporation in
2003. This same approach is also starting to be adopted
in establishing relationships with outside business partners and vendors. As an example, in 2003 ICBC
reached an agreement with the collision repair industry for a performance-based contract.

In late 2003, the Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General implemented enhancements to the
Graduated Licensing Program to address the human
and monetary costs associated with inexperienced new
drivers. Changes to optional coverage deductibles were
also made in 2003 to ensure that people who are
making a significant number of claims are only eligible
for higher deductibles.

In 2003, ICBC also developed and began to execute a
long term human resource strategy aimed at developing
the workforce of today, and cultivating employees for a
more competitive future. This strategy is paramount to
ICBC achieving its goal of developing a workforce of
accountable, capable and engaged people.

ICBC’s approach to customer interactions is based on
its core values of integrity and dedication to the customer. The Corporation has formal processes in place
to deal with issues around fairness, and ultimately, a
customer has the ability to direct an issue to ICBC’s
Fairness Commissioner. The Commissioner provides
an independent, arms length review of fairness concerns that have not been resolved through normal
channels. In 2003, the Fairness Commissioner released
its second annual report showing that the Corporation had fewer enquiries directed at the Commissioner
in 2002 than it did in the previous year.

The collective agreement with the Office and Professional Employees International Union (OPEIU), which
covers approximately 90% of the workforce, expired
on June 30, 2003. The OPEIU and ICBC participated
in a number of bargaining and mediation sessions in
order to reach a new agreement. ICBC believes that
changes to the collective agreement are essential to
achieving its vision, and will continue to attempt to reach
a new agreement that best positions ICBC to be successful over the long term and that is fair for employees.

ICBC is recognized as a leader in the call centre industry and has introduced a number of initiatives in 2003
to improve the way in which customer contacts are

Looking Forward
For 2004 and future years, ICBC will continue to pursue the goals and objectives to achieve its vision – to be
the leading insurance company, operating competitively
and valued by its customers. Details of ICBC’s support-

ing strategies, plans, performance measures and targets are set out in ICBC’s 2004-2006 Service Plan.
The Service Plan also provides a description of the key
strategic issues and risks facing the Corporation, and
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their potential impact on future performance. Key priorities for ICBC in 2004 will be to continue to invest in
changes required to position ICBC to compete effectively, develop the internal capacity to effectively and
efficiently meet regulatory requirements, and continue

to achieve positive financial results and strengthen its
retained earnings base. ICBC is customer owned and
customer driven, and its future success is dependent upon
the support of customers and the ability to provide the
service they expect, at a price that is reasonable.

Summary Financial Performance and Outlook
The table below provides ICBC’s performance and forecast of financial results for the next three years, as set out
in the Service Plan, and forms the basis upon which the
key performance targets are set. A discussion of ICBC’s
results in 2003 is provided in the Report on Performance, and Management Discussion and Analysis.

in deductibles and a continued focus on claims costs.
Included in claims incurred cost is the net impact of a
positive adjustment to prior years’ claims for improvements in injury reserves offset by a negative adjustment
for legal tariff related to current and prior years’ claims.
In addition, ICBC continued its vigilance over controllable costs resulting in savings of over $60 million for
the year as compared to the estimate included in the
budget. Changes in other areas included deferred premium acquisition costs and investment income, which
accounted for a further improvement of over $25 million as compared to the budget.

In 2003, ICBC’s year-end net income of $225 million
significantly exceeded its budget of $45 million. These
results are attributable to a number of positive variances,
which occurred during 2003. Premium revenue increased by over $50 million as compared to the budget
resulting from an increase in the average premium per
policy due to purchases of more coverages and to retention of the existing market share of ICBC. With an
increase in premiums, premium taxes and commissions
also increased. Claims incurred costs were lower than
expected by over $40 million due to better driving
conditions experienced during most of 2003, changes

($ MILLIONS)

Premiums earned
Investment income
Total Revenue
Claims incurred

The forecast for 2004 to 2006 shows a deterioration in
financial results due to costs related to the implementation of transition changes resulting from changes in
legislation, impacts to market share and profitability as
competition is expected to increase in the BC market
for optional insurance, and forecasted claims trends.

2003

2003

2004

2005

2006

(ACTUAL)

(BUDGET)

(OUTLOOK)

(OUTLOOK)

(OUTLOOK)

$2,859

$2,808

$2,962

$3,083

$3,197

330

335

330

335

345

3,189

3,143

3,292

3,418

3,542

2,217**

2,262

2,382

2,532

2,664

Claims service and loss management

274

293*

289

297

306

Insurance operations expenses

109

140*

129

135

140

Premium taxes and commissions

275***

302*

334

349

362

Non insurance expenses

103

112*

106

108

92

3,421

3,564

Total Expenses
Operating income (loss) before the undernoted
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Net Income (Loss)

2,978

3,109

3,240

211

34

52

14

11

-

$ 225

$

*

45

$

52

(3)
$

(3)

(22)
$ (22)

These numbers have been restated to conform with the current year’s presentation and with the financial allocation methodology developed in 2003 to
segregate revenues and costs between the basic, optional and non-insurance businesses.
** Claims incurred includes prior years’ claims adjustments.
*** Premium taxes and commissions are net of Deferred Premium Acquisition Cost (DPAC) Adjustments.
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…to achieve
operational excellence

Report on Performance
In late 2002, ICBC set a strategic course to become the leading insurance company, operating competitively and valued by its customers. Underlying this overall strategy are four corporate goals:
• Become more competitive
• Be customer focused
• Be revenue driven and fiscally responsible
• Develop accountable, capable and engaged people.
ICBC’s goals are aligned with government’s strategic goals for a strong and vibrant provincial economy,
a supportive social infrastructure, and for safe, healthy communities and a sustainable environment.
This is discussed in more detail in ICBC’s 2003-2005 Service Plan.
For each goal, objectives were established to guide the Corporation, and measures and targets were
set for evaluating performance. To assess performance and gauge success, ICBC has selected both
financial and non-financial measures. Relevant and reliable industry benchmarks, and historical information have also been provided where available.

Overall Performance
In 2003, a review of all critical standard industry performance measures reveals the successful year
that has transpired. The Corporation’s overall financial picture is strong, as shown in the key industry
performance measures – return on equity, combined ratio, loss ratio, and expense ratios – all show
improvement over 2002. During this past year, ICBC has continued its vigilance over operating
costs resulting in a lower expense ratio relative to 2002 and the 2003 target. Potentially larger
increases in claims costs were avoided, as a result of unusually favourable driving conditions experienced during most of the year, changes in the insurance product and continued focus on claims
management. In 2003, ICBC achieved an investment return of 5.3%, and exceeded the portfolio
performance benchmark.
During the year, ICBC exceeded its 2003 target and 2002 results for the Autoplan and Driver
Services customer satisfaction measures. Claims customer satisfaction showed a marginal decline
and did not achieve its 2003 target, due in part to business changes and current labour negotiations.
Road safety results indicate a reduction in crash rates, most likely due to the favourable driving
conditions experienced during most of 2003. There was also a decrease in the auto crime rate,
other than theft, due mainly to changes in deductibles, which resulted in a decrease in smaller value
auto crime related claims such as theft from vehicles and vandalism. The larger value auto theft
crimes however still continue to be a concern.
The following sections provide a summary of ICBC’s performance results relative to its Service
Plan 2003-2005. A discussion of the 2003 outlook relative to future targets is contained in ICBC’s
2004-2006 Service Plan.
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Goal: Become More Competitive
Objectives and Key Strategies
To become more competitive, products must be priced to reflect the
risk they represent and appropriate premiums must be charged to
each group of customers. ICBC will move towards industry standard
capital requirements for the optional business, operate on a level similar to competitors, and develop the internal capabilities to compete
more effectively.

Performance Measures, Targets and Results
Return on Equity
This is a standard financial measure that indicates the change in value
to a shareholder for investing in an organization. This measure enables ICBC to measure its progress towards becoming more competitive
and allows the provincial government to measure the financial return
from ICBC on an annual basis. Previously, the two year rolling average return on equity was included as one of ICBC’s performance
measures. During the year, this measure was eliminated as it does not
provide additional informational value above the annual return on
equity measure.
This past year has been a strong financial year with lower than expected
claims and operating costs due mainly to effective cost control, insurance product changes, the unusually favourable driving conditions
experienced during most of 2003 and the continued management of
claims costs. Compared to 2002, controllable costs increased minimally, despite continual upward pressures. Premiums written increased
due to recent rate increases and ICBC’s retention of existing market
share. The net income stays within the Corporation and enables ICBC
to rebuild its retained earnings so that unusual events such as earthquakes or harsh weather changes can be absorbed and minimize the
volatility and size of premium rate changes.

Return on Equity

52.9%

15.4%
(63.5)%

13.9%
2.5%1

2002
2002
2003
Actual Benchmark Actual

2003
Target

2001
Actual

Source: ICBC Financial Systems. Prior year’s
actual and the 2003 target have been restated
to conform with the new method of calculation.
This measure is calculated as the ratio of net
income over the average of the opening and ending retained earnings, and is consistent with
industry benchmarks.

Currently, ICBC operates on a lower level of retained earnings relative to its volume of business when compared to the industry. In
addition, changes in significant financial items such as premiums,
claims and investments can result in major changes in the Corporation’s financial performance. The combined effect of the lower
retained earnings base and the significant net income for 2003 has
resulted in an unusually high return on equity of 52.9% for ICBC.
The Corporation’s strategy will be to increase retained earnings for
the optional business in the future. In 2002, the property and casualty industry return on equity was 2.5%1. Automobile insurance is
1

Calculated from A.M. Best 2003 Statement File – Canada CD. This source provides 2002 operating results for Canadian property and casualty
companies. 2003 data was not available at the time of publication of this report.
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the largest source of premium revenue within the property and casualty industry, representing 42% of total net premiums earned2.
Combined Ratio
The combined ratio is a key measure within the insurance industry for
overall profitability. This measure is calculated as the ratio of insurance costs (claims costs, claims related costs, insurance operating costs
and non-insurance operating costs) to premium dollars earned. A ratio
of below 100 percent indicates an underwriting profit while a ratio
above 100% indicates an underwriting loss.
ICBC’s performance improved over the year as seen in the decline in
the combined ratio relative to 2002. This improvement can be attributed to effective cost management, changes in the insurance product
and the favourable driving conditions that prevailed during most of
2003. Both claims costs and controllable costs were lower than originally forecasted, and premiums written were higher in the year, which
are major contributors to the improvement in the actual results relative to the 2003 target. ICBC’s results also compare well relative to
the property and casualty industry despite additional costs borne by
the Corporation for non-insurance services.

Combined Ratio
128.8%
110.7%

2001
Actual

110.3%

106.9%3 103.7%

2002
2002
2003
Actual Benchmark Actual

2003
Target

Non-insurance Expense
Claims & claims related
expenses and insurance expenses

Source: ICBC Financial Systems. Prior years’
actual have been restated to conform to the
revised method of calculation, which includes
non-insurance operating costs.

Goal: Customer Focused
Objectives and Key Strategies
ICBC will become a “listening” organization focused on meeting customer expectations and providing value wherever possible. ICBC will
improve customer satisfaction and support by delivering services to its
customers in a manner, which is fair and respectful.
The key customer service measure of performance for ICBC will be
the percentage of satisfied customers. A separate measure is used for
each major transaction type – broker, driver service and licensing, and
claims transactions. An independent research firm is retained to conduct monthly surveys of customers for the purposes of monitoring
satisfaction. The number of surveys completed is targeted to achieve
a range of accuracy of results of between 0.5% to 3.0% at a 95%
confidence level.

Performance Measures, Targets and Results
Autoplan Percent Satisfied
Each year, ICBC’s insurance brokers process approximately 2.7 million policies for customers. This measure represents the percentage of
2
3

Autoplan Percent Satisfied

92%

93%

95%

93%

2001
Actual

2002
Actual

2003
Actual

2003
Target

Source: Surveys conducted by independent firm.

Canadian Underwriter Statistical Issue, 2003.
A.M. Best 2003 Statement File – Canada CD. This source provides 2002 operating results for Canadian property and casualty companies. 2003
data was not available at the time of publication of this report.
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customers satisfied with a recent insurance transaction with ICBC
and will be based on surveys of close to 1,000 customers. For 2003,
ICBC has outperformed the target and past performance. Historically,
this percentage has been over 90% and is indicative of the positive
relationship between customers and brokers.
Driver Services Percent Satisfied
On an annual basis, ICBC performs over 1.3 million transactions relating to the issuance of driver licenses and driver exams. This measure
represents the percentage of customers satisfied with a recent driver
licensing transaction with ICBC. The transaction could relate to renewing a license, taking a knowledge test or undergoing a road test.
The measure is weighted by the number of transactions for each type
of service.
In late 2003, the provincial government implemented changes to the
Graduated Licensing Program (GLP), which were anticipated to have
a dampening impact on the satisfaction levels of new drivers affected
by the changes and was reflected in the 2003 target. The impact was
somewhat minimized as the GLP enhanced program was implemented
later than planned. ICBC’s customer satisfaction for driver services
was consistent with previous years and exceeded the 2003 target. A
sample of approximately 4,000 customers is surveyed throughout the
year for this measure.
Claims Percent Satisfied
This measure represents the percentage of customers satisfied with a
recent claims transaction with ICBC and is based on a sample of over
9,500 claims customers. On an annual basis, ICBC processes approximately one million claims.
Starting in 2003, changes were made in the sample selection and
calculation of the measure to allow ICBC to benchmark its performance to P&C companies in Ontario. In 2003, ICBC’s overall claims
customer satisfaction was 84%, a small decline from past performance and the 2003 target. Positive results were noted in specific areas
such as ICBC’s Fairness, Accommodation of Needs and the Value &
Respect felt by customers. However, lower levels of satisfaction were
noted in some areas, due in part to changes in the business and current labour negotiations. In 2002, ICBC’s performance at 85% was
consistent with companies in Ontario where the average claims satisfaction was 85% in 2002.4 2003 benchmark data was not available at
the time of publication.
4

Driver Services Percent Satisfied

89%

90%

91%

2001
Actual

2002
Actual

2003
Actual

2003
Target

Source: Surveys conducted by independent firm.

Claims Percent Satisfied

86%

2001
Actual

85%

85%4

84%

2002
2002
2003
Actual Benchmark Actual

86%

2003
Target

Source: Surveys conducted by independent firm.

2003 Auto Claims Satisfaction Survey (survey of claims closed in 2002), Financial Services Commission of Ontario.
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Deregulation
In support of the provincial government’s deregulation initiative, ICBC
is working to achieve a one-third net reduction in the regulatory burden on customers, suppliers, and employees by June 2004. Measurement
for this objective will be the percentage reduction in “regulatory requirements” within the Corporation’s purview and is determined to be
the percentage decrease from the start of the initiative in late 2002. A
regulatory requirement is defined as a compulsion, demand or prohibition placed on an individual, entity or activity. Such requirements are
found in statutes, regulations and policies and procedures administered
by ICBC. ICBC has reduced regulatory requirements by 30% to the
end of 2003 and anticipates being able to meet its government target
of 33% in 2004.

Deregulation

30%
20%
N/A

N/A

2001
Actual

2002
Actual

2003
Actual

2003
Target

Source: ICBC internal records of legislative and
regulatory changes.

Goal: Revenue Driven and Fiscally Responsible
Objectives and Key Strategies
ICBC will continue to hold the line on costs, improve the value of
goods and services received, and adopt a performance-based approach
for employees, business partners and suppliers. ICBC will provide
enhanced loss management activities, such as traffic law enforcement
funding and continue with its policy of zero tolerance towards fraud
in order to reduce crashes and crime.

Performance Measures, Targets and Results
Loss Ratio
A key performance indicator within the insurance industry is the loss
ratio, which is a measure of the insurance product’s profitability. The
lower the percentage, the more profitable the product. This measure
is calculated as the ratio of the total of claims and claims related costs
including loss management and road safety costs, to insurance premium dollars earned.
In 2003, ICBC has been successful in ending the year with a significantly lower loss ratio relative to the prior year and to the 2003 target.
This positive performance is due to an increase in premiums written
and relatively consistent claims costs. Claims costs increased less than
1% in 2003. While the average costs of claims increased for almost all
coverages, this was offset by fewer reported claims due to favourable
driving conditions for most of the year and the full impact of the
changes in deductibles implemented in 2002. The combination of
these factors contributed to a substantial improvement in ICBC’s loss
ratio, which improved over 2002 and outperformed the 2003 target.
5

Loss Ratio

99.9%
92.8%

87.2%
78.8%

2001
Actual

91.0%

5

2002
2002
2003
Actual Benchmark Actual

2003
Target

Source: ICBC Financial Systems. 2002 actual and
the 2003 target have been restated to conform
with the financial allocation methodology developed in 2003 to segregate revenues and costs
between the basic, optional and non-insurance
businesses.

A.M. Best 2003 Statement File – Canada CD. This source provides 2002 operating results for Canadian property and casualty companies. 2003
data was not available at the time of publication of this report.
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Despite this improvement in the loss ratio, ICBC’s results continue to
be higher relative to the P&C industry loss ratio. This is due to a lower
expense ratio for ICBC, the benefits of which are passed on to policyholders through lower premiums. With lower premiums, ICBC’s loss
ratio will be higher. In addition unlike many other regions, ICBC is
required to provide basic insurance coverage to virtually all drivers and
owners of automobiles.

Expense Ratio

2001
Actual

18.5%

18.1%

3.8%

3.6%

19.7%

2002
2002
2003
Actual Benchmark Actual

Insurance

4.0%

15.7%

4.8%

14.5%

21.2%

14.7%

28.1%6

16.4%

Expense Ratio
The expense ratio is a standard industry measure for assessing the
operational efficiency of an organization. This measure is calculated
as the ratio of non-claims costs to insurance premium dollars earned.
It includes operating costs that are not directly related to servicing
claims such as general administration, commissions paid to brokers,
taxes paid to government on premiums written, product design (underwriting) and non-insurance costs such as those associated with driver
licensing and vehicle registration. To facilitate comparisons with industry benchmarks, the expense ratio excludes the impact of one
time non-recurring items. This ratio consists of two key components:
the insurance expense ratio and the non-insurance expense ratio. Segregating expenses in this manner allows ICBC to better manage the
costs of operating its insurance business. Included in the insurance
expense ratio is an offset in costs related to interest revenue and financing fees related to the premium financing plan.

2003
Target

Non-insurance

Source: ICBC Financial Systems. 2001 actual
and the 2003 targets have been restated to conform with the financial allocation methodology
developed in 2003 to segregate revenues and
costs between the basic, optional and non-insurance businesses.

In recent years, the Corporation has focused on operational excellence and reduced its cost structure to an appropriate base. Significant
reductions have been made since 2000 and ICBC has succeeded in
effectively managing costs, ending the year with an expense ratio which
is lower than 2002. ICBC was also successful in outperforming its
2003 target. This is attributed to a more stringent review of all expenditures and lower project costs.
ICBC’s overall expense ratio for 2003 was 18.1% and is significantly
lower than the industry benchmark. As the sole provider of the basic
insurance product, ICBC has the ability to achieve certain economies
of scale in areas such as product distribution where ICBC’s commission costs are lower for the basic product than those of the private

6

A.M. Best 2003 Statement File – Canada CD. This source provides 2002 operating results for Canadian property and casualty companies. 2003
data was not available at the time of publication of this report.
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industry. The commissions for both the basic and optional businesses
results in a lower overall cost of distribution than the rest of the industry. ICBC believes that the auto insurance expense ratio for the industry
would be lower than the overall property and casualty expense ratio
for 2002 of 28.1%7. ICBC believes that the difference between the
Corporation’s expense ratio and the industry average is due to ICBC’s
lower marketing, underwriting, and general administration costs. In
addition, ICBC operates a single line of business in one geographic
region, while other property and casualty insurers may offer multiple
products in more than one region.
However, ICBC incurs costs that the rest of the industry does not. It
pays non-insurance expenses for the provision of driver licensing, commercial vehicle services, vehicle registration and licensing, and fines
collections. The non-insurance expense ratio represents the ratio of
the operations and administration costs of ICBC’s non-insurance business to insurance premium dollars earned. Monitoring these costs
ensures that ICBC continues to be an efficient provider of these services on behalf of government. The 2003 non-insurance ratio is lower
than 2002 and the 2003 target due to management of costs and
increased earned premiums.
Investment Return
ICBC manages an investment fund of over $6.4 billion (at cost) to
generate investment income used to reduce premiums to the policyholder. ICBC holds a conservative portfolio with the majority of monies
invested in high quality bonds. These assets are held to provide for
unearned premiums and future claims payments. The investment return measure is calculated as the ratio of investment income over the
average book value of the investments portfolio.
In 2003, ICBC’s investment portfolio was transitioned to the target
asset mix established as part of the 2002 investment policy review.
During the 2002 review, the risk return profiles of major asset classes
were evaluated in conjunction with expected interest rate trends and
equity market performance. Revisions were then made to the policy
to ensure ICBC maintains a balance between risk and the expected
overall rate of return for the investment portfolio.

7

Investment Return

8.0%
5.7%

2001
Actual

5.3%

5.8%

2002
2002
2003
Actual Benchmark Actual

2003
Target

5.0%7

Source: ICBC Financial Systems

A.M. Best 2003 Statement File – Canada CD. This source provides 2002 operating results for Canadian property and casualty companies. 2003
data was not available at the time of publication of this report.
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Under the new regulatory framework, changes were made to the investment standard which ICBC must follow. The investment portfolio
is now governed by the prudent person standard as set out in section
492 of the Insurance Companies Act (Canada). This standard requires
ICBC to make investments for its insurance business in the manner
that “a reasonable and prudent person would apply in respect of a
portfolio of investments to avoid undue risk of loss and to obtain a
reasonable return”, and is the same standard required of federally
regulated insurance companies. Previously, ICBC’s investments were
governed under Schedule III of the Pension Benefits Standards Regulations 1985 made under the Pension Benefits Standards Act (Canada).
From 2002 to 2003, ICBC’s investment income increased from $327
million to $330 million, which equates to an investment return of
5.3%. In 2003, there was a marginal decline in bond income associated with a decline in both bond interest income and gains on the
sale of bonds. Equity income increased in the year due to higher dividend income and gains on the sale of equity holdings. Investment
return was marginally lower than the 2003 target due to the recognition of foreign exchange losses as global equity holdings were
transitioned to a new management structure. In 2002, the P&C industry investment return was 5.0%8.
To monitor performance, ICBC’s investment results are measured
against a benchmark, which incorporates market indices weighted
according to ICBC’s portfolio target mix. In 2003, ICBC exceeded
the portfolio performance benchmark.

Claims Services & Allocated Costs
Versus Claims Volume
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Claims Productivity
Employees involved in the handling of claims account for 56% of
ICBC’s workforce and 50% of operating costs. This is a new measure
in 2003 and is defined as the per unit cost of handling claims. It is
calculated as the sum of internal and external costs divided by the
number of open and closed claims transactions. Internal costs consist
primarily of salaries and benefits, and external costs include mainly
outside legal counsel, medical reports, private investigators, independent adjusters and towing costs.
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A.M. Best 2003 Statement File – Canada CD. This source provides 2002 operating results for Canadian property and casualty companies. 2003
data was not available at the time of publication of this report.
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The insurance industry is inherently volatile and it is not unusual to
experience short-term fluctuations from year to year in the number of
claims and transactions. However, the infrastructure such as the costs to
operate buildings and system costs is relatively fixed in the short-term
with the result that any significant change in the volume of claims or
transactions will cause volatility in this measure. In 2003, there was a
reduction in claims volumes because of good driving conditions and
the impact of increased deductibles which resulted in fewer lower value
claims, such as windshield and comprehensive claims, being reported.
This caused the claims cost per transaction to be higher relative to 2002.
It is important to assess if the change in claims volumes is permanent or
temporary before changes to the infrastructure can be made. If the
change is determined to be permanent, there is also a lag time in actually reducing the infrastructure (such as selling buildings and property,
modifying systems). ICBC uses the results of this measure and other
information to continually reassess operational resourcing needs relative to business volumes, and to take appropriate action.
New Driver Crash Rate
This measure was a new measure for 2003 and describes the crash
rate for new drivers relative to the rate for more experienced drivers.
In 2003, the new driver crash rate declined relative to 2002 and the
2003 target. While enhancements were made to the Graduated Licensing program, the changes were put in late in the year and are
unlikely to have had a significant impact on the improved new driver
crash rate. As the program evolves, it will take approximately three to
four years to gather enough data to properly evaluate the effectiveness of the changes made to the Graduated Licencing program. The
new drivers going through the enhanced program will be measured
and monitored over time, to assess the effectiveness of the program
changes and the program will be modified as necessary.
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Claims Productivity
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Source: ICBC Financial Systems. Prior years have
been restated to conform with the financial
allocation methodology developed in 2003 to segregate revenues and costs between the basic,
optional and non-insurance businesses.
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Crash Rate
This measure is calculated as the number of crashes for every 10,000
annualized policy years. A crash is considered to have occurred when
a financial reserve is established for a potential crash-related loss, irrespective of whether a payment is eventually made against the reserve.
A policy year represents one year of insurance coverage. This was a
new measure introduced for 2003 and will provide an indication of
frequency of crashes. A change in the crash rate results from internal
and external causes. Changes implemented through loss management
and road safety programs, insurance product modifications (e.g. increased deductibles) and external factors, such as traffic enforcement,
weather and the BC economy, have a combined effect on the crash
rate. The crash rate for 2003 shows a reduction relative to 2002 and
relative to the 2003 target, which may be attributed to the favourable
driving conditions experienced during most of the year, the full impact of the increased deductibles introduced in 2002.
Injured Person Rate
This measure calculates the number of injured persons for every 10,000
annualized policy years. An injury is considered to have occurred
when a financial reserve is established for a potential injury related
loss, irrespective of whether a payment is eventually made against the
reserve. The 2003 results are consistent with prior year’s results and
in line with the 2003 target.
Auto Crime Rate
This measure calculates the number of auto crime incidents for every
10,000 annualized comprehensive or specified perils policy years. A
crime is considered to have occurred when a financial reserve is established for a potential crime related loss, irrespective of whether a
payment is eventually made against the reserve. The crime rate for
2003 shows a significant decrease in the number of auto crime incidents, which can be attributable to an increase in deductibles for
comprehensive coverages. With higher deductibles, there will be fewer
claims as smaller value claims are no longer reported. The larger value
auto theft crimes still continue to be an issue.
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Goal: Personally Accountable, Capable
and Engaged People
Objectives and Key Strategies
In order for ICBC to achieve its vision of becoming the leading insurer and operating competitively, the Corporation needs a workforce
who is accountable, capable and engaged. The development of a culture of high performance, of involvement, and of learning and growth
is paramount for ICBC to achieve its goals. During the year, ICBC
began to execute a strategy aimed at developing the existing workforce
and to cultivate employees for more competitive times ahead.

Performance Measures, Targets and Results
Employee Index
ICBC has developed an employee index to measure the accountability, capability, and engagement of the workforce. One of the main
tools for this measurement is an employee survey. As a result of sensitivity to the collective bargaining process in 2003, ICBC did not
conduct an employee survey. Instead, ICBC used a number of other
human resource measures such as attrition and absenteeism to measure performance, and also reviewed its progress against its human
resource strategy and addressing improvements identified from the
employee survey in 2002.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
Financial Overview
ICBC has posted a net income of $225 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. This
performance can be attributable to a number of causes, all of which have had an impact on the yearend results.
• ICBC continued to operate as a business and managed costs responsibly, ending the year with
controllable costs of $469 million, which are fairly consistent with 2002 and 26% lower than 2000.
• Claims costs at $2.2 billion were less than 1% higher when compared to costs in 2002 because of
lower claims volumes. Increases in claims costs would normally occur with an increase in the
number of policies sold and general inflationary pressures, which were experienced this year.
While the average cost per claim increased, the lower volumes offset the cost increases to a large
degree. The volumes were influenced by unusually good driving conditions experienced during
most of the year, changes in deductibles and continued management of claims costs.
• Adjustments to prior years’ claims resulted in an increase in claims costs of $10.4 million, which
contrasts with the positive adjustment of $24.8 million in 2002 to decrease claims costs.
• In 2003, there was a significant increase in the premiums written of $211.7 million and a comparable increase in premiums earned of $231.0 million over 2002. This is due to changes made in
2002 for determining premiums based on declaration of principal operator, a 1.7% increase in the
number of policies and an increase in the amount of optional coverages purchased. The impact of
the rate increases in effect for 2002 and 2003 were also major contributors to the increase in
premiums earned. As a result of the increase in premiums, there was an increase in premium taxes
and commissions of $25.7 million in 2003.
• In 2003, the Corporation also disposed of a number of facilities resulting in a gain of $14.1 million.
• Investment income of $330 million realized in 2003 was consistent with 2002.

Premiums
In 2002 and 2003, changes were made to the premiums charged to a policyholder to better reflect
risk and requires the declaration of the principal operator, and changes were made in deductibles,
especially in situations where a policyholder has had a significant number of claims. In 2003, there
was a 1.7% increase in the number of policies due mainly to vehicle population growth, and an
increase in policy years written, with a policy year written defined as twelve months of insurance
coverage. In addition, rate changes in 2002 and for 2003 have had an impact on premiums for
2003 as the full impact of the 2002 rate increase is now reflected in 2003 and half the impact of the
2003 rate increase is reflected in 2003. In 2003, the overall rate increase was 4.8% and the increase
in basic premiums for private passenger vehicles was 1.4%, less than inflation. Premiums written
increased to $2.97 billion from $2.76 billion in 2002, and premiums earned increased to $2.86
billion from $2.63 billion in 2002.
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Claims
Changes in Claims Costs

For 2003, the increase in overall claims incurred costs
is due to an increase in the severity of claims of 11.8%
relative to 2002, specifically in the bodily injury type
claims, while the number of claims reported declined
overall.

Claims incurred costs are the most significant cost of
ICBC, accounting for over 75% of total expenditures.
A 1% fluctuation in claims incurred means a $23-$25
million change in net income, and a 1% fluctuation in
the unpaid claims balance means approximately a $45
million change in claims costs. Claims incurred costs
are impacted by the number of claims reported in a
year and the severity of claims. The number of claims
reported is influenced by factors, which include speed,
driving behaviour, driving experience and weather.
Severity is influenced by factors such as inflation, settlement awards, legal costs, medical costs, repair cost
of vehicles and independent adjusting costs.

One of the main drivers of increasing bodily injury
claims costs is legal costs. They continue to increase in
BC’s tort environment, with a potential for a further
increase related to the tariff of legal costs payable to
successful litigants. The Supreme Court of BC Rules
Revision Committee is currently considering an increase
in the reimbursement of legal costs from 25-30% to
50%. For 2003 and all prior years, ICBC has recorded
an increase of $119 million for this potential increase
in costs. ICBC believes any changes in the tariff are
likely to be implemented in 2004 and may affect unsettled claims for both 2003 and prior years.

ICBC Claims Incurred
($ Millions)
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BC has a tort system of auto insurance where injured
claimants have the ability to sue for damages. For this
reason, large judgement awards can have a significant
impact on pending litigation cases. Although many of
ICBC’s injury claims involve litigation, less than 1% of
these claims are resolved by trial. Class action cases
can also have a significant financial impact for the Corporation. Across Canada, lawsuits have been launched
alleging that the common insurance practice of charging deductibles on total loss claims and retaining the
salvage value for the vehicle is inappropriate. A class
action was started in BC in 2002 and is in progress,
however, ICBC has not been able to reasonably assess
the likelihood of the success of this legal action. This
class action suit has not been certified to date.
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Changes in the insurance product and the unusually
favourable driving conditions during most of 2003 are
the main reasons for the marginal increase in claims
incurred costs of $14.6 million relative to 2002, which
represents an increase of less than 1%. ICBC has continued to invest in loss management and road safety
programs and to focus on the management of claims
costs over the years. This has helped contain the growing claims costs.

For material damage claims, changes in vehicle design
such as airbags and other safety measures, and increases
in inflation in the auto repair sector are key drivers of
the increasing cost trend.
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The number of claims reported has decreased substantially by 13.1% relative to 2002 due to the changes in
insurance product, mainly increased deductibles, and
the unusually good driving conditions experienced
during most of the year. The most significant reductions in volumes were in the number of windshield,
comprehensive and Roadstar claims.

Number of Injury Claims Reported

47,330

In the event of losses resulting from catastrophes, such
as an earthquake, ICBC has financial protection through
a reinsurance policy. Losses experienced in excess of a
specified amount will be covered by the reinsurance
policy up to the policy limits. In addition to protection
against individual catastrophic events, the reinsurance
agreement protects the Corporation against an abnormal number of large losses by limiting the amount for
which the Corporation is liable in any single year. During 2003, ICBC went to the market for reinsurance.
Since the last policy was negotiated in 1998, the market has hardened and reinsurance costs have been
subject to upward pressure as a result of many changes
in the marketplace. Despite the challenging market,
ICBC was successful in securing increased catastrophic
coverage over previous limits.
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58,680

(Major Categories)

Bodily Injury

Accident Benefit

2002

2003

Legislative or government policy changes such as medical practitioner rates, hospital rates and other related
costs, and changes in benefits in the provincial health
care program can also result in an increase to ICBC’s
claims incurred costs. ICBC works with government
to ensure that changes are anticipated and implemented
effectively.

Injury Claims

Average Cost of Injury Claims

Injury claims account for over 50% of claims incurred
costs, and include amounts paid for pain and suffering,
future care, past and future wage loss, accident benefits and claims handling expenses. In 2003, the number
of injury claims reported declined marginally by 0.4%.
Within this category, bodily injury claims declined by
2.2% as shown in the following chart. This decline can
be attributed to the favourable driving conditions experienced during most of 2003. Offsetting this was an
increase in total injury severity of 8.6% for 2003, due
to increased severity for both large and smaller value
claims. These increases are due to adverse court awards
for future care, and changes in the handling of low
impact claims.

12,288

11,224

($)

1,340 1,480
Bodily Injury
2002

Based on costs recorded in the year.
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Non-injury Claims
Average Cost by Type

The main categories of non-injury or material damage
claims are property damage, collision, comprehensive
and windshield claims. In 2003, there was a significant
reduction in the volume of comprehensive and windshield claims as a result of increases in minimum
deductibles. The number of comprehensive and windshield claims reported decreased by 20.0% and 46.7%,
respectively, relative to 2002. The increase in deductibles
resulted in an increase in severity for comprehensive
claims, which increased by 10.8% for 2003, as smaller
claims which fall below the deductible limit are no longer
reported. Windshield severity, on the other hand, decreased overall by 10.7%. The average cost of a windshield
claim is typically above the minimum deductible amount.
With an increase in the minimum deductible, there was
a reduction in the amount paid for each claim by ICBC
resulting in a decrease in severity.
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Based on costs recorded in the year.

Collision
2002

151,090

Windshield

120,870

181,519

235,025

96,810
Property
Damage

Comprehensive and Windshield Claims
Comprehensive coverage includes loss or damage due
to theft, fire, vandalism, and windshield chips and cracks.
In order to control claims costs arising from policyholders who have had a significant number of comprehensive
claims, ICBC implemented escalating deductibles for
coverage purchased by these individuals in 2003. Based
on a review of past claims experience, these individuals
are limited to being able to purchase a higher deductible, as opposed to the minimum deductible of $300
for comprehensive and $200 for windshield, or unable
to purchase comprehensive coverage.

226,802

211,946

202,213

Number of Non-Injury Claims Reported

Comprehensive

2003

During the year, the Corporation began to adopt performance based principles in its interactions with key
business partners. In 2003, an agreement was reached
with the collision repair industry to implement a performance-based contract whereby shops meeting or
exceeding targets would be appropriately compensated.
In the future, this agreement will have an impact on
claims costs for non-injury type claims.

9

Within comprehensive claims, auto crime claims continue to be a major problem for BC with costs totaling
$122 million in 2003. BC has one of the highest auto
theft rates in Canada with an average of 869 thefts per
100,000 population as compared to the Canadian average of 514 thefts.9 In 2003, the number of auto theft
claims increased by 8.7% as shown in the chart on the
next page.

Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics (part of Statistics Canada)
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an estimate of future claims costs. As time passes, more
information becomes available and the estimate of the
remaining future claims payments are refined and prior
years’ claims adjustments to the unpaid claims reserve
are required to reflect the most current forecast of claims
costs. The unpaid claims reserve is money set aside in
anticipation of future claims payments. The adequacy
of this reserve is reviewed and adjusted periodically
throughout the year based on revised actuarial estimates
from the Corporation’s appointed actuary. ICBC commissions the services of an external actuary to provide
an independent assessment of the claims reserves and
as part of its annual audit of the financial results, the
external auditor reviews the adequacy of the reserve. A
1% adjustment in the unpaid claims reserve will have
an impact of $45 million to claims incurred costs, and
have a significant impact on net income.

Total Theft of Vehicles
25,250
23,228
21,682

2003

To address this problem, the Corporation has partnered
with municipalities and law enforcement on various auto
theft initiatives such as the Bait Car program. The program – a collaboration between the Vancouver Police
Department (VPD), ICBC and E-Comm (Emergency
Communications for Southwest British Columbia) – was
launched in September 2002 to target the high number
of vehicles being stolen in Vancouver. ICBC believes
that the program has contributed to a decrease in auto
theft claims in Vancouver, and a program expansion is
planned for the Greater Vancouver Regional District.

Breakdown of Bodily Injury Costs
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Unpaid Claims and
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End of
Year 2
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Paid

Prior years’ claims adjustments are a result of the reestimate of future claims costs for claims in progress and
those incurred but not reported with respect to prior
years. The estimate of the unpaid claims reserve at the
end of 2003 was approximately $4.5 billion. Estimates
for these future claims costs can change significantly in
some years due to the time frame in which certain types
of claims are settled. Bodily injury claims costs account
for approximately half of total claims costs and generally take several years to settle. As illustrated in the
following chart, only a small percentage of injury claims
costs are paid and known in the first year of the claim’s
occurrence with a greater proportion of the costs being

End of
Year 4

End of
Year 5

End of
Year 6

Unpaid

During 2003, there were increases of $10.4 million to
claims costs for 2002 and prior accident years as a
result of changes to estimates previously made. By comparison, during 2002 there was a decrease of $24.8
million to the claims costs for 2001 and prior accident
years. These prior years’ claims adjustments reflect
changes in claims emergence for all coverages; however, the chief cause of the increase for 2003 was the
inclusion of a provision for the anticipated increase in
legal costs arising from changes to court tariffs.
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Loss Management and Road Safety
On an annual basis, ICBC invests in enforcement programs, road improvements, fraud prevention and
regional loss prevention programs to manage claims
costs and reduce crashes. For 2003, the Corporation
invested $38.1 million in these programs, which is consistent with the expenditures in 2002.

Unit officers to combat material damage and bodily
injury fraud. The Provincial Investigation Team (PIT)
pro-actively identifies and investigates organized fraud
throughout the province including staged accidents and
vendor fraud. FPI also includes the Fraud Analysis Unit
(FAU) which provides support to the CIT and PIT programs through data analysis and innovative fraud
detection techniques, and the Licensing Investigation
Unit which investigates driver’s license and identity
fraud. As a result of these efforts, ICBC was awarded
damages in a number of civil litigation cases in 2003.
For example, the BC Supreme Court awarded ICBC
$4.5 million in punitive damages against two individuals operating a chop shop, an operation established to
dismantle stolen vehicles for the resale of the parts. In
other situations, the Corporation has been awarded
damages for fraudulent activities involving staged accidents and stolen vehicles. In 2003, the programs
generated claims savings estimated to be over
$60 million and expenditures for these programs
totaled $9.5 million.

An agreement was reached in 2003 with the Ministry
of Public Safety and Solicitor General to continue
ICBC’s funding for traffic law enforcement activities.
The terms and conditions of this agreement enhance
the level of independence of traffic law enforcement
activities undertaken by the Solicitor General. Funding
in 2003 was $9.0 million and allows resources to be
directed towards reducing injuries and deaths caused
by impaired driving, aggressive driving and motorists
not wearing seatbelts. In late 2003, enhancements to
the Graduated Licensing Program were implemented,
which extended the timeframe for obtaining a license,
introduced passenger and nighttime restrictions, and
reinforced a zero tolerance for alcohol.
Road improvement is another area of investment where
ICBC works with key partners to make improvements
to high crash locations such as intersections. In 2003,
$9.9 million was invested in this program and is consistent with the expenditure in 2002.

At a provincial level, many activities were undertaken
in partnership with communities to initiate programs
such as Speed Watch, Autocrime and the Safer City
program, with ICBC acting primarily as a catalyst for
action. Expenditures in the regional loss prevention programs accounted for $9.7 million in 2003, and are
slightly higher than the $8.3 million expended in 2002.
In 2003, ICBC shared costs with Autoplan brokers who
conducted over 1,000 road, driver, and pedestrian bike
safety initiatives in schools and communities across B.C.
These projects help to create strong community partnerships in regions throughout BC.

ICBC has a policy of zero tolerance for fraud. For these
initiatives, ICBC has a Fraud Prevention & Investigations (FPI) department who have a number of ongoing
programs for the detection and prevention of fraud.
These programs include Claims Investigation Teams
(CIT) that pair up adjusters and Special Investigation
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Operating Costs
In 2003, the Corporation continued to operate ICBC
like a business and managed costs responsibly, ending
the year with controllable costs, which are consistent
with prior year and more than 26% lower than 2000.
Controllable costs are defined as costs (compensation,
benefits and operating costs) required to operate the
insurance and non-insurance business with the exception of claims payments, commissions and premium
taxes. ICBC’s cost structure has remained relatively
static despite continual cost pressures arising from business improvement changes, technology and system
upgrades, contractual arrangements for employee compensation and general inflationary increases, the
majority of which were absorbed during 2003. These
increases can be significant in any one year since employee compensation accounts for approximately 72%
of controllable costs. A modified zero-based budgeting
approach towards expenditures was introduced in 2003
resulting in more stringent requirements for project and
other discretionary spending. A review of operational
facilities requirements resulted in the consolidation of
a number of claims centres, and the sale of redundant
facilities. The Autoplan Extranet, a web based system
to provide brokers with access to specific ICBC applications, has enabled the Corporation to more efficiently
communicate with its broker partners.

on behalf of government, and are funded from basic
insurance premiums. These costs can be impacted by
government policy changes and decisions arising from
the regulatory review process. During 2003, a Service
Agreement between ICBC and the Government was
established to ensure the most effective delivery of noninsurance services. These costs totaled $103 million
(non-insurance controllable costs plus commissions) in
2003 and represents 3.6% of premiums.
As a result of the Core Services Review, the compliance and motor carrier functions were transferred back
to government in 2003. As part of the transfer, ICBC
has agreed to provide $24.7 million to the provincial
government annually for the operating costs of the compliance function up to and including March 31, 2006.
In 2003, ICBC made a prorated payment of $16.9
million to the government under the transfer agreement for nine months of compliance function operating
costs, with the remainder included as part of ICBC’s
other non-insurance operating costs.
As shown in the chart below, ICBC has been successful in maintaining its 2002 cost base with only a
marginal increase in costs of $7.6 million or 1.6%, which
is less than inflation.

Departments collaborated and were successful in reducing total costs paid to technology and administrative
suppliers by revising business requirements and consolidating requirements to leverage purchasing power.
During 2003, a comprehensive technology strategy was
approved, and ICBC continues to examine new technology to identify opportunities for increasing efficiencies.
Maintaining flexibility in ICBC’s systems and infrastructure will help ICBC compete effectively and respond to
changes in the market place. In 2003, ICBC incurred
approximately $11 million in capital expenditures primarily for technology and facilities.

Controllable Costs
($ Millions)

635.5
566.3

2000*

2001

Insurance

461.7

469.3

2002
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Non-Insurance

* This year has not been restated to conform to the
financial allocation methodology developed in 2003 for
the segregation of revenues and costs between the basic,
optional and non-insurance businesses.

Non-insurance costs consist of the administrative costs
for operating the licensing and compliance functions
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From a staffing perspective, ICBC has also maintained
reduced levels of staffing from the beginning of 2003,
after the departure of over 1,300 employees in 2001
and 2002. The chart on the right shows the decline in
employee levels since the beginning of 2001 to the end
of 2003. The reduction between the first and second
quarter of 2003 is due to the return of 286 employees
associated with the Compliance function to government.

Number of Employees
6500
6,451
5,625

5500

5,100
4,754
4500

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2001
2002
2003

Based on full time equivalents at the end of the quarter.

Investments
incorporates market indices weighted according to
ICBC’s portfolio target mix. As shown in the chart
below, ICBC has consistently performed better than
its market-based benchmark.

Funds available for investment purposes come primarily from the reserves set aside for unpaid claims,
unearned premiums and retained earnings. At the end
of 2003, ICBC’s investment portfolio at cost totaled
$6.4 billion and represents 95% of the Corporation’s
assets. ICBC has a conservative investment portfolio
with significant holdings of highly rated bonds and
money market instruments (71.5% of total portfolio
holdings). Equity, mortgages and real estate comprise
the remainder of the portfolio. ICBC’s investment mix
is consistent with its investment policy.

Investment Portfolio Performance

12

% Return

10

Market Return
In 2003, Canadian equity markets performed well as
indicated in the S&P TSX index return of 26.7%, while
US equity markets were hampered by the weakness in
the US dollar and ended the year with a return of 5.3%
(S&P 500 Index – translated to Canadian dollars). The
bond markets performed marginally higher than the
previous year posting a return of 6.7% (Scotia Capital
Universe Index) for 2003.

8
6
4
2
0

1999

2000

2001

Policy Benchmark

2002

2003

Portfolio Return

Investment Income
From 2002 to 2003, ICBC’s investment income increased marginally from $327 million to $330 million,
which equates to an investment return of 5.3%. In
2003, there was a marginal decline in bond income
associated with a decline in both bond interest income
and gains on the sale of bonds. Equity income increased
in the year due to higher dividend income and higher
gains on the sale of equity holdings. The following chart
provides a breakdown of investment income over the
last 5 years.

As a result of strong corporate cash flows and the performance of the equity markets, ICBC’s investments
have grown in market value to $6.8 billion at the end
of 2003 as compared to a market value of $6.0 billion
at the end of 2002. When compared to the carrying
value of the portfolio, ICBC had unrealized gains of
approximately $370 million as of December 31, 2003.
To monitor performance, ICBC’s investment performance is measured against a benchmark, which
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City Centre Mall Ltd. and a numbered BC company)
are included in the audited consolidated financial results for ICBC. Approximately $120.6 million is invested
in four real estate projects with the major holding being
Central City. Development of the Central City property was substantially completed in early 2003, and late
in the year, a new lease was signed for approximately
130,000 square feet of space for the establishment of
an international call centre. In March 2004, the provincial government announced the purchase of a portion
of Central City by Simon Fraser University (SFU). With
the sale of the space to SFU, approximately 60% of the
building will now be leased and/or sold. These developments significantly enhance the value of the property
and are expected to generate further economic activity
within the vicinity. Marketing efforts to secure new tenants are ongoing. In 2003, the Corporation also sold
the Telus property, held by a subsidiary of IPL, for a
small profit. With this disposition, real estate income for
2003 was lower at $10.2 million than the $14.3 million
earned in 2002.

Investment Income
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ICBC Properties Ltd. (IPL)
IPL is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Corporation
responsible for the development of the Central City
property and for managing other real estate holdings
within the investment portfolio. The performance results for IPL and its wholly owned subsidiaries (Surrey

Retained Earnings
With ICBC’s strong financial performance in 2003 and
a net income of $225 million, retained earnings increased
to $536 million as at December 31, 2003. Retained
earnings are required to provide the Corporation with
the ability to absorb unexpected losses arising from unusual events and factors. In the private insurance industry,
the adequacy of retained earnings or capital base is an
important determinant of financial stability and is closely
monitored by regulators. As a crown corporation with
the provincial government’s financial guarantee, ICBC
has been able to operate on a lower level of retained
earnings relative to industry capital requirements for the
size of its business. With changes to legislation and gov-

ernment’s direction to increase competition in the auto
insurance market and have ICBC operate on a level
playing field, ICBC needs to increase retained earnings
for the optional business. Minor changes in significant
financial items such as premiums, claims and investments
can significantly impact ICBC’s financial performance,
and affect the level of retained earnings. ICBC’s overall
strategy has been and will continue to be to achieve
positive financial results and strengthen its capital base
so that unusual events such as earthquakes or harsh
weather changes can be partially or wholly absorbed
and minimize the volatility and size of premium rate
changes for policyholders.
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Management’s Responsibility
for Financial Statements
Scope of Responsibility
Management prepares the accompanying financial statements and related information and is responsible
for their integrity and objectivity. The statements are prepared in conformity with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles. These financial statements include amounts that are based on management’s estimates and judgements, particularly our reserves for unpaid claims. We believe that these statements
present fairly the Corporation’s financial position and results of operations and that the other information
contained in the annual report is consistent with the financial statements.

Internal Controls
We maintain and rely on a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded and transactions are properly authorized and recorded. The system includes
written policies and procedures, an organizational structure that segregates duties and a comprehensive
program of periodic audits by the internal auditors, who independently review and evaluate these controls.
There is an annual risk assessment process, the results of which influence the development of the internal
audit program. We continually monitor these internal accounting controls, modifying and improving them as
business conditions and operations change. Policies that require employees to maintain the highest ethical
standards have also been instituted. We recognize the inherent limitations in all control systems and believe
our systems provide an appropriate balance between costs and benefits desired. We believe our systems of
internal accounting controls provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities that would be material
to the financial statements are prevented or detected in the normal course of business.

Board of Directors and Audit Committee
The Audit Committee, composed of members of the Board of Directors, oversees management’s discharge of its financial reporting responsibilities. The Committee recommends for approval to the Board of
Directors, the appointment of the external actuaries and external auditors and fee arrangements. The
Committee meets no less than quarterly with management, our internal auditors and representatives of
our external auditors to discuss auditing, financial reporting and internal control matters. The Audit Committee receives regular reports on the internal audit results and evaluation of internal control systems; and
it reviews and approves major accounting policies including alternatives and potential key management
estimates or judgements. Both internal and external auditors have access to the Audit Committee without
management’s presence. The Audit Committee has reviewed these financial statements prior to recommending approval by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors have reviewed and approved the
financial statements.
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Independent Auditors and Actuary
Our independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have audited the financial statements. Their
audit was conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, which includes
the consideration of our internal controls to the extent necessary to form an independent opinion on the
financial statements prepared by management.
Eckler Partners Ltd. is engaged as the external appointed actuary and is responsible for carrying out an
annual valuation of the Corporation’s policy liabilities which include provision for claims and claim expenses, unearned premiums and deferred premium acquisition costs. The valuation is carried out in
accordance with accepted actuarial practice and regulatory requirements. In performing the valuation, the
actuary makes assumptions as to the future rates of claims frequency and severity, inflation, reinsurance
recoveries, and expenses taking into consideration the circumstances of the Corporation and the insurance policies in force. The actuary, in his verification of the underlying data used in the valuation, also
makes use of the work of the external auditor.

Geri Prior
Chief Financial Officer
February 13, 2004

Nick Geer
President and
Chief Executive Officer
February 13, 2004
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Auditors’ Report
The Honourable Richard Coleman
Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General
Province of British Columbia
We have audited the consolidated statement of financial position of the Insurance Corporation of
British Columbia as at December 31, 2003 and the consolidated statements of operations and
retained earnings, and cash flow for the year then ended. These consolidated financial statements
are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Corporation as at December 31, 2003 and the results of its operations
and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, British Columbia
February 13, 2004
(Except for Note 18 which is as of March 5, 2004)
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Actuary’s Report

I have valued the policy liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position of the Insurance Corporation of British Columbia as at 31 December 2003 and their changes in its consolidated
statement of operations and retained earnings for the year ended in accordance with accepted
actuarial practice including selection of appropriate assumptions and methods, except as described in the following paragraph.
In accepted actuarial practice, the valuation of policy liabilities reflects the time value of money.
It is the accounting policy of the Corporation to not reflect the time value of money when stating
certain policy liabilities. My valuation is consistent with that policy (see note 2).
In my opinion the amount of the policy liabilities makes appropriate provision for all policyholder
obligations, except as noted in the previous paragraph, and the financial statements fairly present
the results of the valuation.

William T. Weiland
Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries
Eckler Partners Ltd.
Vancouver, British Columbia
February 13, 2004
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As At December 31, 2003 and 2002

($ THOUSANDS)

2003

2002

$ 6,436,189
63,593
27,090
47,895
118,192
31,135
86,051

$ 5,857,937
54,774
19,441
46,224
64,236
27,148
96,630

$ 6,810,145

$ 6,166,390

$

$

ASSETS

Cash and investments (note 3)
Accrued interest
Amount recoverable from reinsurers (note 5)
Premiums and other receivables
Deferred premium acquisition costs and prepaids (note 9)
Accrued pension benefit (note 7)
Property and equipment (note 4)

LIABILITIES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
LIABILITIES

Cheques outstanding
Accounts payable and accrued charges
Accrued post-retirement benefits (note 7)
Premiums and fees received in advance
Unearned premiums
Unpaid claims (note 5)

RETAINED EARNINGS

52,519
189,425
67,338
33,081
1,404,462
4,527,441
6,274,266

535,879

314,190

$ 6,810,145

$ 6,166,390

Contingent liabilities and commitments (note 14)

Approved by the Board

T. Richard Turner

Bob Quart

Chair of the Board of Directors

Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors
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183,310
60,138
32,400
1,293,389
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Consolidated Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings
For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

($ THOUSANDS)

2003

2002

$ 2,955,000
15,560

$ 2,737,358
21,456

$ 2,970,560

$ 2,758,814

$ 2,841,259
18,228
2,859,487

$ 2,606,617
21,876
2,628,493

Claims incurred (note 5)
Claims services
Road safety and loss management services

2,208,140
235,614
38,086
2,481,840

2,193,492
233,713
38,306
2,465,511

Operating costs - insurance (note 8)
Premium taxes and commissions (note 9)

109,063
274,839
2,865,742

105,791
249,778
2,821,080

PREMIUMS WRITTEN

Vehicle
Driver

PREMIUMS EARNED

Vehicle
Driver

CLAIMS AND OPERATING COSTS

UNDERWRITING LOSS BEFORE PRIOR YEARS’ CLAIMS ADJUSTMENTS

Prior years’ claims adjustments (note 5)
UNDERWRITING LOSS

Investment income (note 3d)
INCOME - INSURANCE OPERATIONS

Licences and fines collected on behalf of the Province (note 12)
Licences and fines transferable to the Province (note 12)
Operating costs - non-insurance (note 8)
Commissions (note 9)
LOSS - NON-INSURANCE OPERATIONS
INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED

Gain on sale of property and equipment
Restructuring costs (note 10)
Lease termination settlement (note 11)
Provision for diminution in value of investments (note 3c)
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR

(6,255)
(10,392)

(192,587)
24,791

(16,647)
329,936
313,289
419,819

(167,796)
327,269
159,473
416,933

419,819
86,516
16,085
522,420
(102,601)

416,933
83,869
15,427
516,229
(99,296)

210,688
14,119
-

60,177
(15,209)
41,100
(41,100)

224,807

44,968

RETAINED EARNINGS

Beginning of year
Contribution to the Province - Compliance Operations assets (note 1)
End of year

314,190
(3,118)
$
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

($ THOUSANDS)

2003

2002

$ 3,167,162
329,287
65,655
3,562,104

$ 2,916,765
320,331
64,677
3,301,773

317,609
53,122
245,333
33,922
41,797
419
4,254,306

295,072
51,744
259,637
34,997
35,631
2,762
3,981,616

Claimants or third parties on behalf of claimants

(2,021,281)

(2,097,321)

Province of BC for licence fees, fines, and social
service taxes collected

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received for:
Vehicle premiums and others
Licence fees
Social service taxes
Collection for receivables, subrogation, and driver penalty point premiums
Salvage sales
Interest
Capital gains realized
Dividends and other investment income
Other

Cash paid to:

(494,690)

(459,894)

Suppliers of goods and services
Employees for salaries and benefits
Agents for commissions
Policyholders for premium refunds
Province of BC for premium taxes

(227,056)
(344,929)
(219,122)
(240,017)
(124,652)
(3,671,747)

(209,019)
(358,429)
(191,422)
(214,220)
(94,318)
(3,624,623)

Cash flow from operating activities

582,559

356,993

(512,510)
(10,849)
17,373
(505,986)

(158,868)
(9,799)
8,624
(160,043)

76,573
208,153

196,950
11,203

CASH FLOW FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Change in portfolio investments
Payments to vendors of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Cash flow used in investing activities

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DURING THE YEAR

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$ 284,726

$

208,153

$ 337,245
(52,519)

$ 247,546
(39,393)

$ 284,726

$

REPRESENTED BY:

Cash and money market securities (note 3)
Cheques outstanding
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
1. PURPOSE
The Insurance Corporation of British Columbia (the Corporation) is a crown corporation incorporated in 1973 and
continued under the Insurance Corporation Act, R.S.B.C. 1996 Chapter 228. The Corporation operates and administers a plan of universal compulsory automobile insurance as established under the Insurance (Motor Vehicle) Act,
and is also responsible for non-insurance services under the Insurance Corporation and Motor Vehicle Acts. The Corporation is also subject to regulation by the British Columbia Utilities Commission.
Universal compulsory automobile insurance coverage (Basic) includes the following: $200,000 third party legal
liability protection (higher for some commercial vehicles), $150,000 in accident benefits to all licenced vehicle
owners in B.C., $1,000,000 underinsured motorist protection, and protection against uninsured and unidentified
motorists outside of the province. The Corporation also offers insurance coverage in a competitive environment
(Optional), which includes the following: extended third party legal liability, comprehensive, collision, loss of use,
and others. The Corporation’s Basic and Optional products are distributed through over 900 independent agents
located throughout the province. The Corporation has the power and capacity to act as an insurer and reinsurer in
all classes of insurance; however, the Corporation currently only acts as a primary auto insurer.
Non-insurance services include vehicle licensing, registration, and issuance of driver licences. Until March 31, 2003,
the Corporation was also responsible for the non-insurance services of Compliance Operations which constituted:
vehicle standards and inspections, commercial transport regulation, weigh scale operations, enforcement of vehicle
weights and dimensions, motor carrier licensing support, road inspections, and enforcement and compliance audits.
On April 1, 2003, Compliance Operations was transferred back to the Province of British Columbia (note 14d).
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of reporting
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles as required by the Insurance Corporation Act. The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiary company, ICBC Properties Ltd. and its
subsidiaries. As required by the Insurance Corporation Act, the Corporation reports the revenues and expenses
attributable to Optional insurance separately from the other operations of the Corporation (note 15).

Investments and investment income
Bonds are valued at amortized cost with any premium or discount on purchase being deferred and amortized over
the average term to maturity. Money market securities and equities are valued at cost. Income on interest-bearing
securities is accrued daily. Real estate held for investment consists of income-producing properties, which are
recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and provision for diminution in value (note 3c). Dividends on
equity investments are recognized as income on their payment dates. If the value of an investment suffers a loss in
value that is other than temporary, the investment is adjusted to the estimated realizable value with the adjustment
being included in the statement of operations.
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Derivative financial instruments are used to reduce interest rate and currency risk on the Corporation’s obligations.
The Corporation does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
All hedges are documented detailing the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The
documentation specifically identifies the asset or liability being hedged, the type of derivative used, and the effectiveness of the hedge. Also there is a formal assessment at the inception of a hedge and on an ongoing basis as to
whether the derivatives used in the hedges are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
hedged items.
Swap transactions involve the periodic exchange of cash flows between two parties based on a specific notional
amount for a predetermined period. Interest rate swaps involve the exchange of fixed and floating interest rate
payments based on a notional amount. Cross currency swaps involve the exchange of both principal and fixed and
floating interest rate payments in two different currencies.
In the event of early extinguishment of the obligation any realized or unrealized gain or loss from a swap would be
recognized in the statement of operations at that time.
The Corporation also participates in the sale and repurchase of Government of Canada bonds which are sold and
simultaneously agreed to be repurchased at a future date with the market repurchase rate determining the forward
contract price. Under the terms of the sale and repurchase agreement, the payments associated with the bond
repurchase may be settled on a net basis. These sale and repurchase arrangements are accounted for as secured
financings. As the repurchase payments may be settled on a net basis, the repurchase obligation has been recorded
against the carrying value of these bonds.
Capital gains and losses on money market securities, bonds, equities and other investments are included in income
in the period realized (see note 3).

Pensions and post-retirement benefits
Commencing in 2000, the Corporation prospectively adopted the standards for employee future benefits set out
in Section 3461 of the CICA Handbook by accruing its obligations net of plan assets using the following rules:
• The cost of pensions and other retirement benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the
projected benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of expected plan investment
performance, salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and expected healthcare costs.
• The expected return on plan assets is calculated using the fair value of the assets.
• Past service costs from plan amendments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining service period of employees active at the date of amendment.
• The excess of the net actuarial gain (loss) over 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation and the fair value of
plan assets is amortized over the expected average remaining service period of active employees.
Certain employees, formerly of the Motor Vehicle Branch, belong to the BC Public Service Pension Plan. Defined
contribution plan accounting is applied to the contribution to the BC Public Service Pension Plan.
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Property and equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Software development costs, which
are comprised of labour and material costs for design, construction, testing, implementing and other related costs,
are capitalized for major infrastructure projects expected to be of continuing benefit to the Corporation, and
expensed where the potential future benefits are uncertain or not quantifiable.
Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis at the following rates: buildings 5 - 10%, furniture and equipment
10 - 33% and software 10 - 33%. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of each lease.

Unearned premiums
The Corporation earns vehicle and driver premiums evenly over the term of each vehicle policy or the driver’s
penalty point year, respectively. Unearned premiums are the portion of premiums related to the unexpired term.

Deferred premium acquisition costs
Deferred premium acquisition costs, represented by commissions and premium tax expenses, relate directly to the
writing of policies and, to the extent recoverable from unearned premiums, are deferred and amortized to income
over the term of the policies. The method followed in determining the deferred premium acquisition costs limits
the amount of the deferral to the amount recoverable from unearned premiums after giving consideration to
investment income, claims costs and adjustment expenses expected to be incurred as the premiums are earned.

Unpaid claims
The provision for unpaid claims includes an estimate for reported and unpaid claims and expenses as well as an
estimate for claims incurred but not reported in the year. These are determined based on the claims settlement
experience of the Corporation, current trends and a detailed regular review and update. This provision is carried on
a non-discounted basis so that the claims liabilities are not reduced as a result of the delay between the time the
claims were established and the date of the final settlement.
The provision for unpaid claims is an estimate subject to variability which could be material in the near term. All
changes to the estimate are recorded as incurred claims and prior years’ claims adjustments in the current period.
Methods of estimation have been used which the Corporation believes produce reasonable results given current
information.
The estimation of claims development involves assessing the future behavior of claims taking into consideration the
consistency of the Corporation’s claim handling procedures, the amount of information available and historical
delays in reporting claims. In general, the longer the term required for the settlement of a group of claims, the more
variable the estimates become. Short settlement term claims are those which are expected to be substantially paid
within a year of being reported.
The ultimate cost of long settlement liability claims is difficult to predict for several reasons, including claims not
being reported until many years after a policy term, or changes in the legal environment. Provisions for such
difficult to estimate liabilities are established by examining the facts of tendered claims and are adjusted in the
aggregate for ultimate loss expectations based upon historical experience patterns, current socio-economic trends
and structured settlements provided in the form of consistent periodic payments as opposed to lump sum payments (see note 14a).
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In common with the insurance industry in general, the Corporation is subject to litigation arising in the normal
course of conducting its insurance business, which is taken into account in establishing the provision for unpaid
claims (see note 14c).

Reinsurance
Premiums, claims and expenses are reported net of amounts due to and recoverable from reinsurers. Estimates of
amounts recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid claims are recorded separately from estimated amounts payable to
policyholders.

Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. The more subjective of such estimates are unpaid claims, provisions for doubtful accounts
and deferred premium acquisition costs. Management believes its estimates to be appropriate; however, actual
results may be significantly different from these estimates and would be reflected in applicable future periods.
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3. CASH AND INVESTMENTS
($ THOUSANDS)

2003

Carrying
Value
Cash and money market securities

2002

Estimated
Fair Value

Carrying
Value

Estimated
Fair Value

$ 337,245

$ 337,245

$ 247,546

$ 247,546

1,919,038

1,951,293

1,913,052

1,955,233

Bonds
Canada
Federal
Bond repurchase obligation (note 2)

Provincial

(326,551)

(326,551)

(233,883)

(233,883)

1,592,487

1,624,742

1,679,169

1,721,350

468,106

484,714

503,985

537,188

Municipal

338,730

358,262

415,188

446,572

Corporate

1,558,389

1,603,736

1,342,337

1,394,007

Global

308,517

292,914

216,514

219,787

4,266,229

4,364,368

4,157,193

4,318,904

467,933

482,634

370,803

384,899

Canada

596,520

798,157

565,727

623,603

United States

334,245

349,913

273,704

245,663

Mortgages

Equities

Other

Real estate
Provision for diminution in value (note 3c)

313,453

351,498

43,428

39,526

1,244,218

1,499,568

882,859

908,792

261,664

122,330

340,636

188,244

(141,100)

-

120,564

122,330

199,536

(141,100)

188,244

-

$ 6,436,189

$ 6,806,145

$ 5,857,937

$ 6,048,385

The estimated fair value of money market securities is cost. The estimated fair value for bonds, mortgages and
equities is based on market values. The estimated fair value of real estate is based on the most recent B.C. Assessment Authority values, except for the Central City development in Surrey whose estimated fair value for 2002 is
based on the cost adjusted for a provision as described in (c) below.
The total notional amount of interest rate swaps outstanding at December 31, 2003 is $170.8 million (2002 $143.6 million). The notional amount of cross-currency interest rate swaps outstanding at December 31, 2003 is
$69.5 million (2002 - $60.3 million).
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At December 31, 2003, these swap contracts all had remaining terms between one and five years with an average
receiving floating interest rate of the three month Canadian Deposit Overnight Rate (CDOR) plus 27.61 basis
points (2002 - 23.91 basis points) and an average pay interest rate of 6.04% (2002 - 7.13%). The interest swaps had
an estimated value of $0.1 million as at December 31, 2003 (2002 - negative $14.7 million). The value of interest
rate swap contracts and foreign exchange swap contracts is determined by discounting expected future cash flows
using current market interest and exchange rate instruments. The values of these swaps have been reflected in the
estimated fair value of bonds.
a ) Fixed income — interest rate risk
2003

2002

Average Yield
(%)

Duration
(Years)

Average Yield
(%)

Duration
(Years)

4.2

4.0

4.5

4.6

Bonds
Canada
Federal
Provincial

5.3

7.7

6.6

7.6

Municipal

5.7

6.3

6.3

5.7

5.1

3.7

5.9

3.5

Global

Corporate

3.2

5.2

3.6

5.7

Total bonds

4.6

4.5

5.3

4.8

Mortgages

6.5

2.5

6.6

2.8

Total bonds and mortgages

4.8

4.4

5.4

4.6
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b) Fixed income - maturity profile
A significant business risk of the insurance industry is the ability to match the cash inflows of the investment
portfolio with the cash requirements of the policy liabilities. The timing of most policy liability payments is not
known, and may take considerable time to determine precisely, or may be paid in partial payments.
The Corporation has taken the overall historical liability settlement pattern as a basis to define diversification and
duration characteristics with the investment portfolio.
($ THOUSANDS)

Within
One Year

One Year
to Five Years

After Five Years

Total

2003
Bonds
Canada
Federal

$

Provincial

11,549

$ 1,245,745

-

162,066

$

335,193

$ 1,592,487

306,040

468,106

Municipal

-

28,192

310,538

338,730

Corporate

97,138

1,243,317

217,934

1,558,389

-

161,764

146,753

308,517

108,687

2,841,084

1,316,458

4,266,229

47,304

326,232

94,397

467,933

155,991

$ 3,167,316

$ 1,410,855

$ 4,734,162

41,107

$ 1,265,396

$

372,666

$ 1,679,169

30,343

21,845

451,797

503,985

Global

Mortgages
$

2002
Bonds
Canada
Federal

$

Provincial
Municipal

-

80,489

334,699

415,188

Corporate

60,903

804,803

476,631

1,342,337

-

120,065

96,449

216,514

132,353

2,292,598

1,732,242

4,157,193

26,284

335,734

8,785

370,803

158,637

$ 2,628,332

$ 1,741,027

$ 4,527,996

Global

Mortgages
$

c) Provision for diminution in value of real estate investments
In previous years, the Corporation recorded cumulative provisions totaling $141.1 million to reflect independent
market appraisals of its investment in the Central City development. The impairment in value was determined to
be other than temporary (note 2).
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d) Investment income
($ THOUSANDS)

2003

2002

Interest
Money market

$

Bonds
Mortgages

10,115

$

6,809

206,353

223,595

26,919

22,683

243,387

253,087

18,139

6,255

-

(38,852)

83,900

76,570

Gains (losses) on the sale of investments
Equities
Write-down of equities
Bonds
Foreign exchange

(40,698)

2,800

61,341

46,773

Dividends and other income
Equities

23,295

16,418

Real estate

10,238

14,325

Other

(8,325)

(3,334)

25,208
Total Investment Income

$

329,936

27,409
$

327,269

e) Securities lending
The Corporation participates in a securities lending program managed by a federally regulated financial institution
whereby it lends securities it owns to other financial institutions to allow them to meet delivery commitments. The
Corporation receives securities of equal or superior credit quality as collateral for securities loaned and records
commissions on transactions as earned. At December 31, 2003 securities with an estimated fair value of $791
million (2002 - $368 million) have been loaned and securities with an estimated fair value of $846 million (2002
- $393 million) received as collateral.
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
($ THOUSANDS)

2003

Net Book
Value

Cost
Land

$

2002

25,887

$

25,887

Net Book
Value

Cost
$

27,264

$

27,264

Buildings

140,397

37,362

140,145

41,967

Furniture and equipment

107,495

17,044

136,744

17,985

16,313

5,160

15,732

5,676

7,125

598

10,190

3,738

Software
Leasehold improvements
$

297,217

$

86,051

$

330,075

$

96,630

Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 amounted to $15.1 million (2002 - $23.6 million).

Properties held for disposal
In 2002, the Corporation decided to consolidate a number of operating facilities in order to streamline operations,
vacating some facilities which are now held for disposal. In 2003 three of the facilities held for disposal were sold
for a gain of $14.1 million. As at December 31, 2003 the net book value of surplus buildings and land held for
disposal is $1.6 million (2002 - $3.5 million) and $1.4 million (2002 - $2.8 million) respectively.
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5. UNPAID CLAIMS
The changes in unpaid claims recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at December 31,
2003 and 2002 and their impact on claims incurred for the year are as follows:
($ THOUSANDS)

2003

Unpaid claims – beginning of year

$

Provision for claims occurring in the current year

4,224,129

2002

$

2,208,140

Prior years’ claims adjustments

10,392

Unpaid claims liabilities

4,044,312
2,193,492
(24,791)

6,442,661

6,213,013

Less:
Payments on claims incurred in the current year
Payments on claims incurred in prior years
Recoveries on claims

907,663

952,840

1,141,193

1,145,622

(106,546)

(109,578)

Claims payments net of recoveries

1,942,310

1,988,884

Unpaid claims net – end of year

4,500,351

4,224,129

27,090

19,441

Recoverable from reinsurers
Unpaid claims gross – end of year

$

Unpaid claims – payable within one year

$

Unpaid claims – payable beyond one year

4,527,441

$

4,243,570

1,442,495

$

1,367,835

3,084,946
$

4,527,441

2,875,735
$

4,243,570

Under accepted actuarial practice, the unpaid claims balances should reflect the time value of money and include
a provision for adverse deviations. It is the Corporation’s accounting policy not to reflect the time value of money
when stating unpaid claims balances. If the Corporation followed accepted actuarial practice, the gross unpaid
claims balance would be approximately 2.5% (2002 - 3.3%) lower.
Unpaid claims as at December 31, 2003 includes an estimate of $119 million in anticipation of increases to the
court tariff of costs used to compute legal costs for indemnification of successful litigants.
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6. REINSURANCE
The Corporation maintains casualty and catastrophe reinsurance to protect against significant losses. The five year
contract expired on December 31, 2003, and while in force had terms as follows:
a) up to $100 million in excess of $25 million annually for catastrophic occurrences;
b) up to $75 million in excess of $72 million annually for aggregate pool coverage comprised of the excess over $1
million on individual loss occurrences, subject to limits in (c); and
c) up to $12 million in excess of $3.5 million for individual loss occurrences.
These reinsurance arrangements do not discharge the Corporation’s obligation as primary insurer. Of the claims
recorded as recoverable from reinsurers, the Corporation has made claims totaling $6.7 million over the life of the
current reinsurance contract. The Corporation evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers to minimize the
exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvency.
During the year the Corporation entered into a one year casualty and catastrophe reinsurance contract beginning
January 1, 2004 with the following terms:
a) up to $175 million in excess of $25 million annually for catastrophic occurrences;
b) up to $25 million in excess of $5 million for individual loss occurrences.
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7. PENSION PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Corporation maintains contributory, defined benefit pension plans (the “Pension Plans”) that provide retirement benefits for regular employees, other than the employees of the former Motor Vehicle Branch (see note 2),
based on their length of service and highest five years’ average earnings. The Pension Plans are funded through trust
funds held by a corporate trustee separately from all other assets of the Corporation. The Corporation pays Medical Services Plan and life insurance premiums, extended healthcare and dental costs as post-retirement benefits for
its retirees. Benefit entitlements differ for management and bargaining unit staff.
Information regarding the Pension Plans and post-retirement benefits is as follows:
Pension
Plans
2003

($ THOUSANDS)

Post-retirement
Benefits
2002

2003

2002

Plan assets
Fair value at beginning of year

$ 564,260

$

577,837

Actual return on plan assets

79,908

(15,151)

Employer contributions

13,263

9,139

Employees’ contributions

$

-

$

-

-

-

1,453

591

15,985

11,073

-

-

Net transfers

1,342

-

-

-

Benefits paid

(17,946)

Fair value at end of year

656,812

564,260

-

-

533,990

445,605

63,307

45,483

34,678

30,449

4,494

6,321

-

-

(18,638)

(1,453)

(591)

Accrued benefit obligation
Balance at beginning of year
Current service cost and employees’ contributions
Net transfers

1,342

Plan adjustments

-

(4,530)

-

-

(2,412)

Interest cost

36,423

32,355

4,360

3,606

Actuarial losses

49,991

48,749

10,025

10,900

Benefits paid

(17,946)

(18,638)

(1,453)

Balance at end of year

638,478

Funded status — plan surplus (deficit)
Unamortized net actuarial losses
Unamortized plan adjustments

63,307

18,334

30,270

(80,733)

(63,307)

98,697

15,606

5,581

-

(92,834)
$

80,733

105,635
-

Unamortized transitional asset
Accrued benefit asset (liability)

533,990

(591)

31,135

(101,819)
$

27,148

(2,211)

(2,412)

$ (67,338)

$

(60,138)

The Pension Plans’ assets consist of Canadian and foreign equities and government and corporate debt instruments.
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Included in the above accrued benefit obligation are the following amounts in respect of plans that are not separately funded:
Pension
Plans
2003

($ THOUSANDS)

Accrued benefit obligation and plan deficit

$

Post-retirement
Benefits
2002

7,299

$

7,140

2003
$

80,733

2002
$

63,307

The Corporation’s net benefit plan expense (recovery) for the Pension Plans and post-retirement benefits is as
follows:
Pension
Plans
2003

($ THOUSANDS)

Current service cost

$

Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of transition assets

Net expense (recovery)
1

2002

18,6931

19,3761

$

36,423

32,355

(39,940)

(43,397)

(8,985)

(5,901)

-

(4,530)

Plan adjustments
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss

3,085
$

Post-retirement
Benefits
2003
$

$

(2,416)

$

6,321

4,360

3,606

-

-

-

-

(201)

(319)

9,276

4,494

2002

-

$

8,653

(70)
$

9,857

net of employees’ contributions of $15,985,000 (2002 - $11,073,000).

The Corporation contributed $1.2 million in 2003 (2002 - $1.7 million) to the BC Public Service Pension Plan.
The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Corporation’s accrued benefit obligations are
as follows (weighted-average assumptions as of December 31):
Pension
Plans

Post-retirement
Benefits

2003

2002

2003

2002

Discount rate

6.1%

6.5%

6.1%

6.5%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

7.0%

7.0%

n/a

n/a

General rate of compensation increase

3.5%

3.5%

3.5%

3.5%

Inflation rate

2.5%

2.5%

2.5%

2.5%

Medical Services Plan trend rate

n/a

n/a

0.0%

0.0%

Dental trend rate

n/a

n/a

3.0%

3.0%

Extended healthcare trend rate is assumed to be a 65% increase in 2003, plus 10% per year for the next 10 years and 6% per year thereafter.
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8. OPERATING COSTS
The Corporation’s activities include insurance and non-insurance operations as described in note 1. Details of the
expenses for the years ending 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
2003

($ THOUSANDS)

2002

Operating costs - insurance
Administrative and other expenses

$

Insurance services
Service fees for financing plans

94,365

$

84,615

41,207

41,267

(26,509)

(20,091)

$

109,063

$

105,791

$

28,180

$

27,023

Operating costs - non-insurance
Administrative and other expenses
Compliance operations (note 14d)
Payment to the Province for Compliance Operations (note 14d)
Driver services

5,783

24,417

16,888

-

35,665
$

86,516

32,429
$

83,869

9. DEFERRED PREMIUM ACQUISITION COSTS AND PREPAIDS
2003

($ THOUSANDS)

Deferred premium acquisition costs

$

Prepaid expenses

111,000

2002

$

7,192
$

118,192

62,000
2,236

$

64,236

At year-end deferrable premium acquisition costs (commissions and premium taxes), which have been deferred
over the period of the premiums to which they relate, are evaluated to determine if any of these costs are not
expected to be recovered from unearned premiums. At year-end premium acquisition costs of $154 million (2002
- $146 million) are related to future periods. An actuarial evaluation determined that $111 million (2002 - $62
million) of this amount is allowable for deferral.
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The commission and premium tax expenses reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Retained
Earnings are as follows:
Commissions

($ THOUSANDS)

Premium Taxes

Total

2003
Amount payable

$

Amortization of prior year deferred
premium acquisition costs

221,102

$

40,184

Deferred premium acquisition costs

118,822

$

21,816

(71,546)

339,924
62,000

(39,454)

(111,000)

$

189,740

$

101,184

$

290,924

$

173,655

$

101,184

$

274,839

$

189,740

$

101,184

$

290,924

$

199,774

$

110,353

$

310,127

Represented as:
Insurance
Non-insurance

16,085

-

16,085

2002
Amount payable
Amortization of prior year deferred
premium acquisition costs
Deferred premium acquisition costs

12,096

4,982

17,078

(40,184)

(21,816)

(62,000)

$

171,686

$

93,519

$

265,205

$

156,259

$

93,519

$

249,778

Represented as:
Insurance
Non-insurance

15,427
$

171,686

$

93,519

15,427
$

265,205

10. RESTRUCTURING COSTS
In 2002 the Corporation incurred costs to restructure its operations to improve efficiencies. These costs consisted
mainly of severance arrangements, the cost of relinquishing leased premises and other costs of consolidating operations. As at December 31, 2002 accounts payable and accrued charges included $6.9 million, which were settled
during 2003.
11. LEASE TERMINATION SETTLEMENT
The original plans for the Central City development included the Technical University of BC (“Tech BC”) as one of
the main anchor tenants. However, in early 2002 the provincial government revised its priorities and suspended
operation of Tech BC, resulting in cancellation of the lease agreement. Tech BC paid $41.1 million to ICBC Properties Ltd. as compensation for terminating the lease.

62

Annual Report 2003

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Corporation acts as agent for the Ministry of Finance regarding the collection of social service taxes on privately sold used vehicles and motor vehicle related debts. The Corporation is the sole provider of Basic automobile
insurance (see note 1) in British Columbia and, therefore, insures at market rates an indeterminate number of
vehicles owned or leased by the government of the Province and its controlled entities. As a consequence of these
relationships, the Corporation has at any time amounts owing to or from various government departments or
ministries in the ordinary course of business.
The Corporation is responsible for collecting all vehicle-related income for acquiring and distributing licence plates
and decals, including permit and other fees under the Motor Vehicle Act and fines under the Offense Act. Income
from the issuance of drivers and other licences and permits, and from fines is recognized on an accrual basis. The costs
associated with the licensing and compliance activities conducted on behalf of the Province are borne by the Corporation and are included in the consolidated statement of operations and retained earnings as operating costs,
non-insurance (note 8).
Other related party transactions have been disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements.
13. FAIR VALUE
Fair value represents a year-end estimate that may not be relevant in predicting the Corporation’s future earnings
or cash flows. The fair value of financial instruments, other than unpaid claims (note 2 and 5), investments (note 3),
and post-retirement benefits (note 7), approximate their carrying value.
14. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
a) A number of more serious injury claims are settled through the use of structured settlements which require the
Corporation to provide the claimant with periodic payments, usually for a lifetime. The Corporation purchases
an annuity from an approved life insurance company to make these payments. In the event the life insurance
company fails in its obligation the Corporation is responsible for the annuity payments. At present, four federally
licensed life insurance companies are approved for use by the Corporation. The list of approved insurance
companies is determined by an ongoing analysis of total assets, credit rating reports and past service history. The
gross amount of these structured settlements at December 31, 2003 is approximately $594 million (2002 $569 million). To date the Corporation has not experienced any losses resulting from these arrangements, nor
are any anticipated.
b) In the normal course of business, the Corporation has entered into significant finance contracts through a
financial institution under its financing programs whereby policyholders finance their premiums for up to 12
months. The Corporation has provided guarantees to the financial institution for the total amount outstanding at
any time. In 2003 the total amount financed was approximately $1.3 billion (2002 - $1.2 billion).
c) Across Canada, lawsuits have been launched alleging that the common insurance practice of charging deductibles
on total loss claims and retaining the salvage value for the vehicle is inappropriate. A class action lawsuit has been
started against ICBC but has not yet been certified. There has been both success and failure of these class actions
in other jurisdictions. The Corporation’s management has determined that it is unable to reasonably assess the
likelihood of the success of this legal action and therefore has not accrued for any potential lawsuit awards.
d) The Corporation has agreed to pay the Province $24.7 million a year for three years commencing April 1, 2003
to fund Compliance Operations, which were transferred to the Province.
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e) The Corporation has entered into operating leases of certain rental properties for varying terms. The annual
rental payments pursuant to these leases over the next five years are as follows:

($ THOUSANDS)

2004

$

8,671

2005

6,273

2006

3,885

2007

2,735

2008

1,498
$

23,062

15. ALLOCATION OF REVENUES AND COSTS
The Corporation operates its business using an integrated business model. Although the majority of premium
revenues are specifically identifiable as Basic or Optional (note 1), certain costs are not tracked separately. For those
revenues and costs that are not specifically identified as Basic and Optional, a pro-rata method of allocation has
been used to allocate the revenues and costs between the two lines of business. This method allocates revenues
and costs to each line of business based on the drivers of those revenues and costs, and the degree of causality.
Included in Basic are non-insurance costs, as the Corporation is required to provide non-insurance services such as
driver and vehicle licensing, vehicle registration and Compliance Operations.
Basic Coverage
($ THOUSANDS)

Premiums earned
Claims and operating costs
Claims incurred and related costs
Operating expenses, premium
taxes and commissions

2003

2002

$1,633,908 $ 1,546,777
1,569,102

1,541,219

163,324
152,740
1,732,426 1,693,959
Prior years’ claims adjustment
(8,853)
(10,752)
1,723,573 1,683,207
Underwriting (loss) income
(89,665) (136,430)
Investment income
228,844
233,146
Insurance operations income
139,179
96,716
Non-insurance costs
102,601
99,296
Income (loss) before the undernoted
36,578
(2,580)
Gain on sale of property and equipment
8,890
Restructuring costs
(10,110)
Net income (loss)
$
45,468 $ (12,690)
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Optional Coverage
2003

2002

$1,225,579 $ 1,081,716
912,738

924,292

220,578
202,829
1,133,316
1,127,121
19,245
(14,039)
1,152,561 1,113,082
73,018
(31,366)
101,092
94,123
174,110
62,757
174,110
62,757
5,229
(5,099)
$ 179,339 $ 57,658

Total
2003

2002

$ 2,859,487 $ 2,628,493
2,481,840

2,465,511

383,902
355,569
2,865,742 2,821,080
10,392
(24,791)
2,876,134 2,796,289
(16,647) (167,796)
329,936
327,269
313,289
159,473
102,601
99,296
210,688
60,177
14,119
(15,209)
$ 224,807 $
44,968
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16. ROLE OF THE ACTUARY AND AUDITORS
The actuary’s responsibility is to carry out an annual valuation of the Corporation’s policy liabilities which include
provisions for claims and claims expenses, unearned premiums and deferred premium acquisition costs in accordance with generally accepted actuarial practice and federal regulatory requirements and report thereon. In performing
the valuation, the actuary makes assumptions as to the future rates of claims frequency and severity, inflation,
reinsurance recoveries, and expenses taking into consideration the circumstances of the Corporation and the
insurance policies in force. The actuary in his verification of the underlying data used in the valuation also makes
use of the work of the external auditors. The actuary’s report outlines the scope of his work and opinion.
The external auditors have been appointed by the Board of Directors. Their responsibility is to conduct an independent and objective audit of the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
and report thereon. In carrying out their audit, the auditors also make use of the work of the actuary and his report
on the provision for claims and claims expenses, unearned premiums and deferred premium acquisition costs. The
auditors’ report outlines the scope of their audit and their opinion.
17. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures in these statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
18. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
In March 2004, the Corporation reached an agreement to sell a portion of the Central City development to Simon
Fraser University.
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Corporate Governance
Governance defines the roles, relationships, powers and accountability among shareholders, the
Board of Directors and management. Governance of a crown corporation also requires that responsibility be clearly articulated for meeting public policy objectives. At the highest level, governance of
a crown corporation is defined through legislation applicable to all crown corporations, such as the
Budget Transparency & Accountability Act, the Financial Information Act, the Financial Administration Act,
and the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. In addition, individual crown entities are
governed by legislation specific to the crown corporation and through the Shareholder Letter of
Expectation established between a crown corporation and the Minister responsible.

ICBC as a Regulated Crown Entity
The Insurance Corporation Amendment Act was enacted in August 2003, which appointed the British
Columbia Utilities Commission (BCUC) as the independent regulator for ICBC. The primary responsibility of the BCUC will be to approve rates for basic insurance and to ensure that basic
insurance premiums do not subsidize optional insurance.
In the provision of basic and optional insurance, and non-insurance services on behalf of government,
ICBC is also required to adhere to requirements under provincial legislation, including the Motor
Vehicle Act and the Sales Tax Act (of BC). During the year, changes were enacted to the legislation
governing basic and optional insurance to establish a competitive environment that ICBC and all
private insurance companies must operate within. The Insurance Act and the Insurance Motor Vehicle
Act were restructured and renamed to the Insurance (Vehicle) Act setting out optional insurance provisions for both ICBC and private insurers.

ICBC Board Governance
As a crown corporation, ICBC’s board members are appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor-inCouncil. In late 2003, a new Chair was appointed to ICBC’s Board of Directors with the previous
incumbent continuing in the role of President and CEO. The Board currently consists of nine members with a broad range of expertise and experience. The individual members each play an important
role and also contribute as members of committees of the Board.
The Board of Directors guides the Corporation in fulfilling its mandate, and sets direction for ICBC.
The Board and management approve the corporate vision, mission, values and goals to guide the
Corporation. The Board sets goals for corporate performance, and these goals and associated objectives form the basis upon which accountability and performance is evaluated. Performance against
these goals and objectives is reviewed periodically and revised when necessary.
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ICBC has in place a risk assessment framework which defines the corporate approach towards the
effective assessment and management of risk. The main objectives are to identify risks and raise
awareness throughout the Corporation, and to initiate action to mitigate significant risks. The framework was approved by the Board in February 2003, and is being used to monitor strategic risks and
progress on mitigation strategies. Management and the Board review the framework and risks annually.
The governance processes and guidelines outlining how the Board will carry out its duties of stewardship and accountability are set out in the Board Governance Manual, which is updated by the
Governance Committee as required. In 2003, changes were incorporated to reflect the new reporting structure with the BCUC. During the year, evaluations of the Board and Committees were
undertaken, and a review of the Board’s composition and Director criteria was completed.
The chart on the opposite page shows the members of ICBC’s Board of Directors, Committees of
the Board and mandates.

Corporate Structure
In 2003 ICBC had one wholly owned subsidiary, ICBC Properties Ltd. (IPL), which was created in
1999 to manage the real estate held within ICBC’s investment portfolio, including real estate development. With the completion of the Central City development and realignment of investment
objectives, IPL was dissolved in early 2004. Surrey City Center Mall Ltd., which was previously a
subsidiary of IPL, will now be held by ICBC directly and will continue as a separate legal entity for
the sole purpose of holding and operating Central City. Other properties previously held by IPL will
be managed through ICBC’s investment portfolio in accordance with the Corporation’s investment
policy and the associated framework governing ICBC’s investments.
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Governance
Committee
Purpose: To provide a
focus on governance
for ICBC and its
subsidiaries that will
enhance ICBC’s
performance.

Bob Quart (Chair)
Lisa Pankratz
Terry Squire

Audit
Committee

Board of Directors
Mandate: To foster the
corporation’s short and
long-term success
consistent with the
Board’s responsibilities
to the people of BC
as represented by the
Government of BC.

Purpose: To assist the
Board in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities
by reviewing:
i) financial information
ii) systems of internal
controls and risk
management, and
iii) all audit processes.

Bob Quart (Chair)
Lisa Pankratz
Terry Squire

Investment
Committee
Purpose: To recommend
and review investment
policy for both ICBC
and any pension fund
of which ICBC is
an administrator.

Leslie G. Cliff (Chair)
Lisa Pankratz
Felix Ts’o
Diane Fulton*

Human Resources
and Compensation
Committee
Purpose: To assist the
Board in fulfilling its
obligations relating to
human resource and
compensation policies.

Susan I. Paish (Chair)
Alice Downing
Ted Smith

IPL
Board of Directors
Mandate: To build and
manage a real estate
investment portfolio in
accordance with ICBC’s
investment policy.**
* Ex officio member
** With the completion of the Central City
development and realignment of investment
objectives, IPL was dissolved in 2004.
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Nick Geer (Chair)
Bob Quart
Felix Ts’o

Corporate Values
Integrity
We value people by treating others with respect and dignity. We are
honest by representing our intentions and ourselves truthfully. We
will be accountable for our performance and ensure decisions made
are supportable.

Commitment
We demonstrate commitment as employees by doing our best work
at all times. ICBC leadership demonstrates commitment to employees
by creating a work environment that supports employees in making
their best contribution for the benefit of the customer. We are
committed to operating in a cost-effective manner and will continue
to seek ways to improve efficiency.

Dedication to the Customer
We measure our success by our customers’ belief that ICBC products
and services provide good value for their money. We provide excellent
customer service by approaching every customer interaction as an
opportunity to create a positive customer experience.
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ICBC Board of Directors
and Executives

Back row from left:
Donnie Wing
Vice-President Investments &
Corporate Development

Front row from left:
Leslie Cliff
Board Member

Lisa Pankratz
Board Member

Susan Paish
Board Member

Keith Stewart
Vice-President
Information Services

Bill Goble
Chief Operating Officer

Ted Smith
Board Member

P. Nicholas (Nick) Geer
President & CEO
T. Richard Turner
Board Chair

John Madden
Vice-President Human
Resources & Corporate Law

Judy Maddocks
Senior Vice-President Insurance

Bob Quart
Board Vice-Chair

Felix Ts’o
Board Member

Geri Prior
Chief Financial Officer

Alice Downing
Board Member

Terry Squire
Board Member
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Greater Vancouver

Fraser Valley

Vancouver Island

Claim Centres
12
Driver Services Centres
8
Government Agents
1
Appointed Agents
5
Agents
308

Claim Centres
6
Driver Services Centres
4
Government Agents
1
Appointed Agents
2
Agents
228

Claim Centres
7
Driver Services Centres
3
Government Agents
5
Appointed Agents
16
Agents
148

Southern Interior

North/Central

Claim Centres
8
Driver Services Centres
2
Government Agents
8
Appointed Agents
32
Agents
149

Claim Centres
Driver Services Centres
Government Agents
Appointed Agents
Agents

8
1
14
15
61

Fort Nelson

Fort St. John
Dawson Creek

Prince Rupert
Prince George

Kamloops
Cranbrook
Campbell River

Vancouver
Victoria
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Kelowna

ICBC Points of Service
Greater Vancouver

Vancouver Island

Southern Interior

North/Central

Claim Centres

Claim Centres

Claim Centres

Claim Centres

Burnaby
5th and Cambie, Vancouver
Capilano, North Vancouver
Coquitlam
East Vancouver
Kingsway, Vancouver
Lake City, Burnaby
Maple Ridge
New Westminster
Sechelt Resident Office
Squamish
South Vancouver

Driver Services Centres
Burnaby
Coquitlam
Coquitlam (Exp)
Metrotown, Burnaby (Exp)
North Vancouver
Point Grey, Vancouver
Robson Square, Vancouver
Vancouver East

Government Agents
Maple Ridge

Appointed Agents
Gibsons
Pemberton
Sechelt
Squamish
Whistler

Fraser Valley
Claim Centres
Abbotsford
Chilliwack
Langley
Newton, Surrey
Richmond
Surrey

Driver Services Centres
Abbotsford
Langley
Richmond
Surrey

Government Agents
Chilliwack

Appointed Agents
Agassiz
Hope

Campbell River
Courtenay
Duncan
Nanaimo
Port Alberni
Powell River
Victoria

Driver Services Centres
Nanaimo
Victoria McKenzie
Victoria Wharf

Government Agents
Campbell River
Courtenay
Duncan
Nanaimo
Port Alberni

Appointed Agents
Alert Bay
Chemainus
Ganges
Gold River
Ladysmith
Lake Cowichan
Mill Bay
Parksville
Port Hardy
Port McNeill
Powell River
Qualicum Beach
Sidney
Sooke
Tofino
Ucluelet

Cranbrook
Kamloops
Kelowna
Nelson
Penticton
Salmon Arm
Trail
Vernon

Driver Services Centres
Kamloops
Kelowna

Government Agents
Cranbrook
Kamloops
Nelson
Penticton
Revelstoke
Salmon Arm
Trail
Vernon

Appointed Agents
Armstrong
Ashcroft
Barriere
Castlegar
Chase
Clearwater
Clinton
Creston
Elkford
Enderby
Fernie
Golden
Grand Forks
Greenwood
Invermere
Kaslo
Keremeos
Kimberley
Lillooet
Lumby
Merritt
Midway
Nakusp
New Denver
Oliver
Osoyoos
Princeton
Salmo
Sicamous
Slocan Park
Sparwood
Summerland

Dawson Creek
Fort St. John
Prince George
Prince Rupert
Quesnel
Smithers
Terrace
Williams Lake

Driver Services Centres
Prince George

Government Agents
Atlin
Chetwynd
Dawson Creek
Dease Lake
Fort Nelson
Fort St. John
Prince George
Prince Rupert
Queen Charlotte City
Quesnel
Smithers
Stewart
Terrace
Williams Lake

Appointed Agents
Bella Coola
Burns Lake
Fort St. James
Fraser Lake
Houston
Hudson’s Hope
Kitimat
MacKenzie
Masset
McBride
New Hazelton
100 Mile House
Tumbler Ridge
Valemount
Vanderhoof

